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“The Science Center in Wolfsburg appears as a
mysterious object giving rise to curiosity and 
discovery.” Zaha Hadid, Architect

Strength. Performance. Passion.

Architect of international renown, Zaha Hadid, created the spaceship-
like design for the Science Center in Wolfsburg, which is currently
under construction. Once completed, the interactive experimental
space will cover 12,000 square meters and the underground car park 
an additional 15,000 square meters. Holcim Germany developed a new,
self-compacting concrete for this giant complex with its intricate con-
crete casings. Zaha Hadid is Professor at the University of Applied Arts
in Vienna and Visiting Professor at Yale University. Her major projects
to date include the fire station for the Vitra Design Museum in Weil am
Rhein, the Bergisel ski jump in Innsbruck, and the Contemporary Arts
Center in Cincinnati. Zaha Hadid is the first woman to be awarded the
renowned Pritzker Prize – the “Nobel prize for architecture”.



Key Figures Holcim Group  
2003 2002 ±% ±% local

currency
Annual production capacity cement million t 145.2 141.9 +2.3
Sales of cement and clinker million t 94.3 90.5 +4.2
Sales of aggregates million t 95.9 92.1 +4.1
Sales of ready-mix concrete million m3 27.0 25.3 +6.7
Net sales million CHF 12,600 13,010 –3.2 +2.4
Operating EBITDA million CHF 3,311 3,341 –0.9 +6.8
Operating EBITDA margin % 26.3 25.7
EBITDA million CHF 3,383 3,399 –0.5 +6.6
Operating profit million CHF 1,925 1,903 +1.2 +9.7
Operating profit margin % 15.3 14.6
Net income before minority interests million CHF 932 797 +16.9 +26.6
Net income after minority interests million CHF 686 506 +35.6 +45.7
Net income margin % 5.4 3.9
Cash flow from operating activities million CHF 2,619 2,388 +9.7 +17.4
Cash flow margin % 20.8 18.4
Net financial debt million CHF 8,299 8,857 –6.3 –4.9
Funds from operations1/net financial debt % 28.6 26.4
Shareholders’ equity including interests

of minority shareholders million CHF 9,499 9,435 +0.7 +7.1
Gearing2 % 87.4 93.9
Personnel 48,220 51,115 –5.7
Earnings per dividend-bearing share3 CHF 3.51 2.59 +35.5 +45.9
Fully diluted earnings per share3 CHF 3.49 2.59 +34.7 +44.8
Cash earnings per dividend-bearing share3 4 CHF 4.96 4.14 +19.8 +28.0
Gross dividend per share3 CHF 1.155 1.00 +15.0

Principal key figures in USD (illustrative)6

Net sales million USD 9,403 8,394 +12.0
Operating EBITDA million USD 2,471 2,155 +14.7
Operating profit million USD 1,437 1,228 +17.0
Net income after minority interests million USD 512 326 +57.1
Cash flow from operating activities million USD 1,954 1,541 +26.8
Net financial debt million USD 6,693 6,372 +5.0
Shareholders’ equity million USD 7,660 6,788 +12.8
Earnings per dividend-bearing share USD 2.62 1.67 +56.9

Principal key figures in EUR (illustrative)6

Net sales million EUR 8,289 8,850 –6.3
Operating EBITDA million EUR 2,178 2,273 –4.2
Operating profit million EUR 1,266 1,295 –2.2
Net income after minority interests million EUR 451 344 +31.1
Cash flow from operating activities million EUR 1,723 1,624 +6.1
Net financial debt million EUR 5,320 6,108 –12.9
Shareholders’ equity million EUR 6,089 6,507 –6.4
Earnings per dividend-bearing share EUR 2.31 1.76 +31.3

1 Net income before minority interests and depreciation and amortization.
2 Net financial debt divided by shareholders’ equity including interests of minority shareholders.
3 Adjusted for 5-for-1 conversion of bearer shares into registered shares on June 10, 2003.
4 Excludes the amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets.
5 Proposed by the Board of Directors.
6 Income statement figures translated at average rate; balance sheet figures at year-end rate.



A C C E S S I B I L I T Y
Our customers can expect Holcim products to be
ready in the right quantities and quality at the
right time and at the right place. They can also
expect our advisers to play a key role in developing
effective solutions for specific applications. Our
report on Brazil shows to what extent builders rely
on us (see pages 32 to 39). Whether simple infor-
mation or comprehensive services are required,
the Holcim brand stands for men and women who
consider all options and who apply their expertise
for the benefit of the customer.

S I M P L I C I T Y
When things become more complex, the supplier
who delivers simple and clear solutions stands out
from the crowd. Customer assistance, product
quality, deliveries or the development of tailored
solutions: whatever the issue, Holcim profession-
als are ready to address individual customer
requirements and to develop effective solutions.
In Boston we were able to take part in such a 
pioneering building project and make our mark
in urban planning (see pages 24 to 31).

In just a few years, the values behind the Holcim
brand have enjoyed wide acceptance since its
worldwide introduction. Examples illustrate the
seven Holcim values in this Annual Report. But
they also reflect our core philosophy: we want to
be judged from the perspective of our buyers and
end-consumers. And bring our values to life.

Holcim’s strategies are clear, its concepts 
are good. What makes us stand out are our
many talented and skilled men and women.
Their commitment and professional exper-
tise create added value for Holcim and our
customers alike.



D E T E R M I N AT I O N I N N O V A T I O N

R E L E V A N C E
Around the world we act as partners in highly
complex building projects. A good example is the
world's largest barge lift in Belgium. To build this
monolith alone, Holcim supplied some 35,000
cubic meters of quality concrete directly at the
site (see pages 16 to 23). With a project-specific
product range and a worldwide exchange of 
experience, we ensure our customers are able 
to count on us at all times.

When we take on a job, we also want to see it’s
done right all the way to the finish. In the process
Holcim utilizes the findings from science and
research. In order to create added value for our
customers, we strive to form long-term partner-
ships. The example in Morocco shows that this is 
a win-win situation for all (see pages 40 to 45).

One of our core competencies is to develop new
products for the marketplace and our customers.
Even when projects are most difficult, Holcim 
strives to offer quality products for building solid
structures. Those involved in construction projects
with us come to realize Holcim choices reflect
proven state-of-the-art solutions. A good example
is New Zealand (see pages 46 to 53).
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R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y

P R E S E N C E

We are guided by a profound sense of responsi-
bility. Our pledge to the World Business Council for
Sustainable Development, for example, reflects
our commitment to sustainable growth. Illustrat-
ing such initiatives is our Canadian Group com-
pany St. Lawrence Cement, the winner of several
awards in 2003 for exemplary environmental 
conduct (see pages 8 to 11).

Our men and women operate in more than 70
countries. They are our greatest asset. What unites
them is their knowledge and experience available
to Holcim to generate maximum potential. Our
workforce receives intensive training at all levels
in order to derive benefit from the exchange of
expertise across national boundaries and to profit
from proven best practices. Accordingly, continued
education and training receive top priority (see
pages 12 to 15).



Encouraging consolidated results
The world’s economy embarked on a rather tentative recovery in 2003. It was only in
the final quarter that momentum really became apparent, though this was by no
means an across-the-board development. Inevitably, the demand for building mate-
rials was also affected by this situation. Holcim nevertheless fared well, and we believe
our operational and financial performance speaks for itself. Despite negative ex-
change-rate influences, operating profit, consolidated net income and cash flow all
showed an improvement on the previous year. Significant progress was also made on
the margin front, and indeed earnings per share. This means the Board of Directors is
in a position to recommend an increase in the gross dividend of CHF 0.15 to CHF 1.15
per registered share.

The measures we have taken to enhance the value of the business are therefore 
working, and our strategy of focusing investment on growth markets has been vindi-
cated. Most importantly, however, we could not have achieved this without the skills
and commitment of our staff throughout the world. We are most indebted for their
efforts, and are sure you will join us in extending our gratitude to them.

Stable income in Latin America – major progress in Africa and Asia
As previously stated, last year showed a mixed picture for the building sector. Buoyant
construction activity in Italy and Spain, alongside an economic upturn in Southeast
Europe, provided a welcome boost to our European results. Since our companies in 
Germany and Switzerland were unable to repeat their previous-year results, operating
profit for Group region Europe showed a decline. Our operating performance in North
America improved, in part owing to the thoroughly successful commissioning of the
new Holly Hill plant. In Swiss franc terms, this advance was unfortunately nullified by
the weak dollar. Latin America once again proved to be one of the Group’s main success
stories. Argentina visibly recovered from its crisis, and in Mexico economic activity 
was enhanced by investment in the construction sector. That said, in this region too
exchange rates tarnished the overall picture in terms of Swiss francs. Operating profit
was nevertheless only marginally down on the figure for the previous year, and
remained impressive. Progress was made in Africa, with Morocco and South Africa
paving the way for a marked improvement in results. But it was in Asia that the
improvement in our performance was most apparent. In Thailand in particular, we 
benefited from a rise in domestic sales. The merger of our two companies in the 
Philippines and major progress in Indonesia also played their part.

Holcim: creating solid value and adopting
promising new positions.

Dear Shareholder,
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Strategy is delivering tangible results
Our decision to concentrate on core business in cement, aggregates and concrete has
proven to be the right way forward. Though there was a further refinement of our
structures and capacity in the year under review, we did not hesitate to incorporate
new units into our global manufacturing and distribution network – providing they
enhanced value added. Highlights include the purchase of a cement plant near Madrid,
initial consolidation of our interests in Russia and our acquisition of Germany’s
Rohrbach Zement in January 2004. Today, two thirds of our cement capacity is located
in growth markets with a demonstrable demand backlog, particularly in the residential
construction and infrastructure arenas. These areas encompass two of humanity’s
most basic needs, and for a long time to come are set to drive the construction industry,
particularly in areas with rapid population growth or dynamic economic growth. The
Group’s net financial debt was scaled down by CHF 558 million – despite considerable
expenditure on the maintenance and improvement of production facilities, as well 
as on acquisitions. This enabled us to retain our solid credit rating.

Holcim meets corporate governance standards
Respect for the valid concerns of all stakeholders is of the utmost importance to us.
Indeed, as far as modern corporate governance standards are concerned, we rank
among Switzerland’s leading listed companies. Our introduction of a standard regis-
tered share has been highly instrumental in this. The move has also increased the free
float of the registered shares and the liquidity of our stock. Both committees of the
Board of Directors (the Audit Committee and the Nomination & Compensation Com-
mittee) – a majority of whose members are independently appointed – have become
firmly established and taken on important supervisory roles. We believe communicat-
ing with the outside world on a transparent basis is of fundamental importance.
This Annual Report is an integral part of that process. We hope that it allows you – 
as a shareholder – to obtain a realistic assessment of our firm’s current position, the
value of the business as well as prospects for the future.

Sustainable development – an ongoing challenge
Our core business is, of course, the manufacture and distribution of building mate-
rials. But we also have a responsibility to tackle the ecological and social issues associ-
ated with our industrial operations. We therefore feel it is our duty to treat natural
resources and the environment with respect. Our intention is to address our responsi-
bilities to society at large and to nurture relations with the various stakeholder groups
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involved, particularly at the level of our local Group companies. At Group level, we held
our first structured dialogue with representatives of various stakeholder organizations
at the end of 2003. Our participation in the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development and signing of the UN Global Compact are evidence of this commitment.
In June 2004, our second Corporate Sustainable Development Report will be published,
which will address these issues in detail.

Holcim Foundation for Sustainable Construction
The implementation of our global Holcim brand identity which started in May 2001 has
largely been completed. We have always stressed that the brand should also reflect the
values for which our Group stands. The establishment of the Holcim Foundation for 
Sustainable Construction shortly before the year-end is another move in this direction.
The Holcim Foundation’s remit is to help ensure that the principle of sustainability
becomes firmly embedded in the minds of key players in the construction sector, namely
architects, engineers, planners and customers. It will therefore be holding competitions
and awarding prizes for sustainable construction initiatives that develop forward-look-
ing solutions to the potentially conflicting objectives of economic growth, ecology and
social responsibility. The foundation will be working closely with eminent institutions
such as the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (ETH) in Zurich, the Massachusetts
Institute of Technology (MIT) near Boston and Tongji University in Shanghai. Our hope is
that the Holcim Foundation and Holcim Awards will develop into a platform for sustain-
able construction, enhancing the exchange of know-how and innovation between prac-
tice and theory. One of its key objectives will be to speak to up-and-coming generations.

Holcim enters 2004 on a stronger note
For many of our markets, we expect only a fairly gradual intensification of economic
activity in the construction industry in 2004. We are nevertheless optimistic that we
will be able to sell more cement, aggregates and concrete in crucial markets, improve
value added and further advance our position. Our balance sheet is solid, enabling us
to invest selectively in new markets and Group companies.

In January 2004, we submitted a public bid to the minority shareholders of Holcim
Apasco in Mexico, with a view to improving the company’s integration into the Group.
We are delighted that the offer has met with such wide acceptance and that Holcim has
been able to increase its holding from 69 to 93 percent. Fully integrating our successful
Mexican Group company will also create additional value for you, as a shareholder.



Sh
are

ho
lde

rs’
 Le

tte
r

5

We intend to underpin the major Mexican transaction and the financial invest-
ments made since the previous capital increase in 2001, which together total some
CHF 3 billion, with the corresponding capital and reserves. The Board of Directors 
is thus proposing to you the approval of a capital increase with subscription rights.
The target proceeds of CHF 1.5 billion will strengthen Holcim’s financial structure 
and lay a firm foundation for future growth.

Our worldwide presence, enhanced cost efficiency and outstanding teams of staff
around the world justify the confidence of the Board of Directors and Executive 
Committee with regard to a further improvement in results. We shall benefit in 
particular from a strengthening of the Asian markets, as well as rising demand in 
Eastern/Southeast Europe and North America.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank all shareholders for the trust they 
have placed in us.

Rolf Soiron Markus Akermann

Rolf Soiron
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Markus Akermann
CEO



Each year some 6,000 top managers
come to the International Institute
for Management Development
IMD in Lausanne, Switzerland, to
expand and deepen their profes-
sional expertise. This institute has
also been chosen by Holcim for its 
continued-education programs.
Designed by the architectural 
firm of Richter et Dahl Rocha SA,
Lausanne, the building rests on 
two concrete pylons supporting a
80 centimeter thick concrete slab.
The 3R Fluvio cement from Holcim
Switzerland was used in the con-
struction.
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Secretary of the Board of Directors
Christian Wind

Heads Staff Functions
Penny Abbott
Beat Fellmann
Bernhard A. Fuchs
Pierre F. Haesler
Christoph Haller
Christof Hässig
Roland Köhler
Roland Walker

Heads Service Functions
Walter Baumgartner
Urs Bleisch
Jacques Bourgon
Hans Braun
Mike Doyle
Mark Füllemann
Dieter Hagmann
Jürg Kuhn
Jürg Meili
Samuel Plüss
Patrick Verhagen
Stefan Wolfensberger
Alois Zwinggi

Group and Holding Company 
Auditors
Ernst & Young Ltd.

Management Structure
See organization chart effective
1.4.2004 on the back cover flap.

Changes
After the annual general meeting of
4.6.2003, Rolf Soiron has taken over
as Chairman of the Board of Direc-
tors. Newly elected to the Board were
Dieter Spälti and Andreas von Planta.

The Board of Directors has passed a
resolution to appoint Tom Clough to
the Executive Committee effective
14.5.2004.

On 1.10.2003, Martin F. Altorfer has
stepped down from his duties due 
to reaching retirement age, and
Jerry C.R. Maycock has left Holcim 
at 31.3.2004.

Board of Directors
Rolf Soiron 
Chairman
Willy Kissling
Deputy Chairman
Chairman Nomination & 
Compensation Committee
Markus Akermann
Erich Hunziker
Peter Küpfer
Chairman Audit Committee
Gilbert Probst
Thomas Schmidheiny
Wolfgang Schürer
Dieter Spälti
Andreas von Planta
Peter G. Wodtke

Executive Committee
Markus Akermann 
Chief Executive Officer
Urs Bieri
Deputy CEO
Southern ASEAN, East Asia and
Pacific, South and East Africa
Hansueli Heé
Europe excluding Iberian Peninsula
Paul Hugentobler
South Asia and Northern ASEAN
Thomas Knöpfel
Latin America excluding Mexico
Benoît-H. Koch
North America, Iberian Peninsula,
Mediterranean and International
Trade
Theophil H. Schlatter
Chief Financial Officer

Area Management
Martin F. Altorfer
Urs Böhlen
Javier de Benito
Jerry C.R. Maycock
Bernard Terver

From left to right:
Theophil H. Schlatter     
Hansueli Heé                 
Urs Bieri                      
Benoît-H. Koch         
Markus Akermann          
Paul Hugentobler          
Thomas Knöpfel





“Building our business on the principles of sustain-
ability means more than safeguarding the environ-
ment, fostering vibrant communities, protecting our
employees and serving our customers and sharehold-
ers. It also means nurturing the interests of future
generations.”
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Daming Shi, Ph. D., Environmental Manager, St. Lawrence Cement, Canada
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fossil fuels and from the chemical process of making
clinker. This poses a risk of potentially significant
additional costs for our industry. However, we do
acknowledge the scientific and social rationale
behind the need to reduce CO2 emissions. Managing
and reducing these emissions is therefore a key 
priority for Holcim. We are striving to move into new
business areas in the field of alternative fuels and
raw materials, with the aim of further reducing the
CO2 intensity of our process. However, considering
both its production and end-use stages, concrete is
also one of the world’s most CO2-efficient building
materials.

Our target is to reduce our global average net specific
CO2 emissions by 20 percent by 2010, with 1990 as
the reference year. We measure our emissions at
plant level according to the World Business Council
for Sustainable Development Carbon Dioxide Protocol
for the cement industry. CO2 emissions monitoring 
is now part of the internal management reporting
required from our Group companies.

We are actively involved in the transfer of knowledge
and development of international standards. We work
closely with competent authorities, the World Busi-
ness Council for Sustainable Development, the World
Resource Institute as well as other organizations, to
investigate public policy and market mechanisms for
making meaningful reductions in CO2 emissions.

Our mission is to be the most respected and attrac-
tive company in the cement industry. It is therefore
our intention to create sustainable value for all our
stakeholders. We ensure that our business goals are
in line with the three pillars of the “triple bottom
line” – economic growth, environmental performance
and social responsibility. Our separate Corporate Sus-
tainable Development Report 2003, to be published
in June, will document the progress we have made
over the past two years and highlight the challenges
that lie ahead.

Climate change an issue for the cement industry
Climate change has become a significant issue of
public concern. Greenhouse gases are clearly at the
center of this debate and even though the Kyoto Pro-
tocol has not yet been ratified, some industrialized
nations are pressing ahead with regulatory measures
to curb these emissions. Notably, the European Union
is preparing for a mandatory cap on CO2 emissions in
2005. Canada is working on similar measures. Devel-
oping countries and countries in transition do not yet
have an obligation to reduce their CO2 emissions, but
the Kyoto Protocol creates financial mechanisms to
promote sustainable development in these regions as
well.

World production of clinker accounts for an estimated
5 percent of man-made CO2 emissions. Cement
industry emissions result mainly from combustion of

Committed to sustainable development,
and addressing the challenges.

Staff at our Canadian company, St. Lawrence Cement,
are proud that the Mississauga plant has been recog-
nized by the Portland Cement Association for the
major advances made in the environment arena.
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Holcim is a founding participant in the World Eco-
nomic Forum’s Global Greenhouse Gas Register,
which commits us to publish the Group's CO2 data 
on the WEF website from 2004.

Innovation to improve environmental performance
We are constantly seeking innovative ways to replace
the clinker in our cement with suitable mineral com-
ponents in cement for example from the steel and
power generation industries, thereby producing more
cement with fewer natural resources. These cement
products are also well suited for our customers’ spe-
cific applications.

As part of our CO2 reduction strategy, we are also
making improvements to energy efficiency, fossil
fuels substitution with biomass and waste materials,
and reducing kiln dust disposal.

These efforts are reflected in Holcim’s high ranking 
in the Dow Jones Sustainability Index (DJSI) for the
construction sector.

Sustainable development in action:
St. Lawrence Cement in Canada
Our plant in Mississauga, Ontario, is an example of
our approach to sustainable development.

In 2003, the Mississauga plant won three environ-
mental category awards from the Portland Cement

Association (USA), Cement Association of Canada and
Cement Americas Magazine. The plant was recog-
nized for a 14 percent reduction in specific thermal
energy consumption in its clinker production. In addi-
tion, the plant extensively processes mineral compo-
nents such as granulated blast furnace slag and silica
fume, to reduce the amount of clinker required. This
also reduces the quantity of fuel required per tonne
of cementitious product, therefore further enhancing
the plant's energy efficiency. The Mississauga plant
has been able to reduce its specific net CO2 emis-
sions by more than 20 percent since 1990. This does,
of course, involve initial costs. St. Lawrence Cement
alone has invested over CAD 13 million in environ-
mental protection at Mississauga over the last three
years.

St. Lawrence Cement therefore sets an example.
Together with Holcim US, St. Lawrence Cement is a
partner in the Climate Leaders Program of the US
environmental authority, the EPA. Our two Group
companies are the only representatives of the
cement industry in this program, whose members
have signed up to a CO2 reduction target and annual
progress reports. Our Canadian Group company is
also a founding member of the Canadian Working
Group on the Carbon Market.





“Holcim is an international Group. As such it offers
many possibilities to work together with a diversity
of people from different cultures and to learn from
one another. This encourages me to share my own
know-how with others and to inform college gradu-
ates attending a job fair of the many career options
with Holcim.”
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Leticia Nacif, Holcim Group Support, Switzerland
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Shared leadership approach strengthens the Group
In 2003, we designed a standardized, variable com-
pensation system for our most senior executives –
one that will be implemented throughout the Group
from 2004. The variable elements of remuneration
are intended to encourage a focus on the Group’s
objectives, but also to take account of the special 
circumstances facing Group companies when 
determining salaries.

In order to further extend our competitive position
around the world, motivated, capable personnel will
be increasingly important. We believe the signifi-
cance of being able to pick up fresh ideas quickly and
learn from them is escalating. Under the slogan
“Faster Learning Organization”, our intention is to
help ensure our staff are deployed in line with their
qualifications and have the necessary knowledge for
their tasks and responsibilities. Continuous, on-the-
job learning must remain second nature throughout
our Group.

An international, multicultural Group
Holcim management and staff retain a local focus 
no matter where we operate. The Group’s universal
standards that set out central business processes and
systems are customized in the most appropriate way
to respect the concerns of local stakeholder groups.

Holcim recognizes the value of each individual’s
knowledge and experience. Cultural and international
diversity of our staff forms an important element
of our strategy. We currently operate across all conti-
nents, and in more than 70 countries. Among the 
950 most senior executives of our Group, there are 
52 different nationalities. International experience
and representation are important criteria, particularly
at Group level and at our service organizations in
Switzerland. Generally speaking, we firmly believe
that staff mobility, active professional development
planning to cover a wide array of positions, as well 
as job rotation, strengthen the Group’s collective
knowledge bank and bind our individual companies
together. Our stated aim is to do our utmost to 
fill vacant management positions with our own 
staff – provided they are specifically prepared for the
challenge ahead. Succession planning and structured
career planning are important tasks for our managers
at all levels.

Energizing our Group through systematic
knowledge exchange.

The human resources departments
of Group companies customize our
universal guidelines and systems
to reflect local needs.
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Enhancing knowledge exchange – 
training our executives for tomorrow’s world
The exchange of knowledge between Group compa-
nies occurs on a systematic basis. At Holcim, “best
practices” are closely compared and disseminated.
We also encourage openness towards new ideas and
concepts.

Successful management of complex projects is 
essential. More than 3,500 Holcim staff are already
trained in project management methods to ensure
such projects are executed on the basis of uniform
principles and parameters.

In 2004, key management seminars are to be staged
in close cooperation with world-renowned business
schools. The requirements we place on our executives
are subject to constant change. One thing is certain,
however: our senior executives must be capable of
defining clear objectives, motivating their staff to
excel, and acting in a socially responsible manner.

Educating right along the value chain
Our global training concept is intended to underpin
the Group’s operating goals. The training and devel-
opment we give our staff is based on uniform guide-
lines and methods – all individuals should have the
same objectives in mind.

For instance, our strategy of using more alternative
fuels and raw materials calls for knowledge in areas
extending beyond those traditionally required in 
our industry. Providing relevant specialist training is
therefore vital. This is geared not only to raising
capacity utilization at our plants and reducing our
energy costs, but also to issues concerning the safe,
environmentally-sensitive treatment of waste matter
from other industries. Our new kiln simulator is
another example. This virtual tool allows staff to
practice producing cement in a technically and eco-
logically optimal way, and at the same time refine 
our operating processes.

A promising initiative is the use of modular training
blocks at our plants. Training is provided directly by
our supervisors and front-line management.

See back cover flap
for further details
on our personnel
and personnel
expenses.





“This is one of the most important building projects
to benefit navigation in northwestern Europe. It
replaces four old lifts and two locks on the Canal 
du Centre. Today, the Strépy-Thieu barge lift allows 
vessels up to 1,350 tonnes to navigate the canal.”
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Henri Brouet, Hydraulic Engineer, Belgium



Cement Consumption Group Countries

In million t* 2003 2002 ± %

Belgium 5.4 5.4 –0.3

France 20.2 20.7 –2.5

Spain 46.1 44.1 +4.4

Germany 26.9 27.5 –2.0

Switzerland 3.7 3.8 –1.9

Italy 43.6 41.3 +5.6

Austria 4.5 4.6 –2.2

Czech Republic 4.1 3.6 +10.5

Slovakia 1.8 1.6 +12.5

Poland 11.4 10.9 +4.6

Hungary 3.9 3.8 +4.0

Croatia 2.5 2.3 +8.7

Union of Serbia-Montenegro 1.9 2.2 –13.6

Romania 4.9 4.7 +4.3

Bulgaria 1.8 1.6 +11.2

Russia 38.5 34.0 +13.2

Northern Cyprus 0.2 0.1 +29.2

Total 221.4 212.2 +4.3
*Holcim estimates.

Group: Cement plant, Grinding plant, Important terminal; Participation: Cement plant

Eastern Europe picking up speed.

High market flexibility favors Holcim 
in competition.

German building recession pressures result
in this Group region.



Consolidated Sales in Europe

2003 2002 ± %

Cement and clinker in million t 26.5 25.3 +4.7

Aggregates in million t 54.9 48.3 +13.7

Ready-mix concrete in million m3 13.1 11.7 +12.0

Consolidated Key Figures Europe

2003 2002 ± %

Net sales in million CHF1 4,441 4,320 +2.82

Operating profit in million CHF1 482 504 –4.42

Personnel1 15,365 16,359 –6.1

Production capacity cement in million t 44.0 40.8 +7.8

Cement and grinding plants 44 41 –

Aggregate operations 144 141 –

Ready-mix concrete facilities 368 339 –
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1 Prior-year figures of service companies have been regrouped from geographical regions
to Corporate.

2 Changes in local currency see pages 81 and 82.
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Cement demand in Eastern Europe developed posi-
tively in a majority of cases. Here too, the higher sales
volumes were primarily the result of investment
in improving and expanding key transport routes, as
well as industrial and residential construction activ-
ity. Notable developments included the expansion 
of Prague Airport and the construction of a new car
factory at Kolín in Bohemia.

Rise in sales across all segments
Our cement deliveries in Group region Europe grew
4.7 percent to 26.5 million tonnes. Besides a slightly
stronger market picture, this encouraging perform-
ance is primarily attributable to a strengthening 
of our presence. For the first time, the Yeles cement
plant in Spain and the Novi Popovac facility in Serbia
were consolidated for the full year.

Our Group companies in Spain and Bulgaria achieved
an impressive growth in volumes. But we also made
gains in Italy, Croatia and Romania. Even Holcim 
Germany performed well in volume terms in its 
traditional sales territory in the North of the country.
The Swiss Group company and Holcim France Benelux
were slightly down on the previous year due to mar-
ket-related factors. Holcim Central Europe reported a
slight dip in sales due to rising imports.

Europe’s economy hit by a lack of fresh energy
The European economy failed to make any significant
headway in 2003. In overall terms, there was stag-
nation in manufacturing output, and it was only
towards the end of the year that signs of a revival
became apparent.

In this challenging environment, the climate in the
construction sector was very mixed across the differ-
ent countries with, in some cases, sharp regional
divides. Demand in the construction sector in Spain
and Italy was buoyant throughout the year. Higher
building activity, accelerating further in the second
half of the year, was also reported across Eastern
Europe (except Serbia). In Switzerland and Germany,
the order situation continued to deteriorate.

Cement consumption on the rise again
In those European markets in which Holcim Group
companies operate, cement consumption grew 
4.3 percent to 221 million tonnes in the year under
review. In Spain and Italy in particular, expansion of
transport infrastructure and housebuilding activity
provided a significant stimulus. But there were also
some regions with declining cement consumption.
They include Switzerland, where there was a lower
volume of orders in urban areas, and Germany,
where the building industry has not yet recovered
from the low point of a recession lasting several
years.

Creation of regional units 
strengthens our cost leadership.

For the past year, Strépy-Thieu has been home to the
world's largest barge lift. The construction project
encompassed major improvements as well as the
actual “lift tower” designed to lift or drop 40 to 80
barges each day to compensate a difference in height
of over 73 meters. The construction of the whole 
project required 100,000 cubic meters of concrete.
Previously limited to 300-tonne barges, the Canal du
Centre can now be navigated by Europe’s vessels up to
1,350 tonnes.

1
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To strengthen our operating efficiency, the Thayngen
plant in northeastern Switzerland was decommis-
sioned in the year under review and it was
announced that production at the Morbio grinding
facility in southern Switzerland would come to 
an end. The acquisition of a majority interest in
Rohrbach Zement & Co. KG in Baden-Württemberg at
the beginning of 2004 was of strategic significance.
The purchase enables us to expand our product line-
up, and tap into new markets with the help of Georoc
special binding agents. Integration of Rohrbach’s 
Dotternhausen plant with the rest of the Group cul-
minated in the decision to close the smaller, neigh-
boring plant at Geisingen.

To improve the equilibrium between supply and
demand, we decided to take the Hardegsen grinding
facility in northern Germany out of service at the 
end of 2003.

In Spain, we achieved a crucial boost to our market
position in the most dynamic key market of the Iber-
ian Peninsula via our acquisition of the Yeles plant
near Madrid, with its annual cement capacity of 0.8
million tonnes. In northern Italy, our Group company
is expanding grinding capacity at the Merone and
Morano Po plants due to consistently high levels of
construction activity. In terms of productivity, Holcim
Romania took a major step forward with a new kiln
beginning production of clinker at the Alesd plant.

In the aggregates segment, we succeeded in raising
deliveries by an impressive 13.7 percent to 54.9 mil-
lion tonnes. Higher sales volumes were achieved by 
a large number of West European Group companies.
The sharp increase in sales in Germany reflects
restoration work following major flood damage,
as well as extensions to the motorway network in 
the new eastern states.

In ready-mix concrete too, we lifted sales 12 percent
to 13.1 million cubic meters. Here the extension of 
our regional market share was primarily due to
strategically important expansion moves in Eastern
Europe and Germany.

Leader in cement trading
Holcim Trading, based in Madrid, is our internation-
ally-active trading company for cement, clinker and
various raw materials. Its volume of trade with Group
companies and third parties reached a new record
level in the year under review at 16.5 million tonnes.

Optimization of production sites
To achieve ideal positioning in mature markets, our
existing production units and distribution network
need to be aligned with changing market circum-
stances on an ongoing basis. That is what Holcim
does: fast, and consistently. One example is the
restructuring and fine-tuning of our production 
network in Switzerland and neighboring countries.

1 
The barge lift
at Strépy-Thieu,
Belgium.

2
Jean-Pierre Senzée,
Operations
Manager for the
barge lift.

3 
A number of civil
engineering works
became an integral
part of the build-
ing project.

2 3
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Operating results hit by German market situation
Our Group companies in Spain and Italy, as well as
Southeast Europe, generated substantially better 
operating results in some cases. Holcim France
Benelux also reported a slightly higher operating
profit due to efficiency improvements in administra-
tion and sales, as well as stable production costs. This
enabled us to offset the growing pressure on margins
caused by imported cement. Extremely aggressive
(price war) market conditions had a highly damaging
effect on the financial results of Holcim Germany.
A degree of stabilization nevertheless occurred in the
final quarter, with pricing adjustments taking place for
the first time. Due to market and weather-related fac-
tors, the financial results of Holcim Switzerland failed
to match its 2002 performance. Owing to the partial
deterioration in overall conditions in Europe, operating
profit declined by 7.1 percent in local currency terms.
After translation into Swiss francs there was a 4.4 per-
cent fall to CHF 482 million. The difficult market situa-
tion in Germany is the primary reason for this decline.

Strengthening of core business
As part of the ongoing assessment and optimization
of our portfolio of interests, we disposed of our hold-
ing in German cement producer Dyckerhoff AG. We
also made a further reduction in our shareholding in
Portugal’s Cimpor to 0.6 percent. Our core business
was further strengthened by the disposal of Eternit
AG, Switzerland, in fall 2003. The company, including

plants in Niederurnen and Payerne, and all rights and
obligations, no longer formed part of the Group as of
November 10, 2003.

Russia becomes new market for our Group
As of December 31, 2003, Alpha Cement J.S.C., head-
quartered in Moscow, was fully consolidated, follow-
ing our increase in the share capital to 68.8 percent
at the end of 2003. The company controls two strate-
gically very well positioned cement plants with an
annual capacity of 4.3 million tonnes.

Advances for alternative fuels and raw materials
The emphasis of Group region Europe’s investment in
the year under review was on process technologies to
boost the use of alternative fuels and raw materials,
thereby improving economic and ecological efficien-
cy. At the port of Antwerp, Holcim is building facilities
for increased production of composite cement. Short-
ly, the Spanish plants Carboneras and Lorca will also
be able to provide more composite cement thanks to
a new slag grinding facility. Holcim Italy has acquired
all the share capital of Eurofuels, thus ensuring it has
sufficient capacity for the processing of liquid alter-
native fuels. In Romania, equipment for the continu-
ous monitoring of emissions has been installed at all
cement plants, while at the Hungarian plants of
Lábatlan and Hejöcsaba, as well as at Prachovice in
the Czech Republic, dust filters have been brought
up to the latest technical standards.

1 
Heavy-duty 
mechanical lift
system.

2
A barge navigates
through the lift
system in about
40 minutes, during
which for 7 min-
utes the vessel
climbs at a speed
of 20 centimeters
per second.

3 
Vessels negotiate a
difference in eleva-
tion of more than
70 meters.

4 
Gilbert Didi,
Captain of the 
cement transporter
MS Johanna.
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New products well received by the market
Group region Europe has taken a new approach in
terms of the introduction of innovative customer
solutions. At Italy’s Merone plant, a new system for
predosing cement, sand and concrete additives for
end-consumers became operational. Holcim Germany
developed a self-compacting concrete that is setting
new standards nation-wide with the construction 
of the Wolfsburg Science Center. Under the Super-
lucrabil® brand name, a fly ash cement was launched
for the first time in Romania. All products were well
received by the market. Sales of Georoc special bind-
ing agents were also strengthened in Eastern Europe.

“It is fun to see how it all works. I understand
there’s even a viewing platform on the roof of the
lift tower. Navigating the Canal du Centre has
become a real tourist attraction.”

Results improvement in 2004
In Germany, France, Belgium and Switzerland, the 
situation in the building materials sector is unlikely
to change significantly for the time being. However,
we expect further growth in Eastern Europe and a
persistently favorable situation in the southern part
of the continent. For Group region Europe as a whole,
we expect stable sales figures and a slight improve-
ment in operating results in local currency terms.

4

Gilbert Didi, Captain





“When this bridge was built, construction proceeded
step by step due to considerations of a civil engineer-
ing nature. I simply call it ‘constructive truth’.
Whenever construction is optimized, the result
reflects a truth which functions well. The people of
Boston now look upon their bridge as a landmark.”
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Christian Menn, Bridge Construction Expert from Switzerland



Economy slowly gathering speed.
New management team sets a positive
direction.
Weak dollar dampens results in Swiss franc
terms.
Awards for our environmental commitment
in Canada.

Group: Cement plant, Grinding plant, Important terminal; 1 Project

Cement Consumption Group Countries

In million t* 2003 2002 ± %

USA 108.9 108.2 +0.7

Canada 8.9 8.5 +5.2

Total 117.8 116.7 +0.9
* Holcim estimates.

Consolidated Sales in North America

2003 2002 ± %

Cement and clinker in m t 17.2 16.5 +4.2

Aggregates in m t 17.1 16.6 +3.0

Ready-mix concrete in m m3 2.5 2.5 –
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Consolidated Key Figures North America

2003 2002 ± %

Net sales in million CHF1 2,507 2,755 –9.02

Operating profit in million CHF1 273 298 –8.42

Personnel1 5,236 5,146 +1.7

Production capacity cement in million t 21.3 21.1 +0.9

Cement and grinding plants 21 21 –

Aggregate operations 15 12 –

Ready-mix concrete facilities 41 46 –
1 Prior-year figures of service companies have been regrouped from geographical regions

to Corporate.
2 Changes in local currency see pages 81 and 82.
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Rising demand in the USA
The US economy scored a highly impressive growth
rate of nearly 3 percent for calendar year 2003.
However, this positive outcome was achieved only
because the economy was increasingly able to gain
traction in the second half of the year.

The Canadian economy continued to hold up very
well in overall terms.

Delayed recovery in building industry
The US construction sector lagged the economy as a
whole, failing to pick up noticeably until towards the
end of the year. Prior to that, the cautious approach
to investment and unfavorable climatic conditions in
large parts of the country had caused significantly
adverse effects on the level of business. Neverthe-
less, the tax cuts introduced in summer 2003 gave 
a sustained boost to the private housebuilding 
sector.

Shortly before the year-end, demand also revived in
other areas of the building sector, resulting in a rise
in cement consumption by 0.7 percent to 109 million
tonnes over 12 months; at the same time, imports
declined slightly.

In Canada, construction activity remained robust in
our key markets of Quebec and Ontario. Private
housebuilding matched the record level of the previ-

ous year, while in the commercial and industrial sec-
tor there was a slight rise in both provinces. Major
contracts, such as the extension of Montreal’s under-
ground rail network to Laval and the expansion of
Toronto Airport, underpinned demand for cement.
There was also an increased investment in new
schools and hospitals in Ontario.

Canadian cement consumption rose a significant
5 percent to nearly 9 million tonnes.

Rising sales in a fiercely competitive market
Favorable market positioning enabled Holcim US 
to lift cement deliveries by an average 5 percent to 
13 million tonnes. Sales of GranCem® products, which
are based on fly ash and blast-furnace slag, reached
1.1 million tonnes.

The welcome rise in cement sales is directly connect-
ed to the successful commissioning of the new
cement plant at Holly Hill and increased capacity at
the Portland plant. Despite the state of Colorado
being hit by a deep recession in its construction 
sector and the Greater Chicago region showing poor
momentum, Holcim US was successful in keeping 
the volume decline in these regions to a minimum.
Elsewhere, higher delivery volumes were achieved in
Texas and Florida, as well as several markets in the
Midwest.

Modernization program
strengthens cost leadership.

In Boston the new highway project, the Central
Artery/Tunnel Project, is simply referred to as the 
Big Dig. Under construction since 1997, the “project of
the century” is to add another landmark to Boston's
cityscape. Our Canadian Group company is a preferred
supplier of cementitious materials to this project. To
date, 2.9 million cubic meters of concrete – ready-
mixed to exacting specifications – have been deliv-
ered to the different construction sites. The project
has also required a minimum of 0.25 million tonnes of
cement in order to stabilize the underground along
Massachusetts Bay.

1
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Though demand in the Northeast of the USA slack-
ened by around 2 percent due to market and
weather-related factors, St. Lawrence Cement man-
aged to maintain its level of cement deliveries at the
high level of the previous year. However, a healthy
order situation in Canada was impaired by lower
price levels.

Overall, consolidated cement deliveries in North
America reached 17.2 million tonnes (2002: 16.5).

Following initial consolidation of the quarries
acquired in Ontario in 2003, sales of aggregates 
rose 3 percent to 17.1 million tonnes. In ready-mix
concrete, output was steady at 2.5 million cubic
meters.

Strong Swiss franc hurts operating profit
The significant decline in the value of the US dollar 
in relation to the Swiss franc, together with a more
troubled market environment in some areas, was
reflected in the financial results of Group region
North America. Consolidated operating profit slipped
8.4 percent to CHF 273 million. In local currency
terms, the operating result showed an increase of 
1.3 percent. Higher freight rates for seaborne cement
imports in the second half of the year led to an 
easing of pressure on market prices along the Missis-
sippi and in the Southeast of the country.

A stronger manufacturing base
The commissioning of the new Holly Hill plant
marked another key milestone in our multi-year
expansion program in North America.

Over the past seven years, we have built state-of-the-
art cement plants in the USA with an annual capacity
of more than 8 million tonnes, thereby creating 
a basis for lower production costs and significant
improvements in environmental performance.

Approval process for new facilities is continuing
There were further delays to St. Lawrence Cement's
planned cement plant to the North of New York, the
main reason being a complex approvals procedure.
Holcim US has achieved further important advances
in the time-consuming process to build a cement
factory near Ste. Geneviève on the Mississippi. Mining
and waterway usage rights have now been granted.
We are still awaiting definitive approval with regard
to air quality maintenance.

Several awards for active environmental protection
Our North American Group companies take their
responsibility towards the environment very seriously
indeed. Under the auspices of the US Environmental
Protection Agency’s Climate Leader Program, Holcim
US has been involved in developing a set of measur-
ing standards for greenhouse gases.

2 3

1 
The Leonard P.
Zakim Bunker Hill
Bridge is the out-
standing symbol of
the new highway
project. Bridge
pylons and cables
have been pur-
posely designed as
“city gates”.

2
Aided by complex
monitoring sys-
tems, Paul V. Farren,
District Fire Chief,
directs firefighting
operations on this
stretch of highway.

3 
Bob Prosperi,
Operations Man-
ager, Aggregates
Industries, a major
ready-mix and
aggregates suppli-
er, in conversation
with Gary Jackson,
General Super-
intendent for Mod-
ern Continental.
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In recognition of its excellent achievements in envi-
ronmental protection and in the efficient use of ener-
gy, St. Lawrence Cement was awarded several indus-
try prizes (see pages 8 to 11). In 2003, the plants 
at Joliette, Mississauga, Camden and Hagerstown
received ISO 14001 certification.

We also established milestones for the use of alter-
native fuels and raw materials in the manufactur-
ing process. At the US sites in Dundee and Devil’s
Slide, the authorities agreed to a more efficient
approvals procedure for the use of alternative
energy sources based on positive operational 
experience. This means the range of alternative 
fuels can be widened in a meaningful way. At its 
US plant in Hagerstown, St. Lawrence Cement
brought on stream a new facility for the use of old
tires, enabling it to reduce carbon consumption 
by up to 15 percent.

Moderate growth in construction sector
The climate in the US construction industry is likely
to brighten further in 2004. As imported cement
becomes more expensive, we expect prices to pick up
in several markets. In Canada, the order situation in
the construction sector will probably remain robust.
On the basis of a series of measures aimed at boost-
ing efficiency, we expect the North American Group
companies to achieve better operating results in local
currency terms.

1 2

1 
Paul Pedini,
Vice President,
Modern Continen-
tal, a main general
contractor.

2
The four-lane
access ramps to
the bridge.

3 
Anchoring a ten-
sioning cable in
concrete.

4 
Chris Peluso,
Project Engineer,
on the Leonard 
P. Zakim Bunker
Hill Bridge.
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“Our biggest problem was to run the 
country’s largest highway project right
through the city of Boston without inter-
rupting the existing road grid. This was 
a major challenge for all concerned – 
including our suppliers of concrete.”

3 4

Paul Pedini, Vice President, Modern Continental





“To extend the hydroelectric power plant, we were
faced with one major challenge: how to pour 
concrete for the upper weir where the water flows
into the generating units. The ideal solution turned
out to be an auxiliary setup suspended over the 
dam crest. The result? 2,000 cubic meters of concrete
were poured in one day.”
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Carlos F. A. de Britto e Silva, Engineering Manager, CEITAIPU, Brazil



Cement Consumption Group Countries

In million t* 2003 2002 ± %

Mexico 30.1 29.4 +2.4

Nicaragua 0.6 0.5 +5.0

Costa Rica 1.0 1.2 –16.7

Panama 0.9 0.7 +10.0

Colombia 5.3 5.1 +3.3

Venezuela 2.8 3.6 –21.3

Dominican Republic 2.9 3.2 –9.2

Ecuador 3.1 3.3 –3.4

Brazil 33.8 38.8 –10.3

Argentina 4.8 4.3 +11.6

Chile 3.8 3.7 +2.7

Total 89.1 93.8 –5.0
* Holcim estimates.

Consolidated Sales in Latin America

2003 2002 ± %

Cement and clinker in m t 19.3 18.8 +2.7

Aggregates in m t 11.5 12.6 –8.7

Ready-mix concrete in m m3 7.6 7.4 +2.7

Consolidated Key Figures Latin America

2003 2002 ± %

Net sales in million CHF 2,842 3,248 –12.51

Operating profit in million CHF 766 785 –2.41

Personnel 10,278 11,091 –7.3

Production capacity cement in million t 31.0 31.2 –0.6

Cement and grinding plants 26 26 –

Aggregate operations 32 35 –

Ready-mix concrete facilities 221 248 –
1 Changes in local currency see pages 81 and 82.

Group: Cement plant, Grinding plant, Important terminal; Participation: Cement plant, Grinding plant, Important terminal

Holcim has a presence in all
major markets.

Argentina’s Minetti rebounds.

Latin America continues 
to generate solid operating
income.
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Latin American economy measures up 
to expectations
The economy has held up well in most Latin American
countries despite the difficult global backdrop. A 
surprisingly strong recovery in Argentina was already
apparent at the beginning of the year. Mexico also
remained on its growth course although the export
sector suffered from hesitant demand from the US.
The situation in Venezuela remained difficult. Brazil
turned in a respectable performance, underlining the
degree of economic confidence in the new govern-
ment. The situation in Chile remained positive.

Construction sector acts as key support to economy
Construction spending in many instances acted as 
a support to domestic demand. This was true for
Mexico, several countries in Central America and the
Caribbean, as well as Colombia, Argentina and Chile.
In these countries, consumption of cement grew 
at a faster pace than the overall economy.

Mexico was buoyed above all by growth in the private
and social housing construction sectors. Expansion of
the energy supply network in Panama, together with
work beginning on a second bridge across the canal,
sparked off a rise in the volume of building materials.
Flourishing demand for cement in Colombia was
attributable to the resumption of major infrastruc-
ture projects such as the Transmilenio rapid bus sys-
tem in Bogotá. The unstable situation in Venezuela

once again hit the construction sector badly. Never-
theless, the continuation of Valencia’s metro project
provided some cheer for publicly-financed investment
in the second half of the year. A lack of major govern-
ment orders and fall-off in self-construction activity
in Brazil led to a decline in the demand for cement.
Private housebuilding activity saw an acceleration in
Argentina; however, there was barely any investment
by the public sector. Access to bank loans remained
difficult for consumers and business alike. Chile
exhibited a robust performance, with demand for
cement sustained at a high level.

On an overall basis, cement consumption in our
Group countries fell 5 percent to 89 million tonnes.

Higher cement sales assisted by dense distribution
network
In Group region Latin America, we confounded the
negative trend, increasing our cement deliveries by
2.7 percent to 19.3 million tonnes. Due to the local
market situation, and following a number of indi-
vidual restructuring operations, shipments of aggre-
gates declined by 8.7 percent to 11.5 million tonnes.
In ready-mix concrete, we achieved growth of 2.7 per-
cent to 7.6 million cubic meters against the backdrop
of major regional sales fluctuations.

Encouraging construction climate
in most Group countries.

The Itaipu hydroelectric power plant on the border
between Brazil and Paraguay began operating in 1991
with 18 generating units. Due to a growing demand
for power, two additional generating units have been
installed in the past few years. A number of nature
reserves and recreational areas have also been set
aside. Today, a special channel is being built to allow
fish to reach their original spawning grounds.
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Holcim Apasco in Mexico raised its cement sales sig-
nificantly despite weather-related setbacks. In the
ready-mix concrete sector, the company concentrated
on products and distribution channels with higher
margins and was prepared to accept slightly lower
delivery volumes. Our Group companies in Nicaragua
and Costa Rica held up well in what was, at times, a
difficult market environment.

The other companies in Central America and the
Caribbean – in which we have minority shareholdings
– once again sold more than 4 million tonnes of
cement.

Holcim Colombia also achieved higher cement sales.
In Venezuela, the increase in exports almost offset
falling cement consumption in the domestic market.
La Cemento Nacional in Ecuador felt the effects of
import pressure more so than in previous years.
Holcim Brazil, meanwhile, delivered less cement yet
considerably more ready-mix concrete. Argentina’s
Minetti exploited the economic rebound, achieving
impressive rates of growth. Business was encourag-
ing at our Group company in Chile, which across 
all segments saw a repeat of the strong figures of 
the previous year.

Minetti bolsters the Group region's operating 
results
The operating result for Latin America in US dollar
terms once again showed an increase – this time of
13.4 percent. However, after consolidation in Swiss
franc terms there was a currency-induced dip of 
2.4 percent to CHF 766 million.

Holcim Apasco once again mounted a good perform-
ance. Greater sales volumes, and further streamlining
of the cost structure, led to a substantial contribution
to profits. In Nicaragua, we concentrated cement
manufacturing activities at the Nagarote site. The
associated cost savings and buoyant market senti-
ment impacted positively on the operating profit of
this Group company. In Costa Rica, Ecuador and
Colombia, we were unable to match the previous
year’s results. In Brazil, by contrast, we were aided by
enhanced margins, various efficiency improvements
and a favorable exchange rate.

In Argentina, Minetti achieved a turnaround on the
back of a strong rise in demand for building materials
and strong market positioning. From a negative 
situation in the previous year, the operating result
has now moved well into positive territory. Cemento
Polpaico in Chile once again exhibited an impressive
financial performance. Both Group companies were
helped by the creation of a cross-border management
team.

1
Jandir Antonio
Balvedi is the
building site super-
visor at Itaipu.

2
The Itaipu dam
regulates enor-
mous amounts of
water.

3 
Rodolfo Rubik is a
forestry expert.
The CEITAIPU
Consortium 
invests some USD
100,000.– each
year in nursery 
and reforestation
projects.
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High plant efficiency and active environmental 
protection
Investment projects were concentrated on the im-
provement of plant efficiency and selective expansion
of production capacity. However, further advances
were also made in relation to various measures in 
the environmental protection field and the use of 
alternative fuels and raw materials.

In Costa Rica, construction of a new kiln line proceed-
ed according to schedule. This expansion enables 
us to gear production capacity to longer-term market
developments and substantially improve our cost
structure. In Panama, we recently began operation 
of a state-of-the-art import terminal at Bahía las
Minas.

In the ready-mix concrete sector, our Group compa-
nies in Brazil and Chile strengthened their regional
network through selective acquisitions.

In the year under review, Holcim Apasco for the first
time used petroleum coke as a kiln fuel for manufac-
turing clinker at its Apaxco plant and commissioned
a processing facility for alternative fuels. The launch
of a new composite cement for the domestic market
by Cementos Colón, in the Dominican Republic,
met with a very positive response. All companies in
this Group region are working on projects to curb
emissions.

Latin America will continue to display good results
In conjunction with the increase in global economic
activity, the Latin American economies will rapidly
accelerate. Notwithstanding the occurrence of
unforeseeable extraordinary events, we expect
another set of solid operating results for this Group
region in local currency terms.

1 2

1 
Matheus Romero
Neto is a zoologist.
He handles the
fisheries project
designed to benefit
bream, catfish and
snapper.

2
The dam generates
considerable 
interest in terms 
of fishing and
forestry.

3
The area around
the reservoir has
evolved to become
a recreational area
in its own right.

4
José Luiz Pereira
Junior, coordinator
at our ready-mix
concrete plant in
Itaipu.
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“When we built the two new turbines we had
to transport the fresh ready-mix concrete 
80 meters below. A freefall, however, would
cause the concrete to crumble. New develop-
ments in pumping technology and a special
concrete mix enabled us to address the prob-
lem without wasting any time.”

3

José Luiz Pereira Junior, Holcim Brazil

4





“I developed the ideas for the Twin Center together
with Spanish architect Ricardo Bofill. We wanted 
to build a landmark for this area of the city, we 
wanted an optical link to the nearby mosque with 
its 200 meter minaret. Also, our inspiration came
from Moorish architectural styles.”
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Élie Mouyal, Co-Architect Twin Center, Morocco



Buoyant construction activity in key 
markets.
Improved contribution to consolidated
results.
Expansion of market position in eastern
Mediterranean area.

Cement Consumption Group Countries

In million t* 2003 2002 ± %

Morocco 9.3 8.4 +8.0

West Africa 1.5 1.4 +8.9

Madagascar, La Réunion, 

Mauritius 1.6 1.4 +7.6

South Africa 10.2 9.6 +5.6

Tanzania 1.1 1.0 +10.0

Egypt 25.7 26.4 –2.1

Lebanon 2.7 2.6 +3.8

Total 52.1 50.8 +2.6
* Holcim estimates.

Consolidated Sales in Africa Middle East

2003 2002 ± %

Cement and clinker in m t 12.8 11.7 +9.4

Aggregates in m t 8.3 9.0 –7.8

Ready-mix concrete in m m3 1.8 1.6 +12.5

Consolidated Key Figures Africa Middle East

2003 2002 ± %

Net sales in million CHF 1,280 1,136 +12.71

Operating profit in million CHF 287 242 +18.61

Personnel 4,472 4,620 –3.2

Production capacity cement in million t 12.9 13.3 –3.0

Cement and grinding plants 14 15 –

Aggregate operations 21 23 –

Ready-mix concrete facilities 46 47 –
1 Changes in local currency see pages 81 and 82.

Group: Cement plant, Grinding plant, Important terminal; Participation: Cement plant, Grinding plant, Important terminal
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sales – in some cases markedly. Consolidated delivery
volumes rose 9.4 percent to 12.8 million tonnes.
Shipments of aggregates also developed positively.
However, due to the disposal of quarry operations in
Lebanon at the end of 2002, there was a 7.8 percent
drop in consolidated volumes to 8.3 million tonnes.
Strong gains were reported for ready-mix concrete
sales owing to lively demand in all sectors of the 
market. Sales reached 1.8 million cubic meters – an
increase of 12.5 percent.

In cement, Holcim Lebanon reported an impressive 
increase in volume. This was primarily caused by new
deliveries to Syria and Cyprus. Following its acquisition
of a cement grinding facility at Famagusta in northern
Cyprus, effective April 1, 2003, our Lebanese Group com-
pany achieved further expansion of its market position
in the eastern Mediterranean region.

Commendable sales figures for Holcim Morocco and
Holcim Outre-Mer also warrant a mention. Similarly,
Holcim South Africa recorded an increase in volume
with sales by Tanga Cement in Tanzania included.

Significant rise in profit
Operating profit of Group region Africa Middle East
rose an impressive 22.7 percent in local currency
terms. In Swiss francs, there was also an above-aver-
age increase of 18.6 percent to CHF 287 million. Our
key Group companies in South Africa and Morocco

Strong growth in Morocco and South Africa
In 2003, economic activity in Group region Africa 
Middle East was once again predominantly influenced
by local conditions. The robust growth of South Africa
and Morocco continued, while in Lebanon and Egypt
there was a partial economic recovery. By contrast,
business activity on the West African coast was
impeded by political and economic instability. In
Madagascar and La Réunion, the economic situation
remained on par with the previous year.

In the markets served by Holcim, demand for building
materials rose in overall terms, with cement con-
sumption growing 2.6 percent to 52 million tonnes.
In Morocco, social housing construction programs, and
the expansion of transport and tourism infrastructure
in particular, ensured higher demand for cement. In
Egypt, investment in hotel facilities and business cen-
ters and the expansion of the petrochemicals industry
helped offset a slight decline in domestic sales. By
contrast, there was a significant increase in exports of
cement. Cement consumption in Lebanon was stable,
and in South Africa reached a new record level.
Growth was driven by the private housebuilding 
sector and expansion of the roads network and manu-
facturing sector in various regions.

Acquisition of grinding facility in Cyprus
With the exception of the West Africa group of coun-
tries, all Group companies increased their cement

Modern plants ensure
cost efficiency.

With its two towers rising 110 meters above the
ground, the Twin Center has become a new land-
mark for Casablanca. The building occupies
13,500 square meters of land and features 
offices, shopping center, hotel, residential units,
exhibition space as well as a parking facility. The
concrete façade received a special light-colored
lacquer coating in order to match Casablanca's
cityscape.

1

1 
With its hotel and
shopping center
the Twin Center is
an architectural
breakthrough for
Casablanca.

2
Mohammed Azami
is engineer with
STGM, the building
consortium
responsible for this
mammoth project.

3 
The building's shell
is made entirely of
concrete. With
foundations up to
10 meters deep in
water, construction
requires a special
building technique.



Af
ric

a 
M

id
dl

e 
Ea

st

45

Advances in use of alternative fuels
The use of alternative fuels and raw materials, as well
as reductions in emissions, was at the center of a series
of different projects designed to lessen our impact on
the environment. At its Oujda plant, Holcim Morocco
commissioned a new processing facility for the use 
of old tires to fuel the kilns. Our plants in Egypt and
Lebanon installed systems for the fully automated, con-
tinuous monitoring of emissions. In addition, the filter
equipment at the Ras El Ma site was comprehensively
renewed. Our South African Group company launched a
new type of composite cement for specific applications
in both structural and civil engineering.

Positive prospects for 2004
The uncertain situation in the Middle East hinders our
ability to forecast economic developments in these Group
markets. Nevertheless, further stabilization in the region
is likely to impact positively on the economy of these
countries. As far as the African continent is concerned,
we expect the economic situation and state of orders to
remain healthy. At an operational level, the results of this
Group region are likely to be in line with the previous year.

“52,000 cubic meters. This is the largest amount of
ready-mix concrete ever required for a building.”

2 3

Mohammed Azami, Engineer

likewise mounted a clear improvement in their finan-
cial results. In addition, the Group’s units in Egypt and
Lebanon provided a substantial contribution to profits
for this region. However, intensive price competition
prevented Holcim Lebanon and Egyptian Cement from
matching their previous-year levels.

Creation of additional production capacity
The Group companies invested primarily in projects
geared towards boosting efficiency and expanding 
production and distribution capacity. As part of a wide-
ranging cost-cutting program, Holcim Morocco focused
more closely on its production sites at Oujda and Ras 
El Ma. The construction of a new cement mill and addi-
tional silo facilities, including state-of-the-art packaging
lines in Ras El Ma, enabled the decommissioning of the
less efficient grinding facility in Doukkarat. The newly-
completed third kiln line at its Dudfield plant enabled
our South African Group company to expand its produc-
tion base and optimize operational efficiency. In the In-
dian Ocean region, new import terminals were recently
established to respond to rising cement demand in 
connection with infrastructure projects in La Réunion.
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“We designed Christchurch’s new ‘Te Puna o
Waiwhetu’ Art Gallery to make the building 
perfectly compatible with a broad, urban setting.
The façade acts as an undulating sculpture and
appears to emulate the Avon River below as it winds
its way through the city.” David Cole, Architect The Buchan Group, Australia



Cement Consumption Group Countries

In million t* 2003 2002 ± %

Azerbaijan 1.6 1.4 +14.3

Sri Lanka 3.0 2.8 +8.7

Bangladesh 6.5 6.0 +8.0

Thailand 23.5 22.2 +5.7

Malaysia 14.7 12.0 +23.0

Indonesia 27.2 27.2 –

Vietnam 23.0 19.7 +16.8

Philippines 12.6 12.9 –2.5

Australia 8.0 7.5 +6.7

New Zealand 1.1 1.0 +9.1

Total 121.2 112.7 +7.5
* Holcim estimates.

Consolidated Sales in Asia Pacific

2003 2002 ± %

Cement and clinker in m t 23.2 22.9 +1.3

Aggregates in m t 4.1 5.6 –26.8

Ready-mix concrete in m m3 2.0 2.1 –4.8

Construction markets in Asia show further
growth.
Rising domestic sales in Thailand and 
Indonesia.
Capacity utilization at high level.
Consolidation of our positions in Australia
and the Philippines.

Group: Cement plant, Grinding plant, Important terminal; Participation: Cement plant, Grinding plant, Important terminal; 1 Project

Consolidated Key Figures Asia Pacific

2003 2002 ± %

Net sales in million CHF1 1,760 1,714 +2.72

Operating profit in million CHF1 198 163 +21.52

Personnel1 12,118 13,078 –7.3

Production capacity cement in million t 36.0 35.5 +1.4

Cement and grinding plants 24 22 –

Aggregate operations 8 16 –

Ready-mix concrete facilities 63 78 –
1 Prior-year figures of service companies have been regrouped from geographical regions

to Corporate.
2 Changes in local currency see pages 81 and 82.
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Robust economy
Most markets in the Asia Pacific region showed real
growth in 2003. The distinct lull in economic activity
observed in some countries in the first half of the
year, in the wake of a weakening US economy and the
SARS outbreak, was short-lived. Thailand and Vietnam
exhibited particularly impressive rates of growth,
while in Sri Lanka, Indonesia and the Philippines
there was also a further increase in overall economic
activity.

In Australia and New Zealand, strong domestic
demand and rising exports ensured that the overall
picture remained positive.

Strong boost for construction sector too
Consumption of cement was higher in practically all
markets. The main impetus came from housebuilding
but also from the expansion of roads and power 
generation infrastructure. In many instances, major
local projects triggered considerable demand for
cement – such as the construction of several bridges
in Bangladesh and Malaysia, and the expansion of
airports in Bangkok and Jakarta.

The strongest growth was displayed by Malaysia,
Vietnam and New Zealand, followed by Bangladesh,
Sri Lanka, Australia and Thailand. Only the Philippines
experienced a slight decline in cement consumption
due to fewer orders from the public sector.

In the countries served by the Holcim Group, consump-
tion of cement grew 7.5 percent to 121 million tonnes.

Consolidation and selective expansion 
of our positions
In the year under review, our interests in Group
region Asia Pacific were the subject of further consol-
idation and selective expansion. On June 1, we com-
mitted ourselves to a new strategic partnership in
Australia. This meant Holcim contributing the domes-
tic cement plants and operations of Queensland
Cement to a newly-created joint venture, Cement
Australia. This new company – in which Holcim has 
a 50 percent shareholding – has an annual capacity 
of 3.6 million tonnes of cement, and is the national
market leader.

We reinforced our presence in the Philippines follow-
ing the 2002 merger of our two Group companies
there. In 2003, Union Cement commissioned a state-
of-the-art loading facility at the port of Luga-it and
began exporting clinker.

Higher delivery volume in most markets
Cement sales of Group region Asia Pacific rose 
1.3 percent to 23.2 million tonnes. Growth in domes-
tic demand exerted a positive influence, as did the
consolidation over the full year of Union Cement.
By contrast, the export business lost some of its
appeal.

Better financial results thanks to 
impressive growth rates in ASEAN 
countries.

A total of 97 entries were received in response to the
architectural competition for the Christchurch Art
Gallery. A multitude of concrete applications went
into the building: 600 prefabricated girders, for 
example, with a span of 15 meters each. The concrete
needed to build load-bearing walls and ceilings was
laid and compacted on site. With walls up to 60 centi-
meters thick, the concrete mix was especially chosen
to maintain room temperature and room humidity as
constant as possible.

1
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The sharpest percentage increase in volumes was
reported by Holcim Malaysia. Our Group company
there benefited from a substantial demand backlog
in the infrastructure sector.

Holcim Vietnam operated close to capacity. Sales in
the South of the country were stepped up with a view
to production start-up at the new Thi Vai River grind-
ing plant near Ho Chi Minh City, planned for mid-
2004.

In Thailand and Indonesia, Siam City Cement and 
PT Semen Cibinong also reported a considerable
increase in deliveries to their respective domestic
markets. Rising freight rates led both companies to
reduce their exports of cement, resulting in a decline
in the overall volume.

In Australia, there was a rise in shipments owing to
persistently high demand for commercial and private
construction work. The mining industry provided an
additional boost. Our Australian joint venture Cement
Australia fully utilized the capacity at its disposal.
Indeed, in order to ensure optimal market coverage it
had to resort to imports. Due to an improved distri-
bution network no delivery bottlenecks occurred at
any time.

Holcim New Zealand also experienced a rise in
cement sales. One reason was the high immigration
quota, which exerted a positive impact on all con-
struction segments.

In aggregates and ready-mix concrete, volume fell
26.8 percent to 4.1 million tonnes and 4.8 percent
to 2 million cubic meters, respectively. The decline
was attributable to the disposal of Queensland
Cement’s gravel and concrete business, as required 
by the competition authorities in the context of the
merger.

Marked rise in operating profit
Operating profit for Group region Asia Pacific rose an
impressive 30.1 percent in local currency. On a consoli-
dated basis, there was a 21.5 percent increase to CHF
198 million. The largest contributions came from our
Group companies in Thailand, Australia, New Zealand
and Vietnam.

The significantly improved result of Siam City Cement
was mainly caused by rising domestic volume, higher
prices and further efficiency improvements. Despite
competitive pressures, Holcim Vietnam achieved com-
mendable results. The massive devaluation of the
peso hindered an improvement in our results in the
Philippines. Cement Australia held up well in finan-
cial terms, although Queensland Cement’s inclusion
in the new joint venture means the results are not

2 3

1 
Exterior view
towards the Avon
River.

2
Prefabricated con-
crete panels.

3
Exposed concrete is
omnipresent inside
the building.
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Good prospects for 2004
We expect positive developments in the economic 
situation for a majority of ASEAN countries in 2004,
and forecast that demand for building materials will
remain at its current high level in the Pacific region.
We therefore anticipate a higher volume of sales 
for this Group region in overall terms, accompanied
by further improved results in local currency terms,
thanks to focused restructuring measures imple-
mented over the past years.

directly comparable. Holcim New Zealand exceeded
its prior-year result by a considerable margin.

A notable development was the turnaround at PT
Semen Cibinong. Despite high integration costs, our
Indonesian Group company succeeded in achieving
an operating profit. Its performance was aided by 
rising domestic sales and strict control over costs.
Various programs to boost efficiency will continue 
to be pursued with vigor in 2004.

New structure for Chinese interests
In China, we sold our interest in Suzhou Golden Cat
Cement to Huaxin Cement. Holcim has a 23.4 percent
shareholding in this listed company. Huaxin Cement
now controls cement plants with an annual capacity
of around 8 million tonnes and is very well positioned
in the provinces of Hubei and Jiangsu.

Commitment to sustainable development
With the aim of improving environmental protection
and achieving sustainable development, we launched
a series of important investment programs. A Group-
owned company in the Philippines initiated the treat-
ment of valuable waste material. This project is also
intended to set new standards in terms of environ-
mentally-sensitive operations throughout the coun-
try. All the Group’s plants in the Asia Pacific region 
are equipped with control systems for the fully auto-
mated, continuous monitoring of emissions.

1 2

1 
Overall view.

2
The spacious foyer.

3 
Tony Preston,
Director of the new
Art Gallery.

4
Exposed concrete is
a design element.



As
ia

 P
ac

ifi
c

53

4

“With each building phase, the people of Christ-
church became more and more interested. Today,
the Art Gallery is one of New Zealand’s most
remarkable structures. The building addresses
three – often conflicting – considerations under
one and the same roof: a rewarding experience 
for the visitor, flexible exhibition options for the
collection, and an efficient work environment for
the members of our staff.”

3

Tony Preston, Art Gallery Director
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pendent. A standard registered share, and thus the
principle of  “one share, one vote”, was introduced at
the last annual general meeting.

The information published below conforms with the
Corporate Governance Directive of the SWX Swiss 
Exchange. If one of the points contained in the SWX
directive is not mentioned in this report it is either
not applicable or not of a material nature for Holcim.
An overview of the Regulations Governing Organiza-
tion and Operations, together with the Charters of
the Audit Committee and Nomination & Compensa-
tion Committee, is provided on page 60 of this report.

In order to enhance the clarity of this section, refer-
ence is made to other parts of the annual report.

Managing responsibly
Corporate governance puts the focus on business
risks and the company’s reputation, but also on cor-
porate social responsibility. It is about promoting 
corporate fairness, transparency and accountability –
not just to shareholders but to all stakeholders. As a
responsible enterprise, we recognize the significance
of an effective corporate governance. In the course of
our activities we show respect for society and the en-
vironment, communicate in an open and transparent
manner and act in accordance with legal, corporate
and ethical guidelines.

A number of aspects merit emphasis: at Holcim the
functions of Chairman of the Board of Directors and
CEO are separate – a key element in ensuring a bal-
anced relationship between management and con-
trol. In addition, the majority of Directors are inde-

Building trust and transparency through
effective Corporate Governance.

The current organizational chart can be found on the back cover flap.

Organizational chart as at December 31, 2003

Holcim Board of Directors

Corporate Strategy & Risk Management
Corporate Legal 
Corporate Human Resources Management
Corporate Communications
Investor Relations

Thomas Knöpfel

Latin America2

Bernard Terver

Area Management

Paul Hugentobler

South Asia
Northern ASEAN

Theophil H. Schlatter
CFO

Finance  
and Controlling

Urs Bieri
Deputy CEO

Southern ASEAN
East Asia and Pacific
South and East Africa

Jerry C.R. Maycock

Area Management

Urs Böhlen

Area Management

Hansueli Heé

Europe 
(excluding
Iberian Peninsula)

Benoît-H. Koch

North America
Iberian Peninsula
Mediterranean
International Trade

Javier de Benito

Area Management

Corporate Controlling
Corporate Financing 
& Treasury
Financial Holdings
Holcim Information
Platform

Markus Akermann
CEO

Executive Committee �

Nomination & Compensation CommitteeAudit Committee1

Manufacturing Services
Commercial Services
Industrial Ecology
Training & Learning
Information Technology
Administration Group Support
Procurement

1 Internal Audit reports to the Chairman of the Board of Directors.
2 Mexico under direct responsibility of Markus Akermann.
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Group structure and shareholders
Holcim Ltd, a holding company operating under the
laws of Switzerland for an indefinite period and with
its registered office in Jona (Canton of St. Gallen,
Switzerland), has direct and indirect interests in 
all the companies listed on pages 128 to 130 of the
annual report.

The management structure of the Holcim Group as at
December 31, 2003 is shown on the organizational
chart on page 54.

The Board of Directors has passed a resolution to ap-
point Tom Clough, CEO of the Indonesian Group Com-
pany PT Semen Cibinong, to the Executive Committee
effective May 14, 2004.

At the end of March 2004, Jerry Maycock will leave
Holcim’s area management and pursue a new chal-
lenge in Australia.

The reports on our business review, as well as seg-
ment information, contain additional information on
the individual Group regions.

More detailed information on Group structure and
shareholders can be found in the following sections
of the annual report:

Capital structure
A sound financial basis constitutes the precondition
for growth in added value. The share capital of 
Holcim Ltd is divided into the following categories:

Share capital
As at December 31, 2003, the nominal, fully paid-in
share capital of Holcim Ltd amounted to CHF 402.4
million.

Conditional share capital
The share capital may be raised by CHF 28,015,750.–
through the issue of a maximum of 14,007,875 fully
paid-in registered shares, each with a par value of
CHF 2. The conditional capital may be used for the 
exercising of convertible and/or option rights relating
to bonds or similar debt instruments of the company
or one of its Group companies.

Authorized share capital
As at December 31, 2003, there was no authorized
share capital.

Additional information on the capital structure:

Topic Page(s)

Changes in equity of Holcim Ltd 142

Articles of Incorporation

of Holcim Ltd www.holcim.com/corporate_governance

Detailed information Articles of Incorporation,

on conditional capital articles 3bis

Key data per share 125,144–145, 148–149

Rights pertaining Articles of Incorporation,

to the shares articles 6, 9, 10

Regulations on 68–69

transferability of shares Articles of Incorporation,

and nominee registration articles 4, 5

Convertible bonds 

and warrants/options 116–117, 123–124

Topic Page(s)

Business review 

in the individual Group regions 16–53

Segment information 102–103

Principal companies 128–130

Information about listed Group companies 129

Important shareholders 144
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Board of Directors
The Board of Directors consists of
eleven members, CEO Markus 
Akermann being the sole executive
member.

The Board of Directors meets as
often as business requires, but at
least four times each year. In 
the year under review, five regular
meetings, one extraordinary 
meeting and one strategy meeting
were held. All members of the
Board attended every meeting.

Rolf Soiron
Swiss national, born January 31, 1945, Chairman of the Board of Directors,
elected until 2005, member of the Nomination & Compensation Commit-
tee. He studied history at the University of Basel, where he obtained a PhD
in philosophy in 1972. He began his professional career in 1970 with the
Sandoz group, Basel, where he held various positions, ultimately as CEO of
Sandoz Pharma AG with the responsibility for the global pharmaceuticals
business. From 1993 until the end of June 2003, Rolf Soiron managed the
Jungbunzlauer group in Basel (leading international manufacturer of citric
acid and related products), ultimately as Managing Director. In 1996, he
took on a part-time role as President of the Basel University Council. In
early 2003, he was appointed Chairman of the Board of Directors of Nobel
Biocare. He was elected to the Board of Directors of Holcim Ltd in 1994.

Willy R. Kissling
Swiss national, born May 26, 1944, Deputy Chairman of the Board of 
Directors, elected until 2005, Chairman of the Nomination & Compensa-
tion Committee. He obtained a doctorate in management sciences at the
University of Berne, complementing his studies at the Harvard Business
School, Cambridge, USA. He began his professional career in 1970 at Ami-
antus Corporation, moving to Intergips in 1978, where he was ultimately
appointed CEO. From 1987 until 1996, he served as CEO and Managing 
Director at Landis & Gyr AG. Since then, he has been appointed to the
Board of Directors of various international corporations. Between 1998
and 2002, he was also CEO of the Unaxis Corporation. He was appointed
to the Board of Directors of Holcim Ltd in 1997.

Markus Akermann
Swiss national, born January 25, 1947, CEO, member of the Board of Direc-
tors, elected until 2005. He obtained a degree in business economics
from the University of St. Gallen in 1973 and studied economic and social
sciences at the University of Sheffield, UK. He began his professional 
career in 1975 with the former Swiss Banking Corporation. In 1978,
he moved to Holcim, where he was active in a number of roles including
Area Manager for Latin America and Holcim Trading. In 1993, he 
was appointed to the Executive Committee, with responsibility for
Latin America and international trading activities until the end of 2002.
On January 1, 2002, he was appointed CEO and at the annual general
meeting in 2002, he was elected to the Board of Directors of Holcim Ltd.
Mexico remains under his direct responsibility.
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Erich Hunziker
Swiss national, born September 15, 1953, member of the Board of Directors, elected until
2005, member of the Nomination & Compensation Committee. He studied industrial engi-
neering at the ETH in Zurich, obtaining a PhD in 1983. In that same year, he joined Corange
AG (holding company for the Boehringer Mannheim group), where he was appointed CFO 
in 1997 and among other things managed a project handling the financial aspects of the
sale of the Corange group to F. Hoffmann-La Roche AG. From 1998 until 2001, he was CEO 
at the Diethelm group and Diethelm Keller Holding AG. Since 2001, he has served as CFO 
of F. Hoffmann-La Roche AG and is a member of the Executive Committee. He was elected 
to the Board of Directors of Holcim Ltd in 1998.

Peter Küpfer
Swiss national, born January 17, 1944, member of the Board of Directors, elected until 2005,
Chairman of the Audit Committee. As a certified accountant, he began his career with Revi-
suisse Pricewaterhouse AG in Basel and Zurich, where he became a member of manage-
ment. From 1985 until 1989, he was CFO at Financière Credit Suisse First Boston and CS First
Boston, New York; from 1989 until 1996, he was at CS Holding, Zurich, as a member of 
the Executive Board. He has been an independent business consultant since 1997. He was
elected to the Board of Directors of Holcim Ltd in 2002.

Gilbert J.B. Probst
Swiss national, born September 17, 1950, member of the Board of Directors, elected until
2005. He obtained his PhD in 1981 and in 1986 became a professor of business administra-
tion at the University of St. Gallen. From 1984 until 1987, he was Deputy Director and Head
of Research at the Institute of Management and, at the same time, he was a lecturer in 
organizational behavior and management at the University of St. Gallen. Since 1987, he has
been a Professor of Organization and Management and Director of the MBA program at the
University of Geneva, as well as a member of the Board of SKU (Swiss training programs 
for senior executives). He is also a founder of the Geneva Knowledge Forum. He was elected
to the Board of Directors of Holcim Ltd in 1999.

Thomas Schmidheiny
Swiss national, born December 17, 1945, member of the Board of Directors, elected until
2005, member of the Nomination & Compensation Committee. He studied mechanical 
engineering at the ETH in Zurich and complemented his studies with an MBA from the IMD
in Lausanne (1972). In 1999, he was awarded an honorary doctorate for his services in the
field of sustainable development from Tufts University, Massachusetts, USA. He began 
his career in 1970 as Technical Director with Cementos Apasco and was appointed to the 
Executive Committee of Holcim in 1976, where he held the office of Chairman from 1978 
until 2001. He was appointed to the Board of Directors of Holcim Ltd in 1978.
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Wolfgang Schürer
Swiss national, born September 14, 1946, member of the Board of Directors, elected until 2005.
He studied economic and social sciences at the University of St. Gallen, where he was awarded
an honorary doctorate in 1999. He is Chairman of the Board of Directors and CEO of MS Man-
agement Service AG, St. Gallen (international consultancy firm focusing on strategy and risk
evaluation of foreign engagements for multinational firms in Europe, North America, the 
Middle East and Asia as well as mandates in the international regulatory environment). He is
also Guest Professor for International Trade Diplomacy at Georgetown University, Washington
D.C., and a member of the Curatorium and special representative of the Hague Academy of 
International Law. He is also a founder of the International Management Symposium at the
University of St. Gallen. He was elected to the Board of Directors of Holcim Ltd in 1997.

Dieter Spälti
Swiss national, born February 27, 1961, member of the Board of Directors, elected until 2005.
He studied law at the University of Zurich, obtaining a doctorate in 1989. He began his pro-
fessional career as a credit officer with Bank of New York in New York, before taking up an
appointment as CFO of Tyrolit (Swarovski group), based in Innsbruck and Zurich in 1991.
From 1993 until 2001 he was with McKinsey & Company, ultimately as a partner, and was 
involved in numerous projects with industrial, financial and technology firms in Europe, the
US and Southeast Asia. In October 2002, he joined the Jona-based Spectrum Value Manage-
ment Ltd., which administers the industrial and private investments of the family of Thomas
Schmidheiny. He was elected to the Board of Directors of Holcim Ltd in 2003.

Andreas von Planta
Swiss national, born July 11, 1955, member of the Board of Directors, elected until 2005, member
of the Audit Committee. He studied law at the Universities of Basel (doctorate, 1981) and New
York (LL.M., 1983). He began his professional career in 1983 with Lenz & Staehelin, an interna-
tional law firm based in Geneva. In 1988, he became partner and since 2002 has been Manag-
ing Partner. He has a wealth of experience in corporate law, business financing, mergers & 
acquisitions and arbitration law. He was elected to the Board of Directors of Holcim Ltd in 2003.

Peter G. Wodtke
US national, born July 16, 1934, member of the Board of Directors, elected until 2005, mem-
ber of the Audit Committee. After concluding his studies at Princeton University with a
Bachelor of Arts in European Civilization, he worked at Citibank in Hong Kong and Beirut
until 1970. He then moved to Henry Schroder Banking Corporation, where he assumed the
position of CEO and Chairman of the Board of Directors of PICA (Private Investment Com-
pany for Asia) in 1971. In 1976, he joined the former Swiss Banking Corporation North Amer-
ica as Director, before becoming an independent advisor on investments, M&A and corpo-
rate finance in London in 1982, and from 1990 until 2000, he was General Partner of Peter
Wodtke & Partners. In 2000, he founded the private firm Peter Wodtke LLC, New York. He
was elected to the Board of Directors of Holcim Ltd in 1987; in 2005, he will reach retirement
age as set out in the Articles of Incorporation.
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Other Major Swiss and Foreign Activities of the Board of Directors Outside the Holcim Group

Board of Directors Main activities Position

Rolf Soiron Nobel Biocare Holding AG, Zurich Chairman of the Board of Directors

Jungbunzlauer group, Basel Member of the Board of Directors

Synthes-Stratec Inc., Paoli (USA) Member of the Board of Directors

Basel University Council, Basel President

Willy R. Kissling SIG Holding AG, Neuhausen Chairman of the Board of Directors

(until 30.3.2004)

Unaxis Holding AG, Pfäffikon Chairman of the Board of Directors

Forbo Holding AG, Eglisau Deputy Chairman of the Board 

of Directors

Kühne & Nagel International AG, Schindellegi Member of the Board of Directors

Schneider Electric S.A., Paris (France) Member of the Board of Directors

Peter Küpfer Valora Holding AG, Berne Chairman of the Board of Directors

Bank Julius Bär AG, Zurich Deputy Chairman of the Board 

of Directors

Swisscom AG, Berne Member of the Board of Directors

(Chairman Audit Committee)

Unaxis Holding AG, Pfäffikon Member of the Board of Directors

(Chairman Audit and Finance 

Committee)

Gilbert J.B. Probst Alu-Menziken Holding AG, Menziken Member of the Board of Directors

Thomas Schmidheiny Schweizerische Cement-Industrie-Gesellschaft, Glaris Chairman of the Board of Directors

Spectrum Value Management Ltd., Jona Chairman of the Board of Directors

Wolfgang Schürer Danzas Holding AG, Basel Member of the Board of Directors

(until 31.12.2003)

Dieter Spälti IHAG-Holding AG, Zurich Member of the Board of Directors

Rieter Holding AG, Winterthur Member of the Board of Directors

Andreas von Planta JP Morgan (Suisse) SA, Geneva Chairman of the Board of Directors

British American Tobacco Switzerland SA, Lausanne Chairman of the Board of Directors

(Chairman Audit Committee)

Schweizerische National-Versicherungs-Gesellschaft, Basel Deputy Chairman of the Board 

of Directors

(Member Audit Committee)

A.P. Møller Finance SA, Carouge Deputy Chairman of the Board 

of Directors

Peter G. Wodtke Planetary Fund plc, Gibraltar Chairman

C.A.T. Holding, Luxemburg Director

(Member Audit Committee)

Aquila International Fund, Tortola (British Virgin Islands) Director

Brain Resource Company, Sydney (Australia) Director

Planetary Investment Ltd., Gibraltar Director

Wingate Partners, Dallas (USA) Advisory Director
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Elections and terms of office of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is appointed for three year
terms. If a member is elected during an ongoing term
of office, the election is effective until the expiry of
such term. In general, re-election is possible until the
retirement age of 70 years is reached.

In 2002, the following expert committees were set up
for the first time:

Audit Committee
Peter Küpfer Chairman
Andreas von Planta Member
Peter Wodtke Member

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in
conducting its supervisory duties, in particular with
respect to internal control systems that are applied
within the Group, as well as evaluating the Group’s
external and internal audits, reviewing the risk man-
agement processes and evaluating financing issues.
All members are independent and have no material
vested interests which prevent them from exercising
the required degree of objectivity. In the year under
review, four regular meetings and one extraordinary
meeting of the Audit Committee were held. All mem-
bers of the Audit Committee were in attendance at
all meetings. Note was duly taken of the revisions 
to the International Financial Reporting Standards,
while a review of the external auditors as well as
Group Internal Audit were undertaken, together with
an annual evaluation of the Audit Committee. The de-
tails of the Audit Committee’s Charter may be viewed
at www.holcim.com/corporate_governance as of 
May 15, 2004, after the annual general meeting.

Nomination & Compensation Committee
Willy Kissling Chairman
Erich Hunziker Member
Thomas Schmidheiny Member
Rolf Soiron Member

The Nomination & Compensation Committee assists
the Board of Directors in performing its supervisory
duties. In particular, this includes matters relating to
succession planning within the Executive Committee,
Senior Management and the Board of Directors, as
well as financial compensation for the Board of Direc-
tors, Executive Committee and Senior Management. In
the year under review, the Committee held four regu-
lar meetings and one extraordinary meeting. All mem-
bers of the Nomination & Compensation Committee
were in attendance at all meetings. The Charter of the
Nomination & Compensation Committee may be
found at www.holcim.com/corporate_governance as
of May 15, 2004, after the annual general meeting.

Areas of responsibility
The division of responsibilities between the Board 
of Directors and the Executive Committee is set out
in detail in the company’s Regulations Governing 
Organization and Operations.

The Regulations Governing Organization and Opera-
tions were issued by the Board of Directors of Holcim
Ltd in accordance with the terms of Art. 716b of the
Swiss Code of Obligations and of Art. 19 of the com-
pany’s Articles of Incorporation. They stipulate the or-
ganizational structure of the Board of Directors and
Executive Committee, and also govern the tasks and
powers conferred on the company’s executive bodies.
They also regulate the convocation, execution and
number of meetings to be held by the Board of Direc-
tors and Executive Committee, in addition to the re-
quirements necessary for the passing of resolutions.

The Regulations Governing Organization and Opera-
tions set out the tasks and responsibilities of the
Chairman of the Board of Directors and of the CEO.
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In the event that the Chairman of the Board of Direc-
tors is not in a position to exercise independently, the
Regulations Governing Organization and Operations
provide for the election of an Independent Lead 
Director, such election being confirmed on a yearly
basis.

The Board of Directors also has the power to estab-
lish specialist committees and, if required, ad-hoc
committees for special tasks.

The Executive Committee is responsible for opera-
tional management, preparing the business of 
the Board of Directors and executing the latter’s 
resolutions, in addition to development and imple-
mentation of the corporate strategy.

Where there is a direct conflict of interest, the Regu-
lations require each member of the body concerned
to voluntarily stand aside prior to discussion of the
matter in question.

Members of the corporate bodies are also required 
to treat as confidential all information and documen-
tation which they may obtain or view in the context
of their activities on these bodies and not to make
such information available to third parties.

All individuals vested with the power to represent
the company shall in principle have dual signing 
authority.

These Regulations were entered into force on May 24,
2002, and shall be reviewed at least every two years
and amended as required.

Business risk management
Business risk management is a system deployed
across the Group which aims to systematically iden-
tify significant risks facing the company, evaluate
such risks and implement appropriate preventative
measures. Risk analysis focuses not only on identify-
ing potential threats but also on pinpointing possible

opportunities for exploration. Risk management is
seen in Group-wide terms, covers all types of risks
(strategic, operational, financial and external) and is
implemented by various specialist units within the
Group. Business risk management assists the Execu-
tive Committee and management teams of the
Group companies, primarily in terms of strategic 
decision-making. A newly installed central database
permits swift, secure access to the various risk data
held for the Group companies around the world. The
Executive Committee supplies the Board of Directors
with regular reports on the key findings of risk analy-
sis and provides information about the measures
taken.

Internal Audit
Internal Audit is an independent monitoring and ad-
visory body, which reports directly to the Chairman of
the Board of Directors. Internal Audit provides risk-
led analysis and evaluates the effectiveness and effi-
ciency of internal steering and control systems within
the business as a whole by:

examining the reliability and completeness of 
financial and operational information
examining the control systems related to compli-
ance with internal and external directives such 
as plans, processes, laws and ordinances
examining whether the Group’s assets are secured

The scope of review reaches beyond financial audit-
ing: through operational and compliance audits it
provides a valuable contribution to the success of the
business activities by identifying relevant risks along
the value chain, pinpointing potential areas for
adding value and devising opportunities for improve-
ment.
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Markus Akermann
Please refer to the section Board of Directors on page 56 for his bio-
graphical information.

Urs Bieri
Swiss national, born July 25, 1942. Urs Bieri studied business administra-
tion at the University of St. Gallen and is a graduate of INSEAD, France.
He began his professional career at Holcim in 1971, and in 1974 moved to
Wild Heerbrugg. From 1975 until 1978, he was Director of Finance and 
Administration at Wild Singapore. In 1978, he returned to Holcim to serve
as Assistant to the CEO and Chairman of the Board of Directors. In 1983,
he was appointed CEO of AG Hunziker, and since 1986, he has been a
member of the Executive Committee of Holcim Ltd. He is currently 
responsible for Southern ASEAN, East Asia and Pacific as well as South
and East Africa. On January 1, 2002, he was appointed Deputy CEO.

Hansueli Heé
Swiss national, born May 26, 1948. Hansueli Heé completed his graduate
and doctorate studies at the ETH, Zurich, and in 1987 acquired an MBA from
the IMD, Lausanne. From 1979 until 1986, he occupied various positions
within the Holcim Group, including Plant Manager and Head of Production
at Holcim Group companies in Brazil, Mexico and Venezuela. From 1994 
until 1998, he served as Director and Area Manager at Holcim Ltd. Hansueli
Heé played a key role in expanding Holcim’s position in Central and Eastern
Europe. He has been a member of the Executive Committee since 1998 and
is currently responsible for Europe (excluding Iberian Peninsula).

Paul Hugentobler
Swiss national, born February 14, 1949. Paul Hugentobler has a degree in
civil engineering from the ETH, Zurich, and a degree in economic science
from the University of St. Gallen. He joined what is now Holcim Group
Support Ltd in 1980 as Project Manager, and in 1994 was appointed Area
Manager for Holcim Ltd. From 1999 until 2000, he also served as CEO 
of Siam City Cement, headquartered in Bangkok, Thailand. He has been 
a member of the Executive Committee since January 2002, with the 
responsibility for South Asia and Northern ASEAN.

Senior management
Senior management of Holcim Ltd
comprises the CEO, the members
of the Executive Committee and
the Area Managers. The tasks of
senior management are divided
into different areas of responsibil-
ity in terms of country, division
and function, each of these areas
being managed by a member of
the Executive Committee. Within
the scope of their field of respon-
sibility, the members of the Execu-
tive Committee may be assisted
by Area Managers.

Executive Committee
During the year under review, the
Executive Committee of Holcim
Ltd comprised seven members.
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Thomas Knöpfel
Swiss national, born February 10, 1951. Thomas Knöpfel obtained a doctorate in law from the
University of Zurich in 1982. He also holds a Master of Law degree in US business and finan-
cial law and is a licensed attorney. In 1980, he joined the former Union Bank of Switzerland,
before beginning his career with Holcim in 1988. After a period as member of the senior
management of Holcim (España), S.A., and, from 1995, as CEO of Holcim (Colombia) S.A.,
he was in 1999 appointed Area Manager with responsibility for various Group companies 
in Latin America. Since January 1, 2003, he has been a member of the Executive Committee,
with responsibility for Group region Latin America (excluding Mexico).

Benoît-H. Koch
National of France and Brazil, born March 24, 1953. Benoît-H. Koch completed his education
as an engineer at the ETH in Zurich. He joined Holcim in 1977, occupying various positions at
Group companies in Belgium, Brazil, France and Switzerland until 1992. He has been a mem-
ber of the Executive Committee since 1992 and is currently responsible for North America,
the Iberian Peninsula, the Mediterranean and International Trade.

Theophil H. Schlatter
Swiss national, born January 7, 1951. Theophil Schlatter studied business economics at the
University of St. Gallen and is a certified accountant. He began his career as a certified pub-
lic accountant at STG Coopers & Lybrand. After six years, he moved to Holcim Group Support
Ltd, where he was active for a further six years in Corporate Controlling. From 1991 until
1995, he was Head of Finance and a member of the Executive Committee of Sihl Papier AG.
He then served as CFO and a member of the Management Committee of Holcim Switzer-
land for two years. He has been CFO and a member of the Executive Committee of Holcim
Ltd since 1997.
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Martin F. Altorfer
National of Switzerland and Brazil, born May 8, 1940. Martin Altorfer
gained a doctorate in law from the University of Zurich, and has been
with the Holcim Group since 1969. In Latin America, his various roles
have included Marketing and Sales Manager in Brazil, CEO in Chile, Direc-
tor and Area Manager for the companies in Ecuador, Peru, Chile, Brazil
and Argentina (1993–1996) and CEO of the Brazilian Group company
(1996–2002). From January 2002 until his retirement, on October 1, 2003,
he was Area Manager for Brazil, Chile and Argentina.

Urs Böhlen
Swiss national, born June 7, 1950. Urs Böhlen studied business adminis-
tration at the University of Berne, graduating in 1977, and complemented
his education at the Stanford Business School in 1991. From 1977 to 1979,
he served as Project Manager in the accounts division at Union Bank 
of Switzerland. From 1980 until 1985, he was Head of Controlling at
Autophon AG. He joined Holcim in 1985; after holding various positions,
he was entrusted with overall management of the former Cementfabrik
Rekingen in 1989. From 1992 until 1998, he served as CEO of Holcim
Switzerland. He has been Area Manager for Italy, Eastern and South-
eastern Europe since 1998.

Javier de Benito 
Spanish national, born June 24, 1958. Javier de Benito studied economic
science at the Autonomous University of Madrid and undertook further
studies at the Harvard Business School. After a number of years of pro-
fessional experience in the finance department of an international steel
trading company and as a specialist for finance projects with a Spanish
export promotion company, he joined Holcim Trading in 1988. Along with
responsibility for controlling at the subsidiary companies and for busi-
ness development, he took on the position of Deputy General Manager
in 1992, with responsibility for the trading division. On April 1, 2003, he
was appointed Area Manager for the Mediterranean and Indian Ocean.

Area management
The individual members of the 
Executive Committee are assisted
by Area Managers.
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Jerry C.R. Maycock
British, Australian and New Zealand national, born January 9, 1952. Jerry Maycock studied
mechanical engineering at the University of Liverpool and graduated as a Bachelor of Engi-
neering in 1973. He began his career with Shell Research Limited. In 1981, he established a
subsidiary company for a private electronics firm in the USA. He joined the Holcim Group in
1983. He first went to New Zealand, where he was appointed CEO and Managing Director of
what is now Holcim New Zealand in 1988. In 1992, he moved within the Group to Queens-
land Cement Ltd in Australia, where he has been Chairman of the Board since 1998. In 1998,
he was appointed Holcim Ltd Area Manager for Southern ASEAN and Australasia. To pursue 
another challenge in Australia, Jerry Maycock will leave Holcim at the end of March 2004.

Bernard Terver
French national, born April 2, 1952. Bernard Terver concluded his studies at the École 
Polytechnique in Paris in 1973. After beginning his career in the steel industry, he moved in
1977 to French cement manufacturer CEDEST, which was later merged with Holcim (France
Benelux) S.A. In May 1999, Bernard Terver was appointed CEO of Holcim (Colombia) S.A., and
since 2000, he has also been CEO of Holcim (Venezuela) C.A. following the creation of a
business cluster. On January 1, 2003, he was appointed Area Manager for the Andes nations,
Central America and the Caribbean, taking over from Thomas Knöpfel.
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Compensation, shareholdings and loans
The financial compensation for the Board of Directors
and senior management of Holcim Ltd is being pub-
lished in this section. The information given relates
not only to the corresponding member of the govern-
ing body but also to closely related parties.

Method of determining compensation 
and shareholding programs
The members of the Board of Directors receive a fixed
fee. Those who are also members of the Audit Com-
mittee or Nomination & Compensation Committee
are paid an additional compensation. All members of 
the Board of Directors in addition receive an annual
bonus in the form of shares. The Chairman of the
Board of Directors is paid an additional fee.

Senior management of the Group includes the Execu-
tive Committee as well as the four Area Managers.
The annual financial compensation of the senior
management comprises – depending on the individ-
ual’s position – a basic salary, a Group bonus and 
an individual bonus, and is determined annually by
the Nomination & Compensation Committee.

The Group bonus depends on the financial results
achieved by the Group and is paid in the form of regis-
tered shares of the company, each with a par value 
of CHF 2 (subject to a five-year restriction period), and
a cash element of around 30 percent. The necessary
shares are valued at the current market price and pur-
chased by the company on the stock market.

The individual bonus depends on the individual per-
formance and is paid in the form of options on regis-
tered shares of the company and a cash element of
around 30 percent. The exercise price corresponds with
the stock market price at the grant date. The options
are restricted for a period of three years following the
grant date, and have a maturity period of eight years.
The options are valued in accordance with the Black
Scholes model. The underlying shares are bought by
the company on the stock market on the grant date.

Upon appointment, members of the Executive Com-
mittee are granted a single allocation of options on
registered shares of the company by the Nomination
& Compensation Committee. A requirement is that
the members have been with the Group for five years.
The options are restricted for nine years and have a
maturity period of twelve years. The exercise price
corresponds to the stock market price at the grant
date, with the exception of the allocation of January
2, 2003, where the stock market price of the previous
year has been applied. The company acquires the un-
derlying shares on the stock market on the grant
date.

Neither shares nor options may be sold or lent until
the end of the restriction period.

Compensation for the Board of Directors
In financial year 2003, the non-executive members of
the Board of Directors of Holcim Ltd received an over-
all compensation amounting to CHF 1.6 million. In ad-
dition, they received registered shares of Holcim Ltd
amounting to a total of CHF 0.4 million as compensa-
tion for 2003.

With effect from December 31, 2002, Peter Kurer
stepped down as member of the Board of Directors of
Holcim Ltd. Until that date, he was paid his normal
fees and compensation. No severance compensation
was paid.

Compensation for the member of the Board of Direc-
tors who received the highest compensation of all
members of the Board of Directors amounted to 
CHF 1,937,500.– in cash. As profit sharing, he was also
granted an additional 11,285 shares with a value of
CHF 533,000.– and 35,845 share options with a value
of CHF 332,200.–. The shares were valued at the aver-
age share price in January/February 2003 and the
value of the options was determined using the Black
Scholes model at the grant date.
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Compensation for senior management
Senior management and the executive member of
the Board of Directors received a compensation of
CHF 12.6 million in 2003. This amount includes the
basic salary, any additional fees and remunerations,
as well as a cash element related to Group and indi-
vidual bonuses. In accordance with the SWX directive,
this amount does not include the value of the 48,130
registered shares of Holcim Ltd that were granted as
Group bonuses or the share options granted as indi-
vidual bonuses. During 2003, Jean Guillot and Martin
Altorfer have stepped down due to reaching retire-
ment age. No severance compensation was paid.

Compensation for former members of governing 
bodies 
No compensation was paid to former members of 
the Board of Directors and senior management.

Shares and options owned by the Board of Directors
At the end of 2003, non-executive members of the
Board of Directors held a total of 47,461,044 regis-

tered shares in Holcim Ltd. These numbers comprised
privately acquired shares and those allocated under
profit-sharing and compensation schemes. Non-
executive members of the Board of Directors did not
receive any options from compensation and profit-
sharing schemes.

Shares and options owned by senior management
As at December 31, 2003, the executive member of
the Board of Directors and members of senior man-
agement held a total of 180,309 registered shares 
in Holcim Ltd. This figure includes both privately ac-
quired shares and those allocated under the Group’s
profit-sharing and compensation schemes.

Furthermore, at the end of 2003, senior management
held 436,580 share options as listed below; these arise
as a result of the compensation and profit-sharing
schemes of various years. Options are issued solely 
on registered shares of Holcim Ltd. The following
overview provides information about the grant date,
expiry date, ratio and exercise price of these options.

Number1 2003 2002

January 1 310,410 74,250

Granted (individual bonus) 92,620 34,860

Granted (single allocation) 33,550 201,300

Exercised 0 0

Lapsed 0 0

December 31 436,580 310,410

Grant date Expiry date Ratio Exercise price1 Number1

2000 2008 1:1 CHF 71.27 34,650

2001 2009 1:1 CHF 68.63 39,600

2002 2010 1:1 CHF 77.30 34,860

2002 2014 1:1 CHF 71.80 201,300

2003 2011 1:1 CHF 38.50 92,620

2003 2015 1:1 CHF 71.802 33,550

Total 436,580

1 Adjusted to reflect the 5-for-1 share split in 2001 and the 5-for-1 conversion of bearer shares into registered shares on June 10, 2003.
2 Valued similar to the single allocation 2002.

1 Adjusted for 5-for-1 conversion of bearer shares into registered shares on June 10, 2003.



Statutory quorums
The annual general meeting of shareholders normally
constitutes a quorum, without taking account of the
number of shares represented or shareholders pres-
ent. In order to pass resolutions, an overall majority 
of the votes represented is required, subject to the
provisions of Art. 704, section 1, of the Swiss Code 
of Obligations. In such cases, resolutions may only 
be passed with a two-thirds majority of the votes 
represented.

Convocation of the general meeting
and agenda rules
The ordinary general meeting of shareholders takes
place each year, at the latest six months following
the conclusion of the financial year. It is convened by
the Board of Directors, whereby invitations are pub-
lished at least twenty days prior to the meeting and
in which details are given of the agenda and items
submitted. Shareholders representing shares with a
par value of at least one million Swiss francs may re-
quest the addition of a particular item for discussion.
A corresponding application must be submitted in
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Additional fees and remunerations
No additional fees were paid to members of the
Board of Directors in financial year 2003.

Loans granted by governing bodies
As at December 31, 2003, there were loans outstand-
ing, which were granted to four members of senior
management. The table shows the outstanding
amount as well as the respective terms of the loans.

Shareholders’ participation
The information below comprises excerpts from the
Articles of Incorporation of Holcim Ltd. The full ver-
sion of the Articles of Incorporation can be retrieved
at www.holcim.com/corporate_governance.

Voting rights and representation restrictions
All holders of registered shares who are entered as
shareholders with voting rights in the share register
on the nineteenth day prior to the annual general
meeting are entitled to participate in, and vote at,
general meetings. Shares held by trusts and shares
for which no declaration has been made in the con-
text of the regulations of the Board of Directors gov-
erning the entry of shareholders in the share register
of Holcim Ltd are entered in the share register as hav-
ing no voting rights. Shareholders not participating in
person in the annual general meeting may be repre-
sented by another shareholder, by the bank, by the
company as representative of the governing body or
by the independent voting rights representative. Vot-
ing rights are not subject to any restrictions. Each
share carries one vote.

1 Based on the interest rate for first mortgages.

Original currency Loan amount in CHF Interest rate Maturity date Collateral

CHF 1,450,000 3.5% 31.01.2005 none

CHF 241,000 variable1 31.12.2016 yes

CHF 96,000 variable1 31.12.2009 yes

CHF 170,000 variable1 31.12.2012 yes

EUR 124,000 variable1 open none

CHF 690,000 variable1 open yes



writing to the Board of Directors at least forty days
prior to the annual general meeting. Such application
should indicate the items to be submitted.

Entries in the share register
The company maintains a share register for regis-
tered shares in which the names and addresses of
owners and beneficiaries are entered. Only those in-
cluded in the share register are deemed shareholders
or beneficial owners of the registered shares.

Upon request, purchasers of registered shares shall be
included in the share register as shareholders with
voting rights if they expressly declare that they have
acquired the shares in their own name and for their
own account. The Board of Directors shall enter in the
share register as having voting rights those persons
who have not expressly declared in their application
for registration that the shares are held for their own
account (nominees). However this only applies if the
nominee has reached an agreement with the company
regarding this position and is subject to a recognized
banking or financial markets supervisory authority.

The share register is closed two weeks prior to the
date of the annual general meeting. Shareholders’
participation and rights of protection are further-
more governed by the Swiss Code of Obligations.

Changes of control and defense measures
At the last annual general meeting, the existing 
Art. 30 of the Articles of Incorporation was with-
drawn, thereby reinstating the duty to make a public
offer under the terms of articles 32 and 52 of the
Swiss Stock Exchange Act (“opting out”). The result is
that a shareholder who directly, indirectly or in con-
cert with third parties acquires shares in the com-
pany and, together with the shares he already pos-
sesses, thereby exceeds the 33 1/3 percent threshold 
of voting rights in the company must make an offer
for all listed shares of the company.

There are no clauses relating to changes of control.

Auditors
As part of their auditing activity, the statutory and
Group auditors inform the Audit Committee and the
Executive Committee regularly about their findings
and about proposals for improvement. The Audit
Committee assesses the external auditors and moni-
tors the results of the audit. In 2003, the auditors
participated in four meetings of the Audit Committee
to discuss individual agenda items.

Ernst & Young Ltd., Zurich, were appointed in 2002 as
statutory and Group auditors to Holcim Ltd. Ernst &
Young partners Manuel Aeby and Christian Schibler
are the lead auditors for this mandate. The statutory
and Group auditors are in each case elected for a one-
year term by the annual general meeting.

In 2003, Ernst & Young charged fees in the amount
of CHF 6.3 million in respect of their audit services.
This amount includes the fees for the individual 
audits of Group companies carried out by Ernst &
Young as well as their fees for auditing the Group 
financial statements. The total of the fees charged by
Ernst & Young for services other than audit activities
amounted to CHF 0.7 million.

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Go

ve
rn

an
ce

69



Current information relating to sustainable develop-
ment is available at www.holcim.com/sustainable.

As a listed company, Holcim Ltd is committed to dis-
close facts that may materially affect the share price
(ad-hoc disclosure, Art. 72 of the listing rules). The 
listing rules of SWX Swiss Exchange may be retrieved
at www.swx.com.

Should you have any specific queries regarding 
Holcim, please contact:

Corporate Communications, Roland Walker
Phone +41 58 858 87 10, Fax +41 58 858 87 19
communications@holcim.com

Investor Relations, Bernhard A. Fuchs
Phone +41 58 858 87 87, Fax +41 58 858 87 19
investor.relations@holcim.com

Information policy
Holcim Ltd reports to shareholders, the capital mar-
ket, employees and the public in an open, transparent
and timely manner concerning its corporate perform-
ance and progress regarding sustainability targets.
Equal treatment of all stakeholders is the guiding
principle behind our partnership-based approach.
We nurture an open dialogue with our stakeholders,
based on mutual respect and trust. This enables us to
promote an understanding of our objectives, strategy
and business activities, and ensure a high degree of
awareness about our company.

The most important information tools are the annual
and quarterly reports, the website (www.holcim.com),
media releases, press conferences on the annual re-
sults and third quarter, meetings for financial analysts
and investors as well as the annual general meeting.

Holcim Ltd published its first sustainability report in
November 2002. This report examines the economic,
environmental and social aspects of the Group. At
the same time, specific objectives are set for the areas 
of risk management, climate change, use of waste
materials, air-borne emissions, occupational health &
safety and social responsibilities. The title of the re-
port, “Providing foundations for society’s future”, em-
phasizes that we consider environmentally sensitive
operations and a commitment to social responsibility
as key elements in our strategy for long-term growth.
The next sustainability report will be issued in June
2004.
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Financial Reporting Calendar

Press and analyst conference on annual results for 2003 March 9, 2004

Results for the first quarter 2004 May 13, 2004

General meeting of shareholders May 14, 2004

Dividend payment May 18, 2004

Half-year results for 2004 August 27, 2004

Press and analyst conference for the third quarter 2004 November 3, 2004

Press and analyst conference on annual results for 2004 March 2, 2005
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The following discussion and analysis of the Group’s financial
condition and results of operations should be read in conjunc-
tion with the shareholders’ letter, individual reports for the
Group regions and the annual financial statements including
the notes to the annual financial statements.

Financial developments during financial year 2003

Solid growth in sales volumes
In our key segment of cement and clinker, sales volumes once
again increased in financial year 2003 (+4.2%), with all Group
regions contributing to this growth. However, this increase
was also influenced by the full consolidation of Union Cement
Corporation in the Philippines as from October 1, 2002, as well
as the acquisition of Cementos Hispania S.A. effective January
1, 2003. Aggregates and ready-mix concrete business also
reported higher sales volumes.

Sales trend influenced by a weak US dollar
In local currency terms, sales increased by 2.4%. However, in
Swiss franc terms the financial performance was influenced
by the sharp depreciation of the US dollar. Sales for financial
year 2003 totaled CHF 12,600 million or 3.2% below the prior-
year amount.

Strong operating results and further improvement in margins
Despite the difficult economic situation there was a further
advance in operating profit; excluding the effect of exchange
rates, the operating result increased by 9.7%. Measures to
lower costs in both production and administration yielded
results, and Holcim succeeded in achieving a further widening
of its operating margins. The operating EBITDA margin
increased from 25.7% to 26.3%, and remains on track towards
meeting the target of 30%.

Significant rise in consolidated net income
Consolidated net income grew by CHF 180 million, correspond-
ing to an increase of 35.6%. In local currency terms, this rise
amounted to 45.7%. This positive development was accom-
plished through improvements in efficiency, higher other
income, lower financial expenses, as well as a lower share of
minority interests in consolidated net income.

Substantial increase in cash flow from operating activities
Lower financing costs and successful management of net
working capital resulted in a 9.7% increase in cash flow
despite the negative currency effects.

Continued significant improvement of our financial ratios
The financial ratios used to assess Holcim’s credit rating 
displayed further improvement; this includes the figures 
relating to the interest coverage, as well as the ratio between
funds from operations to net financial debt. All ratios are 
well within the target range.

Greater presence, and focus on our core business
The Group strengthened its market presence during financial
year 2003 through acquisitions in Spain (Cementos Hispania) 
and in the Eastern Mediterranean region (grinding plant in
Northern Cyprus) as well as through restructuring efforts in
Australia (Cement Australia). Holcim also raised its minority
shareholding in Alpha Cement to 68.8% through the purchase
of additional share packages; therefore this significant
Russian cement producer was fully consolidated effective
December 31, 2003. Alpha Cement controls two strategically
well positioned cement operations with production sites in
Shurovo and Volsk. It offers a combined annual capacity of 
4.3 million tonnes of cement.

As part of the Group’s focus on strategically relevant invest-
ments, Holcim disposed of Eternit AG (Switzerland) during 
the fourth quarter of 2003. Furthermore, the shareholding in
Cimpor was reduced by 4.5% to 0.6%.

Holcim has further improved the efficiency 
of its operations and increased its cash flow.
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1 Net income before minority interests and depreciation and amortization.
2 Net financial debt divided by shareholders’ equity including interests of minority shareholders.
3 Adjusted for 5-for-1 conversion of bearer shares into registered shares on June 10, 2003.
4 Excludes the amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets.
5 Proposed by the Board of Directors.
6 Income statement figures translated at average rate; balance sheet figures at year-end rate.

Key Figures Holcim Group 
2003 2002 ±% ±% local

currency
Annual production capacity cement million t 145.2 141.9 +2.3
Sales of cement and clinker million t 94.3 90.5 +4.2
Sales of aggregates million t 95.9 92.1 +4.1
Sales of ready-mix concrete million m3 27.0 25.3 +6.7
Net sales million CHF 12,600 13,010 –3.2 +2.4
Operating EBITDA million CHF 3,311 3,341 –0.9 +6.8
Operating EBITDA margin % 26.3 25.7
EBITDA million CHF 3,383 3,399 –0.5 +6.6
Operating profit million CHF 1,925 1,903 +1.2 +9.7
Operating profit margin % 15.3 14.6
Net income before minority interests million CHF 932 797 +16.9 +26.6
Net income after minority interests million CHF 686 506 +35.6 +45.7
Net income margin % 5.4 3.9
Cash flow from operating activities million CHF 2,619 2,388 +9.7 +17.4
Cash flow margin % 20.8 18.4
Net financial debt million CHF 8,299 8,857 –6.3 –4.9
Funds from operations1 / net financial debt % 28.6 26.4
Shareholders’ equity including interests

of minority shareholders million CHF 9,499 9,435 +0.7 +7.1
Gearing2 % 87.4 93.9
Personnel 48,220 51,115 –5.7
Earnings per dividend-bearing share3 CHF 3.51 2.59 +35.5 +45.9
Fully diluted earnings per share3 CHF 3.49 2.59 +34.7 +44.8
Cash earnings per dividend-bearing share3 4 CHF 4.96 4.14 +19.8 +28.0
Gross dividend per share3 CHF 1.155 1.00 +15.0

Principal key figures in USD (illustrative)6

Net sales million USD 9,403 8,394 +12.0
Operating EBITDA million USD 2,471 2,155 +14.7
Operating profit million USD 1,437 1,228 +17.0
Net income after minority interests million USD 512 326 +57.1
Cash flow from operating activities million USD 1,954 1,541 +26.8
Net financial debt million USD 6,693 6,372 +5.0
Shareholders’ equity million USD 7,660 6,788 +12.8
Earnings per dividend-bearing share USD 2.62 1.67 +56.9

Principal key figures in EUR (illustrative)6

Net sales million EUR 8,289 8,850 –6.3
Operating EBITDA million EUR 2,178 2,273 –4.2
Operating profit million EUR 1,266 1,295 –2.2
Net income after minority interests million EUR 451 344 +31.1
Cash flow from operating activities million EUR 1,723 1,624 +6.1
Net financial debt million EUR 5,320 6,108 –12.9
Shareholders’ equity million EUR 6,089 6,507 –6.4
Earnings per dividend-bearing share EUR 2.31 1.76 +31.3
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Financial strategy

Holcim ranks as one of the world’s leading cement producers.
The Group’s growth is achieved through value-driven corpo-
rate management and a consistent focus on the core business
of cement, aggregates and concrete. These two key pillars of
the strategy ensure that Holcim is well positioned, even in
times of economically unfavorable situations. Broad geograph-
ical diversification enables the Group to balance the cyclical
fluctuations in sales volumes that arise in the construction 

sector of individual markets. As a result of the expansion of
the worldwide presence, Holcim has transformed itself from a
group of individual companies to a global enterprise with 
local management yet worldwide standards. This is the route
to further efficiency enhancements.
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Net Sales per Group Region

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Europe1 North America1

Latin America Africa Middle East
Asia Pacific1

24.2% 27.2% 27.2% 24.7% 22.2%

23.9% 22.9% 22.4% 20.9% 19.5%

36.7% 33.3% 32.3% 32.8% 34.6%

8.7% 8.6%

8.4% 9.4% 13.0% 13.7%6.9%
8.3% 8.2%

10.0%

Geographical diversification

Holcim’s geographical presence was further strengthened in
financial year 2003. The Group regions of Africa Middle East
and Asia Pacific raised their share of total net sales by 1.4 and
0.7 percentage points, respectively, contributing to an even
more balanced Group portfolio. At 34.6%, Europe remains the
most important Group region in terms of sales. A further
increase of 1.8 percentage points is attributable to greater
construction activity in Eastern Europe, alongside strong
demand for building materials in Spain and Italy. There was a
corresponding decline in the other regions’ share of net sales.
In North America, Holcim generated 19.5% (2002: 20.9%) of
total Group sales and in Latin America 22.2% (2002: 24.7%).
The decline in the share of sales for these two Group regions
should be viewed in the context of foreign currency move-
ments. In local currency terms, net sales in both regions com-
bined grew by 0.7%.

The focus on growth markets is reflected in revenues from
emerging markets, with a further increase of their share of
total net sales to 47.7%.

Regional diversification was also improved in terms of operat-
ing results. The share of Group regions Africa Middle East and
Asia Pacific grew to 14.3% (+2.2 percentage points) and to 9.9%
(+1.7 percentage points), respectively, compared to the prior
year. On the other hand, Europe’s contribution declined by 
1.3 percentage points to 24.0%. North America and Latin 
America’s share also decreased by 1.4 and 1.2 percentage
points to 13.6% and 38.2%, respectively.

1 Beginning 2002 the figures of service companies have been regrouped 
from geographical regions to Corporate.
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Financial ratios 2003 2002 Holcim target

Funds from operations1 / net financial debt 28.6% 26.4% > 25%

Gearing 87.4% 93.9% 80–100%

EBITDA net interest coverage 6.8× 5.9× > 5×

EBIT net interest coverage 3.9× 3.2× > 3×
1 Net income before minority interests and depreciation and amortization.

Focusing on the core business
The focus on the core business, together with strategically rel-
evant investments, has resulted in a continuously lower share
of net sales of the segment other products/services over the
past five years and compared to prior year, there was a decline
from 6.1% to 5.0%. This is a result of the disposal of Eternit AG
on November 10, 2003 and Baubedarf group on October 1,
2002. In this context the share of the core business cement
and clinker increased from 63.4% to 69.6% over the past five
years. After a decrease by 0.4 percentage points in the prior
year, the share of the aggregates and concrete business grew
1.3 percentage points to 25.4% in financial year 2003. This is
primarily due to strong revenue growth in aggregates, the key
factors being positive price and volume effects in Europe.

Holcim constantly reviews the strategic relevance of its 
non-consolidated investments and optimizes its portfolio
whenever necessary. In this context, Holcim sold its minority
interest in the German cement producer Dyckerhoff AG,
and further reduced its shareholding in Portugal’s Cimpor 
by 4.5%.

Committed to a strong rating
Holcim’s current credit rating – as awarded by Standard &
Poor’s – stands at “BBB+”, with “Outlook Stable” in terms of the
long-term rating and “A-2” for the short-term rating. The Group
has succeeded in maintaining the best credit rating of the
industry. For Holcim, a strong rating remains a key objective.
Holcim endeavors to ensure the Group does not fall short of
its financial targets, and to achieve steady improvement.
The table below illustrates the further progress that Holcim
has made.
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2003 2002 ±% ±% in local 

currency

Million CHF

Net sales 12,600 13,010 –3.2 +2.4

Operating profit 1,925 1,903 +1.2 +9.7

Net income after minority interests 686 506 +35.6 +45.7

Cash flow from operating activities 2,619 2,388 +9.7 +17.4

Value-driven corporate management
Holcim’s performance management is based on the creation
of value. This encompasses equity and option schemes for
executives, as well as employee stock participation programs.
A key element is the newly introduced Performance Compen-
sation Concept. From 2004, all executives across the Group are
assessed and compensated using a standardized procedure to
reflect their achievement of financial and non-financial objec-
tives. Financial goals are partly based on the principle of value
added, which compares the profit generated before interest
charges with the cost of invested capital. The use of this 
target value enables Holcim not only to evaluate profitability
from the point of view of its own business activity but also 
to consider the expectations of shareholders.

Key factors influencing the 2003 financial statements

Effect of currencies and inflation on operations
The Group operates in more than 70 countries, generating a
predominant part of its results in currencies other than the
Swiss franc. Only about 5% of Group sales are generated in
Swiss francs. Statements of income and cash flow statements
in foreign currencies are translated at the average exchange
rate for the year, whereas balance sheets are translated at
year-end exchange rates.

In order to reduce the effects of inflation and currency devalu-
ation, Group companies in a number of developing countries
and emerging markets use one of the world’s major curren-
cies, usually the US dollar, for reporting purposes.

The US dollar once again experienced a considerable deprecia-
tion. Its average value declined by 13.5% (2002: –8.3%) from
CHF 1.55 per US dollar to CHF 1.34. The average value of the
euro, on the other hand, rose 3.4% (2002: –2.6%). An overview
of the changes of the most important Group currencies can be
found in the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”
on page 101.

An analysis of the results that were achieved therefore calls
for a differentiated approach that excludes the effects of the
substantial foreign currency movements. The following com-
ments illustrate the impact of these currency fluctuations on
the key items of the consolidated statement of income and 
on cash flow from operating activities.

Whereas the negative effect of exchange rates on net sales
amounts to CHF 727 million, operating profit is reduced 
by CHF 162 million and cash flow from operating activities 
by CHF 183 million.

The development of the individual items in local currencies
reflects a positive performance for financial year 2003. The
strong increase in operating profit and cash flow in local cur-
rencies is the result of the programs that Holcim has system-
atically pursued over the last two financial years with the 
aim of improving efficiency.
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Sensitivity analysis in relation to currency risks
As shown above, movements in the US dollar versus the Swiss
franc have significant implications on the consolidated finan-
cial statements. The following sensitivity analysis examines 
the impact of a weaker US dollar on key items of the consoli-
dated statement of income and cash flow from operating
activities.

A hypothetical decline of the US dollar in relation to the Swiss
franc of one centime has a negative effect on net sales and
operating profit of CHF 35 million and CHF 7 million, respec-
tively. Net income and cash flow from operating activities are
reduced by CHF 2 million and CHF 10 million, respectively.

USD/CHF USD/CHF ± in

at 1.34 at 1.33 million CHF

Million CHF

Net sales 12,600 12,565 –35

Operating profit 1,925 1,918 –7

Net income after minority interests 686 684 –2

Cash flow from operating activities 2,619 2,609 –10

2003 2002 ±% ±% in local

currency

Million CHF

Shareholders’ equity including minority interests 9,499 9,435 +0.7 +7.1

Net financial debt 8,299 8,857 –6.3 –4.9

Gearing 87.4% 93.9%

As far as shareholders’ equity and net financial debt are con-
cerned, the negative impact of exchange rate fluctuations are
less distinctive. As at the balance sheet date, the US dollar
declined by 10.8%, while the euro increased 7.6%. The negative

currency movements resulted in a CHF 313 million reduction of
shareholders’ equity, lower minority interests of CHF 293 mil-
lion and a decrease in net financial debt of CHF 128 million.

Changes in the scope of consolidation
Holcim undertook a selective expansion of its position in vari-
ous markets, while continuing to focus on its core business.
The Group is also pursuing the concept of cross-border clus-
ters, thereby strengthening its integration within regional
markets.

A significant change in the scope of consolidation resulted
from the acquisition of nearly 100% of Cementos Hispania S.A.
The purchase of the Yeles cement plant near Madrid, with its
annual capacity of 0.8 million tonnes, gave a critical boost to
Holcim’s position in Spain’s most dynamic main market, and
represented the perfect complement to the existing aggre-
gates and concrete business. The company has been fully 
consolidated effective January 1, 2003. This entity generated
with its product lines sales of EUR 61 million, with a staff of
148 people.

Union Cement Corporation in the Philippines has been fully
consolidated effective October 1, 2002, when its sister compa-
ny Alsons Cement Corporation was acquired through a share
exchange deal. Prior to that date, Union Cement had been pro-
portionately consolidated. Additionally, Novi Popovac in Serbia
was included in the consolidated accounts for a full year.

On June 1, 2003, Holcim entered into a strategic partnership in
Australia. The newly founded Cement Australia Pty Ltd. is the
result of a merger between Australian Cement Holdings Ltd,
which did not form part of the Group, and the domestic
cement plants and operations of Holcim-owned Queensland
Cement Ltd. The new national market leader in Australia is
50% owned by Holcim, while Hanson (UK-based ready-mix
concrete and aggregates producer) and Rinker (US-Australian
building materials group) each hold a 25% stake. The new 
corporate entity – with its total annual capacity of 3.6 million
tonnes of cement – has been proportionately consolidated
since that date.
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Holcim’s core business was further strengthened with the dis-
posal of Eternit AG (Switzerland), in fall 2003. This company –
with its plants in Niederurnen and Payerne, together with all
rights and obligations – was deconsolidated effective Novem-
ber 10, 2003, and no longer forms part of the Group. In addi-
tion, the Baubedarf group was sold effective October 1, 2002,
and eliminated from the scope of consolidation.

During financial year 2003, a buyout of minorities in Union 
Cement Corporation in the Philippines and Minetti in Argentina
further expanded Holcim’s interests in these companies.

Moscow-headquartered Alpha Cement J.S.C., which was 
included in the consolidated financial statements for the first
time effective December 31, 2003, does not yet have any impact
on the consolidated statement of income. This entity has been
fully consolidated after the acquisition of additional share
packages, which resulted in an ownership rate of 68.8%.

The following table shows the effects of changes in the scope
of consolidation on net sales, operating profit and cash flow
from operating activities.

2003 2002 ± ± due to

changes in

the scope of

consolidation

Million CHF

Net sales 12,600 13,010 –410 +47

Operating profit 1,925 1,903 +22 +33

Cash flow from operating activities 2,619 2,388 +231 +22
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Cement capacity
In financial year 2003 cement capacity increased by a total 
of 3.3 million tonnes (+2.3%). The first-time consolidation 
of the Russian company Alpha Cement resulted in an increase 
of 4.3 million tonnes. The first-time consolidation in Spain 
(+0.8 million tonnes), as well as the commissioning of the new
Holly Hill plant in South Carolina (US) in June 2003 (+0.6 mil-
lion tonnes net) contributed to a higher capacity. On the other
hand, the closure of cement and grinding plants, in particular
at Hardegsen (Germany) and Thayngen (Switzerland), along-
side the replacement of less efficient production lines with 
a modern kiln for clinker production in Romania, reduced
cement capacity.

Sales volumes
The sales volumes of the two segments cement /clinker and
aggregates /concrete increased during the current financial
year. Cement sales increased by 3.8 million tonnes mainly
because of newly consolidated companies. Sales of aggregates
were 3.8 million tonnes higher, while deliveries of ready-mix
concrete went up by 1.7 million m3.

Net sales 
Much of the CHF 410 million decline in net sales is attribut-
able to negative currency effects, particularly related to the US
dollar. In local currencies, there was a 2.4% growth in net sales,
of which 2.1% stemmed from organic growth. This was mainly
achieved due to higher sales in Group regions Africa Middle
East (+11.5%) and Asia Pacific (+9.9%) – in spite of the difficult
economic situation. Europe also achieved a positive growth
(+1.4%), primarily due to a higher level of construction activity
in Spain as well as in Eastern Europe.

Broken down by product segment, net sales in local currency
of the cement /clinker and aggregates/concrete segments
increased by 3.7% and 3.1%, respectively. The segment other
products /services recorded a 18.7% decline in net sales in local
currency. The share of this segment now accounts for only 5%
of overall net sales.

Statement of Income of Group Holcim

2003 in % of 2002 in % of ±%

net sales net sales

Million CHF

Net sales 12,600 100.0 13,010 100.0 –3.2

Production cost of goods sold (6,564) 52.1 (6,767) 52.0 +3.0

Gross profit 6,036 47.9 6,243 48.0 –3.3

Distribution and selling expenses (2,793) 22.2 (2,837) 21.8 +1.6

Administration expenses (1,016) 8.1 (1,213) 9.3 +16.2

Other depreciation and amortization (302) 2.4 (290) 2.2 –4.1

Operating profit 1,925 15.3 1,903 14.6 +1.2

Other income (expenses) 12 0.1 (49) 0.4 +124.5

EBIT 1,937 15.4 1,854 14.3 +4.5

Financial expenses net (495) 3.9 (564) 4.3 +12.2

Net income before taxes 1,442 11.4 1,290 9.9 +11.8

Income taxes (510) 4.0 (493) 3.8 –3.4

Net income before minority interests 932 7.4 797 6.1 +16.9

Minority interests (246) 2.0 (291) 2.2 +15.5

Net income after minority interests 686 5.4 506 3.9 +35.6

Consolidated statement of income
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Net Sales, Production Cost of Goods Sold, Gross Profit

Net Sales per Group Region
2003 20021 ±% ±% in local ±% internal

currency growth

Million CHF

Europe 4,441 4,320 +2.8 – +1.4

North America 2,507 2,755 –9.0 +0.1 –0.1

Latin America 2,842 3,248 –12.5 +1.3 +0.3

Africa Middle East 1,280 1,136 +12.7 +13.6 +11.5

Asia Pacific 1,760 1,714 +2.7 +12.8 +9.9

Corporate / Eliminations (230) (163)

Holcim Group 12,600 13,010 –3.2 +2.4 +2.1

2003 in % of 2002 in % of

net sales net sales

Million CHF

Net sales 12,600 100.0 13,010 100.0

Material expenses (1,562) 12.4 (1,719) 13.2

Fuel expenses (493) 3.9 (607) 4.7

Electricity expenses (659) 5.2 (647) 5.0

Personnel expenses (1,063) 8.4 (1,068) 8.2

Depreciation (875) 6.9 (910) 7.0

Other production expenses (1,912) 15.2 (1,816) 14.0

Production cost of goods sold (6,564) 52.1 (6,767) 52.0

Gross profit 6,036 47.9 6,243 48.0

Gross profit
Production costs decreased almost in line with net sales.
Accordingly, the gross profit margin declined only marginally
by 0.1 percentage points compared to prior year. The lower
value of the US dollar against the Swiss franc also had a 
negative overall impact on gross profit. In local currencies,
the gross profit margin improved slightly (+0.1 percentage
points).

Lower material expenses in relation to net sales had a favor-
able impact on the gross profit margin. The main reason was
the disposal of the Swiss Baubedarf group. As for energy costs,
there was a clear reduction in fuel expenses. The Group com-
panies in France, Belgium and Switzerland made the greatest
contribution to this positive development through the use 
of alternative fuels.

1 Prior-year figures of service companies have been regrouped from geographical regions to Corporate.

Operating EBITDA margin
The operating EBITDA margin increased from 25.7% to 26.3%,
mainly as a result of cost savings. Excluding negative currency
effects (–0.5 percentage points), the margin was 26.8% – rep-
resenting an increase of 1.1 percentage points. Holcim achieved
a significant reduction in administrative expenses in relation 

to net sales of 1.2 percentage points. This development illus-
trates that the measures to reduce costs within the Group – in
particular through the launch of shared service centers – had 
a  positive impact and contributed to an improvement in the
Group’s profitability.
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Operating Profit

2003 20021 ±% ±% in local ±% internal

currency growth

Million CHF

Europe 482 504 –4.4 –7.1 –10.9

North America 273 298 –8.4 +1.3 +0.3

Latin America 766 785 –2.4 +13.4 +12.7

Africa Middle East 287 242 +18.6 +22.7 +20.7

Asia Pacific 198 163 +21.5 +30.1 +28.8

Corporate / Eliminations (81) (89)

Holcim Group 1,925 1,903 +1.2 +9.7 +8.0

The greatest contribution to the margin improvement came
from Group region Latin America, with an increase of 2.8 per-
centage points. In Argentina, Minetti reported substantially
better margins thanks to the economic revival in that country.
At Holcim Apasco in Mexico, lower production and adminis-
trative costs also had a positive influence on margins of the
Group region Latin America. In Europe, positive results came
from Cementos Hispania in Spain. By contrast, the aggressively
fought price war in Germany depressed not only the financial
results of Holcim Germany but also the operating margins 
of the entire Group region Europe. Nevertheless, there was a

margin gain of 0.2 percentage points overall. Rising prices in
Thailand and a successful turnaround in Indonesia were the
main factors behind a 1.1 percentage points higher operating
EBITDA margin for Asia Pacific. On the negative side, North
America and Africa Middle East reported a reduction of 1.1 
and 1.5 percentage points, respectively. Lower production costs
could not fully compensate for the price-related decline in
North America, while the Group companies in Lebanon and
Egypt – part of the Africa Middle East region – were unable 
to match prior-year’s level due to intensive price competition.

1 Prior-year figures of service companies have been regrouped from geographical regions to Corporate.
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Operating profit
Operating profit increased by CHF 22 million (2002: –42) to
CHF 1,925 million in financial year 2003. The 9.7% growth in
local currencies was more than enough to offset the negative
currency movements.

As a percentage of net sales, distribution and selling expenses
increased from 21.8% to 22.2%.

Administration expenses declined by CHF 197 million (2002:
–61). As a percentage of net sales, administration expenses
were reduced from 9.3% to 8.1%. This decline reflects ongoing
measures to reduce costs.

Other depreciation and amortization relates to intangible and
other operating assets, including goodwill amortization on
investments. Goodwill is regularly assessed in view of impair-
ment. Any value adjustments are stated under this heading 
in the income statement.

Other depreciation and amortization amounted to 2.4% (2002:
2.2%) of net sales. The increase is attributable to two factors:
on the one hand, goodwill amortization increased during
financial year 2003 due to new acquisitions; on the other
hand, other depreciation and amortization arises mainly 
in Swiss francs and euro and as a result is relatively high in
relation to lower net sales.

Other income (expenses) 
Other income (expenses) include dividend and interest
income, depreciation on non-operating assets and other ordi-
nary income net. In overall terms, other income (expenses) is
CHF 61 million higher than prior-year’s amount. The increase is
primarily attributable to non-recurring expenses and income
in financial year 2002. The largest single item is the CHF 120
million provision recognized in 2002 for pending summary
proceedings by the German Cartel Office. Furthermore, there
were partial write-downs of CHF 63 million on the closure of
non-operational plants in Argentina last year. This movement
was partially offset by a CHF 94 million reduction in other
ordinary income net; a large part of this results from the gains
recorded in 2002 on the sale of a 33% shareholding in Natal
Portland Cement (Pty) Ltd. in South Africa.

Financial expenses
The reduction in financial expenses of CHF 69 million (–12.2%)
is largely due to a decrease in the average interest rate on the
Group's financial liabilities, which stood at 4.2% (2002: 4.6%)
at the end of 2003. The low interest rate environment around
the world had a positive impact. Holcim used this opportunity,
not only to reduce interest charges in absolute terms but to
further extend the average term of its financial debt. As a
result, a stable risk-compatible basis was created for the years
to come.

Income taxes
The tax rate was reduced to around 35% in 2003. The main rea-
sons for this were a reduction in non tax-deductible expenses,
as well as the release of tax provisions. The anticipated, long-
term Group tax rate remains unchanged at 33%.

Consolidated net income after minorities
Consolidated net income after minorities increased by CHF
180 million (+35.6%) to CHF 686 million (2002: 506). In local
currencies, consolidated net income rose by 45.7%. This strong
performance is primarily due to the increase in other income
and to lower financial expenses. The smaller share of minority
interests in net income also had a positive impact for Holcim.
By contrast, higher income taxes due to an increase in income
before taxes had a negative impact on consolidated net
income.

Earnings per share
Earnings per dividend-bearing registered share increased
35.5% to CHF 3.51 in financial year 2003. The corresponding
cash earnings per share reached CHF 4.96, compared to 
CHF 4.14 in the prior year.
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The above table shows that Europe in particular contributed 
to this positive development. All other regions also reported a
stronger cash flow. Excluding currency effects, the three Group
regions Europe, North America and Latin America each reported
more than 16% growth in cash flow.

The cash flow margin increased to 20.8% (2002: 18.4%). Latin
America again made a strong improvement with a 4.0 per-

centage points higher margin, which stands now at 30.6%.
After a slight decrease in the prior year, Europe further
improved its margin by 2.8 percentage points to 19.8%. North
America again reported an increase to 14.3% (+1.7 percentage
points), despite difficult market conditions. By contrast, mar-
gins declined slightly in the growth regions of Africa Middle
East (–0.7 percentage points) and Asia Pacific (–0.1 percentage
points).

Cash flow, capital expenditure and financing activity

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash flow from operating activities rose CHF 231 million
despite the decline in net sales and operating EBITDA. A signif-
icant reduction in net working capital, together with lower 

interest charges, had a positive impact on cash flow, while
higher tax charges and currency effects negatively affected
cash flow.

Cash Flow from Operating Activities
2003 20021 ±% ±% in local ±% internal

currency growth

Million CHF

Europe 878 735 +19.5 +16.3 +17.0

North America 359 347 +3.5 +16.1 +15.3

Latin America 869 863 +0.7 +16.8 +16.5

Africa Middle East 279 256 +9.0 +10.2 +8.2

Asia Pacific 309 303 +2.0 +11.6 +5.6

Corporate / Eliminations (75) (116)

Holcim Group 2,619 2,388 +9.7 +17.4 +16.7
1 Prior-year figures of service companies have been regrouped from geographical regions to Corporate.
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Capital expenditure
The cash flow used in investing activities rose 15.8% to CHF
1,734 million (2002: 1,497). Most of the increase related to the
item “purchase of financial assets, intangible and other assets
net”, which reached CHF 442 million (2002: 245). A key factor
was the acquisition of the Yeles cement plant near Madrid for
EUR 190 million.

Holcim invested a net amount of CHF 1,292 million (2002:
1,252) in production and other fixed assets during financial
year 2003. Compared to the prior year, this represents an
increase of 3.2%. Among the biggest single investments were
the Holly Hill cement plant in the US, as well as new kilns and
kiln lines in Romania and South Africa, which were success-
fully commissioned during financial year 2003. A new kiln line
in Costa Rica and a grinding plant in Vietnam remain under
construction.

Investment in rationalization and improving internal processes,
environmental measures and occupational safety amounted to
CHF 915 million (2002: 917) and remained therefore practically
unchanged compared to the prior year.

Financing activity
As part of the Group’s policy of centralizing treasury functions,
Holcim successfully continued to finance the debt of its oper-
ating companies via Group finance companies. In order to
strengthen its financing, Holcim has raised the share of finan-
cial debt financed through Group finance companies from
50% to 69% over the last five years.

In this regard, the largest transactions carried out by 
Holcim through various capital markets in 2003 were as 
follows:

These financing measures were exclusively for the purpose of
refinancing existing debt, extending the average maturity
periods of financial liabilities and switching from bank loans
to capital market transactions.

Consolidated balance sheet

Consolidated shareholders’ equity increased by CHF 265 mil-
lion (2002: –1,074) to CHF 6,833 million (2002: 6,568). The 
currency-related impact on shareholders’ equity was below
prior-year’s level. Nevertheless, there was a decline of CHF 
313 million (2002: –1,433) due to exchange rate fluctuations.
Consolidated net income after minority interests resulted in
an increase of consolidated shareholders’ equity by CHF 686
million (2002: 506). The dividend distribution from Holcim Ltd
remained at CHF 195 million.

Interests of minority shareholders fell by CHF 201 million
(2002: +126) to CHF 2,666 million (2002: 2,867). Unlike prior
year, there was practically no growth in minority interests
through new acquisitions. There was an even larger reduction
in minority interests due to exchange rate effects than in the
prior year. In contrast to shareholders’ equity, the higher value
of the euro had a smaller impact, as the bulk of interests of
minority shareholders are outside the euro zone.

Net financial debt decreased further to CHF 8,299 million
(2002: 8,857). The 6.3% reduction is the net result of currency
fluctuations amounting to CHF 128 million, cash flow after
investing activities and dividend payments of CHF 517 million
and changes in the scope of consolidation.

The relationship between net financial debt and shareholders’
equity including interests of minority shareholders (gearing)
declined by 6.5 percentage points compared to the prior year.
At 87.4%, this ratio was well within the Group’s target range of
80 to 100%.

EUR 750,000,000 4.375% notes guaranteed by
Holcim Ltd, 2003–2010 

EUR 50,000,000 Notes guaranteed by Holcim Ltd,

floating interest rates, 2003–2006
AUD 150,000,000 5.5% notes guaranteed by Holcim Ltd,

fixed interest rates, 2003–2006 
AUD 110,000,000 Notes guaranteed by Holcim Ltd,

floating interest rates, 2003–2006
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Liquidity
In the context of further investments and in view of securing
its liquidity, the Group maintained its cash position in line
with market risks/opportunities; this position was reduced
slightly during the year on the basis of a market assessment.
This was offset by further substantial unutilized credit lines
(see page 114).

Pension obligations

Most of the pension plans are independent of the company
and operate in separate legal entities (foundations). Both
employees and employers contribute to these pension funds
in order to augment saving balances and to cover risks. Assets
held by the pension funds are available to fund these pension
liabilities. Although the Group has no commitments towards
these pension funds other than the defined contributions,
the calculated net liability is recorded in the Group balance
sheet in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). Subsidiaries with unfunded pension plans
have recorded a provision in their books accordingly.

The pension fund assets are recorded at fair value. Actuarial
gains or losses exceeding the corridor of 10% as defined by
IFRS are amortized based on the expected average remaining
working lives of the participating employees.

As at December 31, 2003, the net liability from funded and
unfunded plans amounted to CHF 289 million (2002: 275).
The fair value of the pension funds’ assets declined from 
CHF 1,582 million to CHF 1,480 million, mainly due to the 
disposal of Eternit AG (Switzerland).

Sustainable development

Since publishing its first Corporate Sustainable Development
Report in November 2002, Holcim has made major progress in
integrating the concept of sustainability with regard to the
environment and the responsibility towards society at large.

Central issues within the sustainability arena included climate
change, the sensitive use of energy and natural resources and
occupational health & safety. However, importance was also
attached to Holcim’s duties to society at large, particularly in
the vicinity of the plants (see pages 8 to 11).

In 2003, the Group invested CHF 81 million (2002: 83) in
improving the environmental sustainability of its production
facilities.

Provisioning by the Group companies in respect of their envi-
ronmental obligations is based on constructive, as well as
legal and contractual obligations. CHF 231 million (2002: 241)
was set aside for recultivation and other environmental liabili-
ties in the year under review. The Group does not anticipate
any material, adverse effect of environmental liabilities on its
future operating results.

Holcim is encouraging the use of alternative fuels and raw
materials (AFR) in the production process. A specific AFR 
policy for this purpose was developed and implemented in the
year under review. This is a natural extension of the corporate
governance concept, and is intended to minimize the risks
associated with the use of such materials, enhance the trans-
parency of communication on this subject and ultimately 
contribute to improved environmental protection.

Holcim also has entered into a partnership with the Deutsche
Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ) of Ger-
many. This is aimed at the development of solutions for the
integrated management of industrial waste. The intention is
to formulate internationally recognized guidelines for the use
of alternative fuels in the industry, promote understanding
about the sensitive treatment of these substances, and test
the feasibility of the concept through pilot projects in Chile,
Morocco and the Philippines. The partnership with GTZ is 
for three years, running until 2006.
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The Group is also actively involved in the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development. In the form of a 2002
action plan to bolster sustainability in the cement industry,
the council’s work concentrates on climate protection, energy
sources and raw materials, health and safety in the workplace,
reducing emissions, environmental and social responsibility 
in local projects, and communication. An interim report on 
the progress made since the launch of this campaign is to be
published in 2005.

Holcim affirmed its commitment to society at large on a
Group-wide basis in 2003, representing another element of
the corporate policy. The Group companies will be seeking to 
contribute towards improving the quality of life in the areas
surrounding their individual plants. Guidelines have been
drawn up with a view to enabling the individual Group com-
panies to improve harmonization of the efforts they have
already made and to fine-tune their obligations.

As part of its commitment to observe the principle of sustain-
ability, Holcim signed the UN Global Compact in 2003.
With a view to fulfilling the requirements laid down in the
agreement, Holcim’s first step has been to examine where 
the Group currently stands in relation to the nine principles
involved. Holcim will also be publishing information on this
subject in its next Corporate Sustainable Development Report.

In 2003, Holcim was listed in the Dow Jones Sustainability
Index (DJSI) for the construction sector. Holcim was judged to
have successfully integrated sustainability into its corporate
strategies and Group-wide philosophy. Its program for promot-
ing the use of alternative fuels and raw materials is classed as
pioneering, and it was also stated that Holcim treats the wider
social obligations facing the industry in an exemplary manner.

Holcim won a series of awards in 2003 that will feature in the
new Corporate Sustainable Development Report 2003, along-
side the progress the Group has made in recent years and the
challenges that lie ahead of Holcim.

Further information on this subject can be found by visiting
the website at www.holcim.com/sustainable.

Group accounting policies

No new International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
were introduced in financial year 2003.

The International Accounting Standards Board is critically
examining current International Accounting Standards with a
view to bringing about a worldwide harmonization. This
process of amending, adding to and standardizing worldwide
accounting standards could lead to substantial changes in 
the applicable directives over the course of the next few years.
Holcim is closely monitoring developments in this area and
playing an active role in helping to formulate future standards
via several special committees.

Events after the balance sheet date

On January 23, 2004, Holcim announced a public purchase 
offer to all minority shareholders of Holcim Apasco S.A. de C.V.
(Mexico). If Holcim acquires all outstanding shares – corre-
sponding to 31.1% of the share capital – the total investment
will be USD 750 million. To maintain its financial profile, Holcim 
intends to underlay this transaction with adequate equity.

In January 2004, the German competition authorities approved
the acquisition of Rohrbach Zement & Co. KG in Southern 
Germany. Its plant in Dotternhausen has an annual installed
capacity of 0.6 million tonnes of cement and a further 0.3 mil-
lion tonnes of special binding agents. The entity will be fully
consolidated from January 1, 2004.

Outlook

For details regarding the outlook for 2004, please refer to the
shareholders’ letter on pages 2 to 5.
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Consolidated Statement of Income of Group Holcim
Million CHF Notes 2003 2002

Net sales 5 12,600 13,010

Production cost of goods sold 6 (6,564) (6,767)

Gross profit 6,036 6,243

Distribution and selling expenses 7 (2,793) (2,837)

Administration expenses (1,016) (1,213)

Other depreciation and amortization 8 (302) (290)

Operating profit 9 1,925 1,903

Other income (expenses) 10 12 (49)

EBIT 1,937 1,854

Financial expenses net 11 (495) (564)

Net income before taxes 1,442 1,290

Income taxes 12 (510) (493)

Net income before minority interests 932 797

Minority interests (246) (291)

Net income after minority interests 686 506

CHF

Earnings per dividend-bearing share1 14 3.51 2.59

Fully diluted earnings per share1 14 3.49 2.59

Cash earnings per dividend-bearing share1 2 14 4.96 4.14

1 Adjusted for 5-for-1 conversion of bearer shares into registered shares on June 10, 2003.
2 Excludes the amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets.



Co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 B
al

an
ce

 S
he

et

89

Consolidated Balance Sheet of Group Holcim
Million CHF Notes 31.12.2003 31.12.2002

Cash and cash equivalents 15 2,456 2,698

Marketable securities 62 107

Accounts receivable 16 2,161 2,167

Inventories 17 1,175 1,265

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 174 223

Total current assets 6,028 6,460

Financial assets 18 1,862 2,030

Property, plant and equipment 21 13,294 13,806

Intangible and other assets 22 3,478 2,997

Deferred tax assets 29 163 167

Total long-term assets 18,797 19,000

Total assets 24,825 25,460

Trade accounts payable 24 1,245 1,074

Current financial liabilities 25 2,660 2,885

Other current liabilities 26 1,319 1,209

Total short-term liabilities 5,224 5,168

Long-term financial liabilities 27 8,157 8,777

Deferred tax liabilities 29 1,021 1,126

Long-term provisions 30 924 954

Total long-term liabilities 10,102 10,857

Total liabilities 15,326 16,025

Interests of minority shareholders 32 2,666 2,867

Share capital 33 402 402

Capital surplus 2,628 2,628

Treasury shares 33 (448) (452)

Reserves 4,251 3,990

Total shareholders’ equity 6,833 6,568

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 24,825 25,460
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Statement of Changes in Consolidated Equity of Group Holcim
Share Capital Treasury

capital surplus shares

Million CHF

Equity as at January 1, 2002 402 2,570 (451)

Net income after minority interests

Currency translation effects

Change in fair value

– Available-for-sale securities

– Cash flow hedges

Realized gain in income statement

– Available-for-sale securities

– Cash flow hedges

Dividends

Change in treasury shares net (1)

Equity component of convertible bonds 58

Equity as at December 31, 2002 402 2,628 (452)

Equity as at January 1, 2003 402 2,628 (452)

Net income after minority interests

Currency translation effects

Change in fair value

– Available-for-sale securities

– Cash flow hedges

Realized gain in income statement

– Available-for-sale securities

– Cash flow hedges

Dividends

Change in treasury shares net 4

Equity as at December 31, 2003 402 2,628 (448)
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Retained Available-for-sale Cash flow Currency Total Total

earnings equity reserve hedging translation reserves shareholders’

reserve effects equity

5,367 (175) (76) 5 5,121 7,642

506 506 506

(1,433) (1,433) (1,433)

(61) (61) (61)

(6) (6) (6)

58 58 58

0 0 0

(195) (195) (195)

0 (1)

0 58

5,678 (178) (82) (1,428) 3,990 6,568

5,678 (178) (82) (1,428) 3,990 6,568

686 686 686

(313) (313) (313)

60 60 60

1 1 1

9 9 9

13 13 13

(195) (195) (195)

0 4

6,169 (109) (68) (1,741) 4,251 6,833
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement of Group Holcim
Million CHF Notes 2003 2002

Operating profit 1,925 1,903

Depreciation and amortization of operating assets 8 1,386 1,438

Other non-cash items 152 86

Change in net working capital 67 (136)

Cash generated from operations 3,530 3,291

Dividends received 78 103

Interest received 26 57

Interest paid (458) (582)

Income taxes paid (534) (449)

Other expenses (23) (32)

Cash flow from operating activities (A) 2,619 2,388

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 36 (1,405) (1,326)

Disposal of property, plant and equipment 36 113 74

Purchase of financial assets, intangible and other assets 36 (1,014) (1,000)

Disposal of financial assets, intangible and other assets 36 572 755

Cash flow used in investing activities (B) (1,734) (1,497)

Dividends paid on ordinary shares (195) (195)

Dividends paid to minority shareholders (157) (139)

Dividends paid on preference shares (16) (24)

Capital paid-in by (repaid to) minority interests 26 (10)

Movements of treasury shares net 4 (1)

(De)Increase in current financial liabilities (187) 146

Proceeds from long-term financial liabilities 2,359 2,749

Equity component of convertible bonds 0 58

Repayment of long-term financial liabilities (2,848) (2,561)

Decrease in marketable securities 30 16

Cash flow (used in) from financing activities (C) (984) 39

(De)Increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) (99) 930

Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1 2,698 2,137

(De)Increase in cash and cash equivalents (99) 930

Currency translation effects (143) (369)

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31 2,456 2,698
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Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS).

Adoption of new International Financial Reporting Standards
There were no new International Financial Reporting Standards
adopted by the Group during 2003 and 2002.

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRS requires management to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets, liabilities and related disclosures at the date of the
financial statements. These estimates are based on manage-
ment’s best knowledge of current events and actions that the
Group may undertake in the future. However, actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Scope of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise those of 
Holcim Ltd and of its subsidiaries, including joint ventures 
and associated companies. The list of principal companies is
presented in the section “Principal Companies”.

Principles of consolidation
Subsidiaries, which are those entities in which the Group has
an interest of more than one half of the voting rights or 
otherwise has the power to exercise control over the opera-
tions, are consolidated. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no
longer consolidated from the date that control ceases.

All intercompany transactions and balances between Group
companies are eliminated.

The Group’s interest in jointly controlled entities is consoli-
dated using the proportionate method of consolidation.
Under this method, the Group records its share of the joint
ventures’ individual income and expenses, assets and liabili-
ties and cash flows in the consolidated financial statements
on a line-by-line basis. All transactions and balances between
the Group and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the joint ventures.

Investments in associated companies are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting. These are companies over
which the Group generally holds between 20 and 50% of 
the voting rights and has significant influence but does not
exercise control. Equity accounting is discontinued when 
the carrying amount of the investment in an associated 

company reaches zero, unless the Group has either incurred 
or guaranteed obligations in respect of the associated 
company.

Foreign currency translation
Income statements of foreign entities are translated into the
Group’s reporting currency at average exchange rates for 
the year and balance sheets are translated at exchange rates
ruling on December 31.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity is 
treated as a local currency asset of the acquirer and recorded
at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the
exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions;
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized 
in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as
qualifying cash flow hedges.

The functional currency is normally the currency of the coun-
try in which a Group company is domiciled. However, certain
subsidiaries in high inflation countries or companies operat-
ing in economies with unstable currency situations consider
the USD or the EUR to be the more appropriate measurement
currency as it more correctly reflects the economic substance
of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to
that particular enterprise. As a consequence thereof, the USD
or the EUR are used as the functional currency for these
specifically affected companies.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are readily convertible into a
known amount of cash with original maturities of three
months or less. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at
banks and on hand, deposits held on call with banks, other
short-term highly liquid investments and bank overdrafts.

Marketable securities
Marketable securities consist primarily of debt and equity
securities which are traded in liquid markets and are classi-
fied as available-for-sale. They are carried at fair value with all
fair value changes recorded in equity until the financial asset
is either impaired or disposed of at which time the cumula-
tive gain or loss previously recognized in equity is transferred
to net income for the period.
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Accounts receivable
Trade accounts receivable are carried at original invoice
amount less an estimate made for doubtful debts based 
on a review of all outstanding amounts at the year end.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Cost is determined by using the weighted average 
cost method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials and additives, direct labor, other
direct costs and related production overheads. Cost of inven-
tories includes transfers from equity of gains or losses on
qualifying cash flow hedges relating to inventory purchases.

Financial assets
Financial assets consist of (a) investments in associates 
(b) investments in third parties (c) long-term receivables from
associates (d) long-term receivables from third parties and 
(e) long-term derivative assets. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting (for
more details, please refer to “Principles of consolidation”).
Investments in third parties are classified as available-for-sale
and long-term receivables from associates and third parties
are classified as loans originated by the Group. Long-term
derivative assets are regarded as held for hedging unless they
do not meet the strict hedging criteria under IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, in which case
they will be classified as held for trading.

All purchases and sales of investments are recognized on
trade date, which is the date that the Group commits to pur-
chase or sell the asset. Purchase cost includes transaction
costs. Loans originated by the Group are measured at amor-
tized cost. Available-for-sale investments are carried at fair
value, while held-to-maturity investments are carried at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains 
and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-
for-sale investments are included in equity until the financial
asset is either impaired or disposed of, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity is
transferred to net profit and loss for the period. Where no
reliable information to value investments at equity value or
fair value is available, these investments are carried at the
lower of cost and net realizable value.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is valued at acquisition or 
construction cost less depreciation and impairment loss.
Cost includes transfers from equity of any gains or losses on
qualifying cash flow hedges. Depreciation is charged so as 
to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment over

their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method,
on the following bases:

Land No depreciation except on land

with raw material reserves

Buildings and installations 20 to 40 years

Machinery 10 to 30 years

Furniture, vehicles and tools 3 to 10 years

Repair and maintenance expenses are usually charged to 
the income statement but costs incurred are capitalized 
if one or more of the following conditions are satisfied:
the original useful life of the asset is extended, the original 
production capacity is increased, the quality of the product
is materially enhanced or production costs are reduced 
considerably.

Costs incurred to gain access to mineral reserves are capital-
ized and depreciated over the life of the quarry, which is
based on the estimated tonnes of raw material to be extract-
ed from the reserves.

Interest cost on borrowings to finance construction projects
which last longer than one year are capitalized during 
the period of time that is required to complete and prepare 
the asset for its intended use. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants received are deducted from property,
plant and equipment and reduce the depreciation charge
accordingly.

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group 
has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Property, plant and equipment
acquired through a finance lease is capitalized at the date of
inception of the lease at the present value of the minimum
future lease payments. The corresponding lease obligations,
excluding finance charges, are included in current or long-
term financial liabilities.

For sale and lease-back transactions, the book value of the
related property, plant or equipment remains unchanged.
Gains from a sale are included as a financing liability and 
the financing costs are allocated over the term of the lease in
such a manner that the costs are reported over the relevant
periods.
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Investment property
Investment property is property held to earn rental income
and for capital appreciation and is valued at acquisition cost
less depreciation and impairment loss.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition
over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of a subsidiary, associate or joint venture
at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is recognized as an 
intangible asset and amortized on a straight-line basis over 
its estimated useful life as follows:

Cement / Clinker 20 years

Aggregates 10 years

Ready-mix concrete 5 years

Other products / Services 10 years

Shorter useful lives may be used where appropriate but
the maximum estimated useful life may not exceed 
20 years.

On disposal of a subsidiary, associate or joint venture, the
related unamortized goodwill is included in the determina-
tion of profit or loss on disposal.

Negative goodwill represents the excess of the fair value 
of the Group’s share of identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired over the cost of acquisition. Negative goodwill 
is presented in the same balance sheet classification as
goodwill. To the extent that negative goodwill relates 
to expectations of future losses and expenses that are 
identified in the Group’s plan for the acquisition and 
can be measured reliably, but which do not represent
identifiable liabilities, that portion of negative goodwill 
is recognized in the income statement when the future 
losses and expenses occur. The remaining negative good-
will is recognized as income on a straight-line basis 
over the remaining average useful life of the identifiable
acquired depreciable assets. To the extent that such 
negative goodwill exceeds the aggregate fair value of 
the acquired identifiable non-monetary assets, it is 
recognized in income immediately.

Computer software
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer
software programs are recognized as an expense as incurred.
Costs that are directly associated with identifiable and
unique software products controlled by the Group and which
will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs
beyond one year, are recognized as intangible assets.

Expenditures which enhance or extend the performance of
computer software programs beyond their original specifica-
tions are capitalized and added to the original cost of the
software. Computer software development costs recognized
as assets are amortized using the straight-line method over
their useful lives, but not exceeding a period of three years.

Other intangible assets
Expenditure on acquired patents, trademarks and licenses is
capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives, but not exceeding 20 years.

Impairment of assets
At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether
there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impair-
ment loss, if any. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group esti-
mates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit
(defined on the basis of geographical location) to which 
the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash generating unit is reduced to 
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized
immediately in the income statement.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carry-
ing amount of the asset or cash generating unit is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount. However,
this increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognized for that asset or cash generating unit in
prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized
immediately in the income statement.

Long-term financial liabilities
Bank loans acquired and non-convertible bonds issued are
recognized initially at the proceeds received, net of transac-
tion costs incurred. In subsequent periods, bank loans and
non-convertible bonds are stated at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method with any difference between
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
being recognized in the income statement over the term of
the borrowings.

Upon issuance of convertible bonds, the fair value of the lia-
bility portion is determined using a market interest rate for
an equivalent non-convertible bond; this amount is carried as
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a long-term liability on the amortized cost basis using the
effective interest method until extinguishment on conversion
or maturity of the bonds. The remainder of the proceeds is
allocated to the conversion option which is recognized and
included in shareholders’ equity; the value of the conversion
option is not changed in subsequent periods.

Long-term derivative liabilities are regarded as held for 
hedging unless they do not meet the strict hedging criteria
under IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, in which case they will be classified as held 
for trading.

Deferred taxes
Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the finan-
cial statements. Tax rates enacted or substantially enacted 
by the balance sheet date are used to determine the deferred
tax expense.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary
differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, asso-
ciates and joint ventures except where the Group is able to
control the distribution of earnings from these respective
entities and where dividend payments are not expected to
occur in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement,
except when it relates to items credited or charged directly 
to equity, in which case the deferred tax is treated accordingly.

Site restoration and other environmental provisions
The Group provides for the costs of restoring a quarry where
a legal or constructive obligation exists. The cost of raising a
provision necessary before exploitation of the raw materials
has commenced is included in property, plant and equipment
and depreciated over the life of the quarry. The effect of any
adjustments to the provision is recorded through operating
costs over the life of the quarry to reflect the best estimate of
the expenditure required to settle the obligation at balance
sheet date. Where the effect of the time value of money is
material, the amount of the provision is discounted based on
the enterprise’s long-term borrowing rate.

Other provisions
A provision is recognized when there exists a legal or con-
structive obligation arising from past events and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount that will be required to
settle that obligation.

Employee benefits – Defined benefit plans
Some Group companies provide defined benefit pension
plans for employees. Professionally qualified independent
actuaries value the funds on a regular basis (1 to 3 years).
The obligation and costs of pension benefits are deter-
mined using the projected unit credit method. The project-
ed unit credit method considers each period of service as
giving rise to an additional unit of benefit entitlement and
measures each unit separately to build up the final obliga-
tion. Past service costs are recognized on a straight-line
basis over the average period until the amended benefits
become vested. Gains or losses on the curtailment or 
settlement of pension benefits are recognized when the
curtailment or settlement occurs. Actuarial gains or losses
are amortized based on the expected average remaining
working lives of the participating employees. The pension
obligation is measured at the present value of estimated
future cash flows using a discount rate that is similar to
the interest rate on government bonds where the currency
and terms of the government bonds are consistent with
the currency and estimated terms of the defined benefit
obligation. A net pension asset is recorded only to the
extent that it does not exceed the present value of any
economic benefits available in the form of refunds from
the plan or reductions in future contributions to the 
plan, or any unrecognized actuarial losses and past service
costs.

Employee benefits – Defined contribution plans
In addition to the defined benefit plans described above,
some Group companies sponsor defined contribution plans
based on local practices and regulations. The Group’s contri-
butions to defined contribution plans are charged to the
income statement in the period to which the contributions
relate.

Employee benefits – Other post employment benefit plans
Other post employment benefits include long-service leave 
or sabbatical leave, medical aid, jubilee or other long-service 
benefits, long-term disability benefits and, if they are not
payable wholly within twelve months after the year end,
profit sharing, bonuses and deferred compensation.
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Employee benefits – Equity compensation plans
Share options are granted to employees. If the options are
granted at the market price of the shares on the date of grant
and are exercisable at that price, no compensation expense
is recognized. If the options are granted at a discount on the
market price, a compensation expense is recognized in the
income statement based on that discount. When the share
options are exercised, the proceeds received net of any trans-
action costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) 
share premium, respectively.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the
enterprise and the amount of the revenue can be measured
reliably. Sales are recognized net of sales taxes and discounts
when delivery has taken place and the transfer of risks and
rewards of ownership has been completed.

Interest is recognized on a time proportion basis that reflects
the effective yield on the asset. Dividends are recognized
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is estab-
lished.

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities arise from conditions or situations
where the outcome depends on future events. They are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Financial instruments
Information about accounting for derivative financial 
instruments and hedging activities is included in the section 
“Financial Risk Management”.
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Financial risk factors – General risk management approach
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,
including the effect of changes in debt structure and equity
market prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest
rates. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to mini-
mize potential adverse effects on the financial performance of
the Group. The Group uses derivative financial instruments
such as foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps to
hedge certain exposures. Therefore, the Group does not enter
into derivative or other financial transactions which are unre-
lated to its operating business. As such, a risk-averse approach
is pursued.

Financial risk management within the Group is governed by
policies approved by Group management. It provides princi-
ples for overall risk management, as well as policies covering
specific areas such as interest rate risk, foreign exchange 
risk, counterparty risk, use of derivative financial instruments
and investing excess liquidity.

Financial risk factors – Market risk
Holcim is exposed to market risk, primarily relating to foreign
exchange and interest rate risk. Management actively moni-
tors these exposures. To manage the volatility relating to
these exposures, Holcim enters into a variety of derivative
financial instruments. The Group’s objective is to reduce,
where appropriate, fluctuations in earnings and cash flows
associated with changes in foreign exchange and interest rate
risk. In the case of liquid funds, it writes call options on assets
it has or it writes put options on positions it wants to acquire
and has the liquidity to acquire. Holcim, therefore, expects
that any loss in value of those instruments generally would be
offset by increases in the value of the underlying transactions.

Financial risk factors – Liquidity risk
Group companies need a sufficient availability of cash to meet
their obligations. Individual companies are responsible for
their own cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover cash
deficits, subject to guidance by the Group and, in certain
cases, for approval at Group level.

The Group maintains sufficient reserves of cash, unused credit
lines and readily realizable marketable securities to meet its
liquidity requirements at all times. In addition, the strong
international creditworthiness of the Group allows it to make
efficient use of international financial markets for financing
purposes.

Financial risk factors – Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in financing costs and 
market value movements of its debt portfolio related to
changes in market interest rates. Given the Group’s substantial
net borrowing position, interest rate exposure is mainly ad-
dressed through the steering of the fixed/floating ratio of net
debt. To manage this mix, Holcim may enter into interest rate
swap agreements, in which it exchanges periodic payments,
based on notional amounts and agreed-upon fixed and vari-
able interest rates.

Financial risk factors – Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and therefore is exposed 
to foreign exchange risks arising from various currency 
exposures in currencies from Europe, North and Latin America,
Africa Middle East and Asia Pacific.

The translation of local balance sheets and statements of 
income into the Group reporting currency leads to currency
translation effects which the Group does not actively hedge in
the financial markets. However, the translation risk is largely 
mitigated by corresponding financing in foreign currencies.

Due to the local nature of the cement business, transaction
risk is limited. However, for many Group companies, income
will be primarily in local currency whereas debt servicing and
a significant amount of capital expenditures may be in foreign
currencies. As a consequence thereof, subsidiaries may enter
into derivative contracts which are designated as either cash
flow hedges or fair value hedges, as appropriate, but which
does not include the hedging of forecasted transactions as it
is not considered economical.

Financial risk factors – Equities and securities risk
In general, the Group does not hold or acquire any shares or
options on shares or other equity products, which are not
directly related to the business of the Group.

Financial risk factors – Credit risk
Credit risks arise from the possibility that customers may not
be able to settle their obligations as agreed. To manage this
risk the Group periodically assesses the financial reliability of
customers.

Credit risks, or the risk of counterparties defaulting, are con-
stantly monitored. Counterparties to financial instruments
consist of a large number of major financial institutions. The
Group does not expect any counterparties to fail to meet their
obligations, given their high credit ratings. In addition, Holcim
has no significant concentration of credit risk with any single
counterparty or group of counterparties.
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The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the 
carrying amount of each financial asset, including derivative
financial instruments, in the balance sheet.

Accounting for derivative financial instruments 
and hedging activities
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognized in the
balance sheet at cost and subsequently remeasured to fair
value. The method of recognizing the resulting gain or loss is
dependent on the nature of the item being hedged. On the
date a derivative contract is entered into, the Group desig-
nates certain derivatives as either (a) a hedge of the fair value
of a recognized asset or liability (fair value hedge) or (b) a
hedge of a particular risk associated with a recognized asset
or liability, such as future interest payments on floating rate
debt (cash flow hedge) or (c) a hedge of a firm commitment
(cash flow hedge).

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated 
and qualify as fair value hedges and that are highly effective
are recorded in the income statement, along with any
changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that
is attributable to the hedged risk.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated
and qualify as cash flow hedges and that are highly effective
are recognized in equity. Where the firm commitment results
in the recognition of an asset, for example, property, plant
and equipment, or a liability, the gains or losses previously 
deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included 
in the initial measurement of the asset or liability. Otherwise,
amounts deferred in equity are transferred to the income
statement and classified as revenue or expense in the same
periods during which the cash flows, such as interest pay-
ments, or hedged firm commitments, affect the income 
statement.

Certain derivative transactions, while providing effective eco-
nomic hedges under the Group’s risk management policies,
may not qualify for hedge accounting under the specific rules
in IAS 39. Changes in the fair value of any derivative instru-
ments that do not qualify for hedge accounting under IAS 39
are recognized immediately in the income statement.

When a hedging instrument is sold, or when a hedge no
longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting under IAS 39,
any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time re-
mains in equity and is recognized when the committed trans-
action ultimately is recognized in the income statement.
However, if a committed transaction is no longer expected to
occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity

is immediately transferred to the income statement. In the
case of a fair value hedge, however, the adjustment to the car-
rying amount of the hedged item is amortized to net profit or
loss from the moment it ceases to be adjusted for in changes
to fair value, with it being fully amortized by maturity date.

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the
relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items,
as well as its risk management objective and strategy for 
undertaking various hedge transactions. This process includes
linking all derivatives designated as hedges to specific assets
and liabilities or to specific firm commitments. The Group also
documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on 
an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in
hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting
changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for
hedging purposes are disclosed in note 20 and 28. Move-
ments in the cash flow hedging reserve and available-for-sale
equity reserve are shown in the statement of changes in con-
solidated equity of Group Holcim.

Fair value estimation
The fair value of publicly traded derivatives and available-
for-sale assets is generally based on quoted market prices at
the balance sheet date. The fair value of interest rate swaps is
calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash
flows. The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts 
is determined using forward exchange market rates at the 
balance sheet date.

In assessing the fair value of non-traded derivatives and other
financial instruments, the Group uses a variety of methods 
and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions
existing at each balance sheet date. Other techniques, such 
as option pricing models and estimated discounted value of
future cash flows, are used to determine fair values for the
remaining financial instruments.

The amortized cost for financial assets and liabilities with 
a maturity of less than one year are assumed to approximate
their fair values.
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Newly included in 2003 Effective as at

Spain: Cementos Hispania S.A. January 1, 2003

Australia: Cement Australia Pty Ltd (50%) June 1, 2003

Russia: Alpha Cement J.S.C. December 31, 2003

Newly included in 2002 Effective as at

Indonesia: PT Semen Cibinong Tbk. January 1, 2002

Italy: Rolcim S.p.A. January 1, 2002

Serbia: Fabrika Cementa “Novi Popovac” A.D. April 15, 2002

Disposed of in 2003 Effective as at

Sri Lanka: Lanka Quarries May 30, 2003

Australia: Excel June 2, 2003

Switzerland: Eternit AG November 10, 2003

Disposed of in 2002 Effective as at

Switzerland: Baubedarf group October 1, 2002

The scope of consolidation has been affected mainly by the fol-
lowing additions and disposals made during 2003 and 2002:

1 Group Organization

Early 2003, Spain’s antitrust authorities approved the takeover
of nearly 100% of Cementos Hispania S.A. by the Group for a
purchase price of EUR 190 million. The new company with its
cement plant at Yeles has been fully consolidated from Janu-
ary 1, 2003 being the date that management control came into
effect.

Holcim’s Group company Queensland Cement Ltd has been
merged with Australian Cement Holdings Ltd to form a new
company, Cement Australia Pty Ltd. Cement Australia is owned
50% by Holcim, 25% by Hanson (UK-based ready-mix and
aggregates company) and 25% by Rinker (Australian and 
US heavy construction materials group). According to the
agreements underlying the transaction, the owners exercise 
joint control over the company. As a result, Cement Australia
has been proportionately consolidated as from June 1, 2003 to
reflect the 50% stake in the new entity.

In December 2003, Holcim increased its minority shareholding
in Alpha Cement J.S.C. (Russia) through the purchase of addi-
tional share packages to 68.8%. As a result, the company has
been fully consolidated effective December 31, 2003. Previously,
the entity was accounted for as an associated company.

On April 15, 2002, the Group acquired 83% of Novi Popovac
(Serbia) for CHF 117 million in cash and consolidated the 
company as from that date.

In December 2001, the Group increased its shareholding in PT
Semen Cibinong Tbk. (Indonesia) to 77.3% for CHF 384 million in
cash after successful negotiations to restructure the company’s
debt. The company was consolidated as from January 1, 2002
being the date that management control came into effect.

Subsequent to the Group’s acquisition of 60% of Rolcim S.p.A.
(Italy) for CHF 61 million in cash, the company was consolidat-
ed as from January 1, 2002 being the date that management
control came into effect.

In the Philippines, Union Cement Corporation acquired the
Group company Alsons Cement Corporation in a share
exchange deal. The new entity has been fully consolidated as
from October 1, 2002.

To further focus on the core business Holcim disposed of vari-
ous entities, of which include: Lanka Quarries (Sri Lanka) on
May 30, 2003, Excel’s aggregates and ready-mix concrete busi-
ness (Australia) on June 2, 2003, Eternit AG (Switzerland) on
November 10, 2003, and Baubedarf group on October 1, 2002.

An overview of the subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated
companies is included in section “Principal Companies” on
pages 128 to 130.
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2 Foreign Currencies

2 Foreign currencies
Statement of income Balance sheet

Average exchange rate in CHF Year-end exchange rate in CHF

2003 2002 ±% 2003 2002 ±%

1 EUR 1.52 1.47 +3.4 1.56 1.45 +7.6

1 USD 1.34 1.55 –13.5 1.24 1.39 –10.8

1 CAD 0.96 0.99 –3.0 0.96 0.88 +9.1

100 MXN 12.44 16.09 –22.7 11.01 13.28 –17.1

100 EGP 22.86 33.60 –32.0 20.00 30.03 –33.4

1 ZAR 0.18 0.15 +20.0 0.19 0.16 +18.8

100 PHP 2.48 3.01 –17.6 2.23 2.61 –14.6

100 THB 3.24 3.62 –10.5 3.12 3.22 –3.1

1 AUD 0.88 0.85 +3.5 0.93 0.79 +17.7

1 NZD 0.78 0.72 +8.3 0.81 0.73 +11.0

The following table summarizes the principal exchange rates
that have been used for translation purposes.

3 Adoption of New International Financial Reporting Standards
There were no new International Financial Reporting Standards
adopted by the Group during 2003 and 2002.
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4 Segment Information
Information by region Europe North America Latin America

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Statement of income, balance sheet

and cash flow statement

Million CHF

Net sales 4,441 4,320 2,507 2,755 2,842 3,248

Operating EBITDA 1,004 968 453 529 1,100 1,165

Operating EBITDA margin in % 22.6 22.4 18.1 19.2 38.7 35.9

Depreciation and amortization 

of operating assets (522) (464) (180) (231) (334) (380)

Operating profit 482 504 273 298 766 785

Operating profit margin in % 10.9 11.7 10.9 10.8 27.0 24.2

Depreciation and amortization 

of non-operating assets 11 (11) (38) (2) (21) (74)

Other income (expenses) 13 (72) (29) 13 (6) (61)

EBITDA 1,006 907 462 544 1,115 1,178

Net operating assets 4,898 4,345 2,362 2,233 3,820 4,512

Total assets 8,982 8,499 3,237 3,496 5,393 5,813

Total liabilities 5,706 5,334 1,894 2,195 1,893 2,377

Cash flow from operating activities 878 735 359 347 869 863

Cash flow margin in % 19.8 17.0 14.3 12.6 30.6 26.6

Cash flow used in investing activities (629) (412) (274) (429) (299) (255)

Impairment loss (charged to income)  (5) (14) 0 0 (5) (4)

Capacity and sales

Million t

Annual production capacity cement 44.0 40.8 21.3 21.1 31.0 31.2

Sales of cement and clinker 26.5 25.3 17.2 16.5 19.3 18.8

Sales of aggregates 54.9 48.3 17.1 16.6 11.5 12.6

Million m3

Sales of ready-mix concrete 13.1 11.7 2.5 2.5 7.6 7.4

Personnel

Number of personnel 15,365 16,359 5,236 5,146 10,278 11,091

Information by product Cement / Clinker

2003 2002

Statement of income, balance sheet

and cash flow statement

Million CHF

Net sales 9,354 9,698

Operating profit 1,797 1,796

Net operating assets 13,416 13,733

Cash flow used in investing activities (1,580) (1,424)

Personnel

Number of personnel 32,888 33,791

Prior-year figures of service companies have been regrouped from geographical regions to Corporate.
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Africa Middle East Asia Pacific Corporate / Eliminations Total Group

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

1,280 1,136 1,760 1,714 (230) (163) 12,600 13,010

373 348 437 407 (56) (76) 3,311 3,341

29.1 30.6 24.8 23.7 26.3 25.7

(86) (106) (239) (244) (25) (13) (1,386) (1,438)

287 242 198 163 (81) (89) 1,925 1,903

22.4 21.3 11.3 9.5 15.3 14.6

(1) 1 (3) (6) (8) (15) (60) (107)

3 62 1 45 30 (36) 12 (49)

377 409 441 458 (18) (97) 3,383 3,399

1,009 1,123 3,386 3,534 167 206 15,642 15,953

1,745 1,749 4,103 4,192 1,365 1,711 24,825 25,460

766 800 2,167 2,258 2,900 3,061 15,326 16,025

279 256 309 303 (75) (116) 2,619 2,388

21.8 22.5 17.6 17.7 20.8 18.4

(171) 17 (206) (36) (155) (382) (1,734) (1,497)

(1) (4) 0 0 0 (2) (11) (24)

12.9 13.3 36.0 35.5 0 0 145.2 141.9

12.8 11.7 23.2 22.9 (4.7) (4.7) 94.3 90.5

8.3 9.0 4.1 5.6 0 0 95.9 92.1

1.8 1.6 2.0 2.1 0 0 27.0 25.3

4,472 4,620 12,118 13,078 751 821 48,220 51,115

Aggregates / Concrete Other products / Services Corporate / Eliminations Total Group

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

3,413 3,350 669 843 (836) (881) 12,600 13,010

91 51 37 56 0 0 1,925 1,903

2,092 1,941 134 279 0 0 15,642 15,953

(248) (219) (14) (16) 108 162 (1,734) (1,497)

12,583 13,491 2,712 3,817 37 16 48,220 51,115
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8 Summary of Depreciation and Amortization
Million CHF 2003 2002

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Production facilities (875) (910)

Distribution and sales facilities (152) (150)

Administrative facilities (57) (88)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (1,084) (1,148)

Amortization of operating goodwill (232) (208)

Other depreciation and amortization of operating assets (70) (82)

Depreciation and amortization of operating assets (A) (1,386) (1,438)

Amortization of non-operating goodwill 17 (18)

Ordinary depreciation of non-operating assets (60) (13)

Unusual write-offs (17) (76)

Depreciation and amortization of non-operating assets (B) (60) (107)

Total depreciation and amortization (A+B) (1,446) (1,545)

Of which depreciation of property, plant and equipment (1,126) (1,150)

5 Change in Consolidated Net Sales
Million CHF 2003 2002

Volume and price 270 (108)

Change in structure 47 398

Currency translation effects (727) (924)

Total (410) (634)

6 Production Cost of Goods Sold
Million CHF 2003 2002

Material expenses (1,562) (1,719)

Fuel expenses (493) (607)

Electricity expenses (659) (647)

Personnel expenses (1,063) (1,068)

Depreciation (875) (910)

Other production expenses (1,812) (1,813)

Change in inventory (100) (3)

Total (6,564) (6,767)

7 Distribution and Selling Expenses
Million CHF 2003 2002

Distribution expenses (2,342) (2,349)

Selling expenses (451) (488)

Total (2,793) (2,837)

Sales to associates amounted to CHF 97 million (2002: 111).
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10 Other Income (Expenses)
Million CHF 2003 2002

Dividends earned 80 78

Financial income (8) 6

Other ordinary income net 0 94

Provision related to antitrust investigation 0 (120)

Depreciation and amortization of non-operating assets (60) (107)

Total 12 (49)

9 Change in Consolidated Operating Profit
Million CHF 2003 2002

Volume, price and cost 151 133

Change in structure 33 (20)

Currency translation effects (162) (155)

Total 22 (42)

Included in other ordinary income net are gains and losses on
sale of property, plant and equipment, gains and losses on dis-
posal of Group companies, income and losses on investments
in associates and non-operating expenses. The reduction in
other ordinary income is mainly due to the profit recognized
on the sale of a 33% investment in Natal Portland Cement
(Pty) Ltd. in South Africa during 2002.

As a consequence of the German Federal Cartel Office’s inves-
tigations into the German cement industry regarding market
violations in the 1990s, the Group recognized a provision in
the amount of CHF 120 million during 2002. The final assess-
ment in these investigations has not yet been determined. As
such, there has been no change in this provision during 2003.

In 2002, the position “Depreciation and amortization of non-
operating assets” included depreciation and amortization 
of non-operating assets in Argentina in the amount of CHF 63
million.

Of which transactions with associates
Million CHF 2003 2002

Dividends earned 48 40

Financial income 5 5

Share of net (loss) income (6) 13

Other ordinary income 2 2

Amortization of goodwill on investments in associates 17 (18)

Total 66 42
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11 Financial Expenses Net
Million CHF 2003 2002

Financial expenses (574) (677)

Interest earned on cash and marketable securities 64 69

Foreign exchange gain net 0 17

Financial expenses capitalized 15 27

Total (495) (564)

Of which to associates (1) 0

12 Income Taxes
Million CHF 2003 2002

Current taxes (578) (457)

Deferred taxes 68 (36)

Total (510) (493)

Reconciliation of tax rate
2003 2002

Group’s average expected tax rate 33% 33%

Effect of non-deductible or non-taxable items (1%) 0%

Effect of provision for antitrust investigation – non-deductible expense 0% 3%

Effect of utilization of unrecognized tax losses carry forward (3%) (3%)

Effect of other items including the amortization of goodwill 6% 5%

Group’s effective tax rate 35% 38%

The reduction in financial expenses is due to partially lower
foreign exchange rates and the generally lower interest
rate level. The average rate of interest of financial liabilities 
on hand at December 31 decreased to 4.2% (2002: 4.6%).

Foreign exchange gain net in 2002 derived mainly from Latin
American currencies.

Financial expenses capitalized comprise interest expenditures
on large-scale projects during the year. Such projects included
mainly the construction of a cement plant at Holcim (US) Inc.,
which was completed during 2003.

The decrease in the effective tax rate is largely due to a non-
deductible expense of CHF 120 million related to a provision

for the antitrust investigation recognized during 2002 (see
note 10 for further details).

The Group’s effective tax rate differs from the Group’s average
expected tax rate as follows:
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16 Accounts Receivable
Million CHF 2003 2002

Accounts receivable – trade 1,732 1,684

Accounts receivable – associates 107 83

Other receivables 490 570

Allowances for doubtful accounts (168) (170)

Total 2,161 2,167

Of which pledged / restricted 6 22

14 Earnings per Share
2003 20021

Basic earnings per share in CHF 3.51 2.59

Net profit per income statement (in million CHF) 686 506

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 195,206,265 195,139,874

Fully diluted earnings per share in CHF 3.49 2.59

Net income used to determine diluted earnings per share (in million CHF) 699 506

Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings per share 200,081,263 195,139,874

Cash earnings per share in CHF 4.96 4.14

Net income used to determine cash earnings per share (in million CHF)2 968 807

Weighted average number of shares for cash earnings per share 195,206,265 195,139,874

13 Research and Development
Research and development expenses continue to be limited to
the existing product range and to investigating production
processes and environmental protection. Basic research costs
of CHF 12 million (2002: 13) were charged directly to the con-

solidated statement of income. No significant costs were
incurred for licenses obtained from third parties, nor was any
major revenue generated from licenses granted.

15 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are financial instruments that are
readily convertible into a known amount of cash with original
maturities of three months or less.

Accounts receivable include short-term derivative assets in 
the amount of CHF 0 million (2002: 4). Please see note 20 for
further details.

1 Adjusted for 5-for-1 conversion of bearer shares into registered shares on June 10, 2003.
2 Excludes the amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets.
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17 Inventories
Million CHF 2003 2002

Raw materials and additives 149 163

Semi-finished and finished products 512 590

Fuels 113 119

Parts and supplies 391 380

Unbilled services 10 13

Total 1,175 1,265

Of which pledged / restricted 0 25

18 Financial Assets
Million CHF 2003 2002

Financial investments – associates 633 718

Financial investments – third parties 545 771

Long-term receivables – associates 176 71

Long-term receivables – third parties 508 470

Total 1,862 2,030

Of which pledged / restricted 34 26

In 2003, the Group recognized inventory write-downs to net
realizable value of CHF 21 million (2002: 29).

Financial assets include long-term derivative assets in the
amount of CHF 74 million (2002: 90). Please see note 20 for
further details.

In 2003, the Group sold 4.5% (2002: 5.0%) of its investment
in Cimpor – Cimentos de Portugal, SA for a total price of 
EUR 126 million. As at December 31, 2003, the Group held 0.6%
of Cimpor.

During 2001, the Group provided financing to a third party 
equity investor (hereafter “Equity Investor”) who acquired
about 10% of the shares of Cimpor – Cimentos de Portugal, SA.
The Group then entered into a total return swap agreement
(hereafter “Swap Contract”) with the Equity Investor which re-
sulted in the transaction being classified as a “Financial invest-
ment – third parties” as the Group bears part of the economic
risk of the said shares. The Swap Contract terminates in 2005.

19 Financial Investments – Associates
Million CHF 2003 2002

January 1 718 790

Share of net (loss) income (6) 13

Dividends earned (48) (40)

Net (disposals) additions (36) 23

Currency translation effects 5 (68)

December 31 633 718
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Derivative assets 
2003 2002

Fair value Nominal Fair value Nominal

amount amount

Million CHF

Fair value hedges

Interest rate 65 547 90 715

Currency 0 0 0 2

Cross-currency 0 0 4 17

Total fair value hedges 65 547 94 734

Cash flow hedges

Interest rate 0 16 0 72

Currency 0 0 0 0

Cross-currency 0 0 0 0

Total cash flow hedges 0 16 0 72

Held for trading

Interest rate 9 148 0 0

Currency 0 0 0 0

Cross-currency 0 0 0 0

Total held for trading 9 148 0 0

Grand total 74 711 94 806

20 Derivative Assets
Included in financial assets (note 18) are the following deriva-
tive assets with maturities exceeding one year; derivative

assets with maturities of one year or less are included in
accounts receivable (note 16).
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Fair value Fair value

Million CHF 2003 2002

Derivative assets related to fair value hedges have the following maturities:
Within 1 year 0 4

Within 2 years 0 0

Within 3 years 10 0

Within 4 years 30 14

Within 5 years 4 32

Thereafter 21 44

Total 65 94

Derivative assets related to cash flow hedges have the following maturities:
Within 1 year 0 0

Within 2 years 0 0

Within 3 years 0 0

Within 4 years 0 0

Within 5 years 0 0

Thereafter 0 0

Total 0 0

Held for trading derivative assets have the following maturities:
Within 1 year 0 0

Within 2 years 0 0

Within 3 years 0 0

Within 4 years 0 0

Within 5 years 0 0

Thereafter 9 0

Total 9 0

Grand total 74 94

Certain derivative transactions, while fitting into the general
risk management approach of minimizing potential adverse
effects of the unpredictability of financial markets, do not
qualify for hedge accounting under the specific rules of
IAS 39. As such, they have been classified as held for trading.
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21 Property, Plant and Equipment
At cost of acquisition Land Buildings, Machines Furniture, Construction Total Total

installations vehicles, in progress 2003 2002

tools

Million CHF

January 1 2,232 5,898 14,773 2,357 1,130 26,390 27,246

Change in structure 14 (61) (28) (4) (22) (101) 1,593

Additions 51 42 126 86 1,100 1,405 1,326

Disposals (55) (48) (160) (143) (3) (409) (375)

Transferred from construction

in progress 43 295 730 99 (1,167) 0 0

Currency translation effects 9 (287) (756) (44) (59) (1,137) (3,400)

December 31 2,294 5,839 14,685 2,351 979 26,148 26,390

Purchase value of leased property,

plant and equipment 176 187

Accumulated depreciation

January 1 536 2,685 7,773 1,584 6 12,584 13,011

Change in structure (46) (67) (75) (30) 0 (218) 135

Additions 47 198 657 183 41 1,126 1,150

Disposals (5) (42) (147) (124) 0 (318) (314)

Impairment loss (charged to income) (1) 5 8 (1) 0 11 24

Currency translation effects 27 (81) (264) (12) (1) (331) (1,422)

December 31 558 2,698 7,952 1,600 46 12,854 12,584

Accumulated depreciation of leased

property, plant and equipment 55 44

Net book value as at December 31 1,736 3,141 6,733 751 933 13,294 13,806

Net asset value of leased property,

plant and equipment 121 143

Of which pledged / restricted 73 259 665 16 5 1,018 991

The net book value of CHF 13,294 million (2002: 13,806)
represents 50.8% (2002: 52.3%) of the original cost of all
assets. Pledged / restricted assets increased by CHF 27 million
(2002: 784) to CHF 1,018 million. At December 31, 2003, the fire
insurance value of property, plant and equipment amounted
to CHF 23,962 million (2002: 25,162). Net gains on sale of 
property, plant and equipment amounted to CHF 24 million
(2002: 15).

Included in the above is investment property with a net book
value of CHF 137 million (2002: 145).
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22 Intangible and Other Assets
At cost of acquisition Goodwill Negative Goodwill Other Total Total

goodwill net intangible 2003 2002

assets

Million CHF

January 1 4,045 (251) 3,794 401 4,195 3,892

Additions 494 (3) 491 37 528 332

Disposals 0 0 0 (20) (20) 0

Change in consolidation structure 252 0 252 50 302 203

Currency translation effects (3) (4) (7) 1 (6) (232)

December 31 4,788 (258) 4,530 469 4,999 4,195

Accumulated amortization

January 1 1,503 (133) 1,370 164 1,534 1,233

Additions 239 (24) 215 67 282 301

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0

December 31 1,742 (157) 1,585 231 1,816 1,534

Net book value as at December 31 3,046 (101) 2,945 238 3,183 2,661

Other assets net1 295 336

Total 3,478 2,997

1 Prior-year figure reclassified to current year’s presentation.
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24 Trade Accounts Payable
Million CHF 2003 2002

Trade accounts payable – third parties 1,167 1,006

Trade accounts payable – associates 8 8

Advance payments from customers 70 60

Total 1,245 1,074

25 Current Financial Liabilities
Million CHF 2003 2002

Current financial liabilities – associates 16 4

Current financial liabilities – third parties 1,624 1,840

Current portion of long-term financial liabilities 1,020 1,041

Total 2,660 2,885

Of which secured 0 6

23 Interest in Joint Ventures
The following amounts represent the effect of proportionate
consolidated assets and liabilities and sales and results of 
significant joint ventures disclosed on pages 128 and 129, and

are included in the consolidated balance sheet and statement
of income.

Statement of income

Million CHF 2003 2002

Net sales 680 591

Operating profit 171 129

Net income after minority interests 112 78

23 Trade Accounts Payable
Balance sheet
Million CHF 2003 2002

Current assets 253 142

Long-term assets 1,140 915

Total assets 1,393 1,057

Short-term liabilities 204 151

Long-term liabilities 351 221

Total liabilities 555 372

Net assets 838 685

Current financial liabilities include short-term derivative 
liabilities in the amount of CHF 0 million (2002: 1). Please 
see note 28 for further details.
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27 Long-Term Financial Liabilities
Million CHF 2003 2002

Long-term financial liabilities – associates 47 8

Long-term financial liabilities – third parties 8,110 8,769

Total 8,157 8,777

Of which secured 235 382

Details of total financial liabilities
Million CHF 2003 2002

Loans from financial institutions 4,150 5,821

Outstanding bonds and private placements 6,504 5,683

Obligations under finance leases 163 158

Total 10,817 11,662

Current financial liabilities (note 25) (2,660) (2,885)

Long-term financial liabilities 8,157 8,777

26 Other Current Liabilities
Million CHF 2003 2002

Other non interest-bearing liabilities 1,086 1,028

Current tax liabilities 233 181

Total 1,319 1,209

Long-term financial liabilities include long-term derivative 
liabilities in the amount of CHF 110 million (2002: 115). Please
see note 28 for further details.

Unutilized credit lines totaled CHF 2,757 million (2002: 2,362)
at year-end 2003.

Currency 2003 2002

Million CHF In % Interest rate Million CHF In % Interest rate

EUR 3,270 30.2 3.6 2,564 22.0 3.8

CHF 2,290 21.2 3.4 2,674 22.9 3.5

USD 3,689 34.1 4.2 5,315 45.6 4.4

AUD 382 3.5 5.8 66 0.6 6.0

NZD 255 2.4 6.6 212 1.8 6.9

Others 931 8.6 6.6 831 7.1 8.3

Total 10,817 100.0 4.2 11,662 100.0 4.6

Total financial liabilities by currency
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Maturity schedule of long-term financial liabilities
Million CHF 2003 2002

Within 2 years 1,280 1,230

Within 3 years 1,516 1,446

Within 4 years 592 1,064

Within 5 years 479 906

Thereafter 4,290 4,131

Total 8,157 8,777

Interest rate structure of total financial liabilities

Million CHF 2003 2002

Financial liabilities at fixed rates 6,136 6,900

Financial liabilities at variable rates 4,681 4,762

Total 10,817 11,662

Future minimum lease payments
Operating Finance

leases leases

Million CHF

Within 1 year 29 24

Within 2 years 25 50

Within 3 years 21 20

Within 4 years 16 18

Within 5 years 14 17

Thereafter 27 66

Total 132 195

Interest (32)

Total finance leases 163

Total expenses for operating leases recognized in the con-
solidated statement of income in 2003 was CHF 46 million
(2002: 59).

Long-term financial liabilities that are hedged effectively to 
a fixed or floating rate are included in the table above at the
hedged rate.
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Outstanding bonds and private placements as at December 31
Nominal Nominal Effective Term Remarks Net Net
value interest interest book book

rate rate value value
Million CHF 2003 2002
Holcim Ltd
CHF 500 4.00% 4.33% 1998–2009 Notes with fixed interest rates 491 489
CHF 500 4.50% 4.50% 2000–2005 Notes with fixed interest rates 500 500

Holcim Capital Corporation Ltd.
CHF 125 5.13% 1.27% 1995–2005 Notes guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, swapped 126 141

into USD and floating interest rates at inception
CHF 150 5.00% 1.24% 1996–2006 Notes guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, swapped 148 166

into USD and floating interest rates at inception
CHF 200 3.75% 1.25% 1997–2007 Notes guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, swapped 168 189

into USD and floating interest rates at inception
USD 200 5.50% 5.50% 1998–2003 Notes guaranteed by Holcim Ltd 0 277
USD 100 6.35% 2.32% 2001–2006 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, 134 153

swapped into floating interest rates at inception
USD 149 6.35% 6.42% 2001–2006 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd 184 206
USD 32 6.60% 2.19% 2001–2008 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, 44 50

swapped into floating interest rates at inception
USD 136 6.60% 6.65% 2001–2008 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd 168 188
USD 150 7.05% 2.57% 2001–2011 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, 206 237

swapped into floating interest rates at inception
USD 208 7.05% 7.08% 2001–2011 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd 257 288
USD 50 7.65% 7.65% 2001–2031 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd 62 69
USD 35 5.83% 5.85% 2002–2007 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd 43 48
USD 105 5.93% 5.95% 2002–2009 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd 130 145
USD 65 6.59% 6.60% 2002–2014 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd 80 90
USD 100 6.59% 6.59% 2002–2014 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd 124 149
USD 616 0.00% 5.50% 2002–2017 Convertible bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, redemption price 438 466

at maturity 100%, 1 bond per USD 1,000 nominal amount  
will be converted into 9.7595 Holcim Ltd registered shares
with a par value of CHF 2 (6,010,430 registered shares 
in total), initial conversion price CHF 91.56, put options 
of the bondholders on June 10, 2006, 2008, 2010 and 2014, 
call option of the issuer on or any time after June 10, 2008, 
equity component USD 10 million, yield to maturity 4.00% 

Holcim Overseas Finance Ltd.
CHF 419 1.00% 3.10% 1998–2004 Convertible bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, redemption price 428 419

at maturity 100%, 1 bond per CHF 5,000 nominal amount
will be converted into 58.1395 Holcim Ltd registered shares 
with a par value of CHF 2 (4,875,000 registered shares 
in total), initial conversion price CHF 86.00, soft call option
of the issuer at 130% of the applicable conversion price,
equity component CHF 43 million, yield to maturity 1.00%

CHF 600 1.00% 4.10% 2002–2012 Convertible bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, redemption price 584 566
at maturity 116.8%, 1 bond per CHF 5,000 nominal amount
will be converted into 55.0625 Holcim Ltd registered shares
with a par value of CHF 2 (6,607,500 registered shares
in total), initial conversion price CHF 90.81, put options
of the bondholders on June 10, 2007 and 2009, call option
of the issuer on or any time after June 10, 2007, equity 
component CHF 37 million, yield to maturity 2.50%

Subtotal 4,315 4,836
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Outstanding bonds and private placements as at December 31
Nominal Nominal Effective Term Remarks Net Net
value interest interest book book

rate rate value value
Million CHF 2003 2002
Subtotal 4,315 4,836

Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A.
EUR 450 4.38% 4.48% 2003–2010 Notes guaranteed by Holcim Ltd 698 0
EUR 300 4.38% 3.10% 2003–2010 Notes guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, swapped 459 0

into floating interest rates at inception
EUR 50 2.55% 2.58% 2003–2006 Notes guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, floating interest rates 78 0

Holcim Finance (Canada) Inc.
CAD 105 5.86% 5.89% 2002–2007 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd 100 92
CAD 10 6.91% 6.92% 2002–2017 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd 10 9

Holcim Finance (Australia) Pty Ltd.
AUD 150 5.50% 5.83% 2003–2006 Notes guaranteed by Holcim Ltd 138 0
AUD 110 5.98% 6.05% 2003–2006 Notes guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, floating interest rates 102 0

Holcim (US) Inc.
USD 27 1.10% 1.11% 1984–2009 Industrial revenue bonds – Midlothian 33 37
USD 5 1.15% 1.16% 1996–2031 Industrial revenue bonds – Devil’s Slide 6 7
USD 22 1.11% 1.12% 1997–2027 La Port facility revenue bonds 27 31
USD 45 0.00% 0.00% 1998–2003 Private placement 0 63
USD 60 6.52% 6.72% 1998–2005 Private placement 74 83
USD 95 6.80% 7.02% 1998–2008 Private placement 117 132
USD 1 1.25% 1.26% 1999–2009 Industrial revenue bonds – Mobile 1 1
USD 15 1.18% 1.19% 1999–2031 Industrial revenue bonds – Midlothian 19 21
USD 67 1.08% 1.09% 1999–2032 Mobile Dock & Wharf 83 93
USD 25 1.15% 1.16% 2003–2033 Private Placement Holly Hill 30 0

St. Lawrence Cement Inc.
USD 18 2.83% 2.87% 2000–2020 Industrial revenue bonds 22 25

Egyptian Cement Company S.A.E.1

EGP 585 13.00% 13.65% 2002–2008 Bonds (tranche A), with fixed interest rate payable 59 88
quarterly and mandatory amortization

EGP 390 12.00% 12.55% 2002–2008 Bonds (tranche B), with variable interest rate payable 39 59
quarterly and mandatory amortization

Holcim (Liban) S.A.L.
USD 76 10.00% 10.25% 1999–2006 W.D.R., arranged by Deutsche Bank, with fixed interest rate 94 106

payable semi-annually and optional amortization

Total 6,504 5,683

1 Proportionate consolidation.
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Derivative liabilities
2003 2002

Fair value Nominal Fair value Nominal

amount amount

Million CHF

Fair value hedges

Interest rate 36 666 32 185

Currency 0 12 0 0

Cross-currency 0 0 0 3

Total fair value hedges 36 678 32 188

Cash flow hedges

Interest rate 73 693 82 526

Currency 0 2 0 5

Cross-currency 0 0 0 0

Total cash flow hedges 73 695 82 531

Held for trading

Interest rate 1 56 1 92

Currency 0 0 0 0

Cross-currency 0 5 1 8

Total held for trading 1 61 2 100

Grand total 110 1,434 116 819

28 Derivative Liabilities
Included in long-term financial liabilities (note 27) are the 
following derivative liabilities with maturities exceeding one

year; derivative liabilities with maturities of one year or less
are included in current financial liabilities (note 25).
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Fair value Fair value

Million CHF 2003 2002

Derivative liabilities related to fair value hedges have the following maturities:
Within 1 year 0 0

Within 2 years 0 0

Within 3 years 0 0

Within 4 years 30 0

Within 5 years 0 32

Thereafter 6 0

Total 36 32

Derivative liabilities related to cash flow hedges have the following maturities:
Within 1 year 0 1

Within 2 years 5 3

Within 3 years 6 6

Within 4 years 62 5

Within 5 years 0 67

Thereafter 0 0

Total 73 82

Held for trading derivative liabilities have the following maturities:
Within 1 year 0 0

Within 2 years 0 0

Within 3 years 1 0

Within 4 years 0 2

Within 5 years 0 0

Thereafter 0 0

Total 1 2

Grand total 110 116

Certain derivative transactions, while fitting into the general
risk management approach of minimizing potential adverse
effects of the unpredictability of financial markets, do not
qualify for hedge accounting under the specific rules of
IAS 39. As such, they have been classified as held for trading.
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29 Deferred Taxes
Million CHF 2003 2002

Deferred taxes by category of temporary differences

Current assets (4) (6)

Long-term assets 1,017 1,041

Liabilities (155) (76)

Net liability 858 959

Reflected in the balance sheet as follows:

Deferred tax assets 163 167

Deferred tax liabilities 1,021 1,126

Net liability 858 959

Tax losses carryforward
Loss carry- Tax Loss carry- Tax

forwards effect forwards effect

2003 2003 2002 2002

Million CHF

Total tax losses carryforward 1,246 368 1,671 494

Of which reflected in deferred taxes (602) (176) (715) (212)

Total tax losses carryforward not recognized 644 192 956 282

Expiring as follows:

1 year 55 17 27 9

2 years 235 72 64 22

3 years 2 1 101 33

4 years 222 79 623 191

5 years 81 11 121 23

Thereafter 49 12 20 4
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30 Long-Term Provisions
Retirement Site restoration Other Total Total

benefit and other environ- provisions 2003 2002

plans mental liabilities

Million CHF

January 1 328 241 385 954 909

Change in structure (35) 6 (33) (62) 46

Provisions recognized 78 9 111 198 227

Provisions used during the year (70) (14) (52) (136) (82)

Provisions reversed during the year (4) (8) (14) (26) (39)

Currency translation effects (5) (3) 4 (4) (107)

December 31 292 231 401 924 954

Personnel expenses and number of personnel
The Group’s total personnel expenses, including social
charges, are recognized in the relevant expenditure line by
function of the consolidated statement of income, and
amounted to CHF 2,405 million (2002: 2,535). As at December
31, 2003, the Group employed 48,220 (2002: 51,115) people.

Defined benefit plans
Some Group companies provide pension plans for their
employees which under IFRS are considered as defined benefit
pension plans. Provisions for pension obligations are estab-
lished for benefits payable in the form of retirement, disability
and surviving dependent’s pensions. The benefits offered 
vary according to the legal, fiscal and economic conditions of
each country. Benefits are dependent on years of service and
the respective employee’s compensation and contribution.

A net pension asset is recorded only to the extent that it does
not exceed the present value of any economic benefits avail-
able in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in
future contributions to the plan, and any unrecognized actuar-
ial losses and past service costs. As for Swiss plans, Holcim
does not consider the net asset to be under its full control and
therefore no asset is recorded.

The obligation resulting from the defined benefit pension
plans is determined using the projected unit credit method.
Unrecognized gains and losses resulting from changes in actu-
arial assumptions are recognized as income (expense) over the
expected average remaining working lives of the participating
employees.

Other post-employment benefit plans 
The Group operates a number of other post-employment
benefit plans. The method of accounting for the liabilities is
similar to the one used for defined benefit pension schemes.
These plans are not externally funded, but are covered by 
provisions in the balance sheets of the respective Group
companies.

The following table reconciles the funded status of defined
benefit plans and other post-employment benefit plans to 
the amounts recognized in the balance sheet, including the
movement in the balance sheet.

31 Employee Benefits

Site restoration and other environmental liabilities represent
the Group’s legal or constructive obligations of restoring a
quarry. The timing of cash outflows of this provision is
dependent on the completion of raw material extraction and
the commencement of site restoration.

Other provisions comprise legal and constructive obligations,
and include CHF 120 million related to the German antitrust
investigation (see note 10 for further details). The timing of
cash outflows of other provisions is uncertain since it will
largely depend upon the outcome of administrative and legal
proceedings.
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Retirement benefit plans
Defined benefit pension plans Other post-employment benefits

Million CHF 2003 2002 2003 2002

Present value of funded defined benefit obligations 1,693 1,743 23 9

Fair value of plan assets (1,475) (1,582) (5) 0

Plan deficit of funded obligations 218 161 18 9

Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligations 140 131 115 115

Unrecognized actuarial losses (162) (125) (21) (5)

Unrecognized past service cost (20) (10) (1) (1)

Unrecognized plan assets 2 0 0 0

Net liability from funded and unfunded plans 178 157 111 118

Benefits costs (included in personnel expenses)

Current service cost 82 79 2 3

Employees’ contributions (18) (14) (1) 0

Interest expense on obligations 86 84 8 6

Expected return on plan assets (89) (92) 0 0

Amortization of actuarial losses 5 1 0 0

Past service cost 2 0 0 0

Gains on curtailments and settlements (2) 0 0 0

Limit of asset ceiling 2 0 0 0

Others 0 (1) 1 0

Total 68 57 10 9

Net liability as at January 1 157 153 118 125

Net expense recognized in the consolidated statement of income 68 57 10 9

Employers’ contribution (66) (54) (8) (12)

Change in structure 3 2 6 0

Currency translation effects 2 (15) (7) (17)

Others 14 14 (8) 13

Net liability as at December 31 178 157 111 118

Principal actuarial assumptions for defined benefit pension plans

2003 2002

Discount rate at January 1 4.6% 4.8%

Expected return on plan assets at January 1 5.6% 5.1%

Future salary increases 2.9% 2.8%

Average expected remaining working lives (in years) 8–23 8–19

Principal actuarial assumptions for other post-employment benefits

2003 2002

Discount rate at January 1 6.1% 6.4%

Medical cost trend rate 5.5% 5.4%
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Number1 2003 2002

January 1 310,410 74,250

Granted (individual bonus) 92,620 34,860

Granted (single allocation) 33,550 201,300

Exercised 0 0

Lapsed 0 0

December 31 436,580 310,410

Share option plan
Share options which provide the right to purchase Holcim
shares at a set price are granted to management. Movements
in the number of share options outstanding are as follows:

Equity compensation plans
Holcim has established an employee share ownership plan for
all employees of Swiss subsidiaries and some executives from
Group companies. This plan entitles employees to acquire dis-
counted Holcim shares, which are subject to disposal restric-
tions. In addition, part of the compensation of key executives 

is paid in Holcim shares, which are valued at market price and
are subject to disposal restrictions. All shares granted under
these plans are purchased from the market, and the cost is
charged as personnel expenses in the consolidated statement
of income. Therefore, no dilution of Holcim shares occurs.

The above-mentioned share options were granted as follows:

Options granted during 2003
33,550 share options were granted on January 2, 2003 at the
market share price on January 2, 2002 of CHF 71.80 and expire
on January 2, 2015. The options cannot be exercised for nine
years from the date of grant but may be exercised at any time
thereafter until the expiry date.

92,620 share options were granted on March 12, 2003 at
the market share price on that date of CHF 38.50 and expire
on March 12, 2011. These options cannot be exercised for 
three years from the date of grant but may be exercised at
any time thereafter until the expiry date.

Reconciliation of retirement benefit plans to the balance sheet

Million CHF 2003 2002

Net liability arising from defined benefit pension plans 178 157

Net liability arising from other post-employment benefits 111 118

Net liability 289 275

Reflected in the balance sheet as follows:

Other assets net (note 22) 3 53

Long-term provisions – retirement benefit plans (note 30) 292 328

Net liability 289 275

1 Adjusted for 5-for-1 conversion of bearer shares into registered shares on June 10, 2003.
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32 Interests of Minority Shareholders
Million CHF 2003 2002

January 1 2,867 2,741

New minorities assumed 7 299

Buyout of minorities (27) (128)

Capital paid-in by (repaid to) minorities 26 (1)

Dividends paid to minority shareholders (146) (153)

Dividends paid on preference shares (16) (24)

Minority interests in income 246 291

Gain on available-for-sale securities net 2 1

Loss on cash flow hedges net 0 (1)

Currency translation effects (293) (158)

December 31 2,666 2,867

Included in interests of minority shareholders are preference
shares which were issued by the Group in 2001 through one 
of its Group companies (hereafter “Group Company”) to 
an independent third party investor (hereafter “Investor”).
The total subscription value of the preference shares was 
USD 450 million. The Group Company pays a fixed dividend 

to the Investor. The payment of such dividend is subject to the
Group Company distributing dividends on its ordinary shares.
The Group has the right but not the obligation to redeem the
preference shares held by the Investor at any time.
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Options granted during 2002
201,300 share options were granted on January 2, 2002 at
the market share price on that date of CHF 71.80 and expire 
on January 2, 2014. The options cannot be exercised for nine
years from the date of grant but may be exercised at any 
time thereafter until the expiry date.

34,860 share options were granted on March 22, 2002 at the
market share price on that date of CHF 77.30 and expire 
on March 22, 2010. The options cannot be exercised for three 

years from the date of grant but may be exercised at any time
thereafter until the expiry date.

The Group purchased and holds in treasury the shares repre-
sented by the options granted under this plan. These shares
are purchased on the open market at the date of grant and are
held in treasury. The terms of the options outstanding at
December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

Grant date Expiry date Ratio Exercise price1 Number1 Number1

2003 2002

2000 2008 1:1 CHF 71.27 34,650 34,650

2001 2009 1:1 CHF 68.63 39,600 39,600

2002 2010 1:1 CHF 77.30 34,860 34,860

2002 2014 1:1 CHF 71.80 201,300 201,300

2003 2011 1:1 CHF 38.50 92,620 –

2003 2015 1:1 CHF 71.80 33,550 –

Total 436,580 310,410
1 Adjusted for 5-for-1 share split in 2001 and for 5-for-1 conversion of bearer shares into registered shares on June 10, 2003.
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Guarantees
At December 31, 2003, guarantees issued to third parties in 
the ordinary course of business amounted to CHF 365 million
(2002: 389).

Contingencies
In the ordinary course of business, the Group is involved 
in lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings, including
product liability, commercial, environment and health and
safety matters. There are no such matters pending that the
Group expects to be material in relation to the Group’s 
business, financial position or results of operations.

The Group operates in countries where political, economic,
social and legal developments could have an impact on the
Group’s operations. The effects of such risks which arise in the
normal course of business are not foreseeable and are there-
fore not included in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

34 Contingencies, Guarantees and Commitments

33 Details of Shares
Number of shares1 Registered shares

December 31 2003 2002

Total outstanding shares 195,225,960 195,110,764

Treasury shares

Shares reserved for convertible bonds 2,439,610 2,439,610

Shares reserved for call options 436,580 310,410

Unreserved treasury shares 3,082,679 3,324,045

Total treasury shares 5,958,869 6,074,065

Total issued shares 201,184,829 201,184,829

Conditional shares 

Reserved for convertible bonds 14,007,875 14,007,875

Unreserved 0 0

Total conditional shares 14,007,875 14,007,875

Total shares 215,192,704 215,192,704

Commitments
In the ordinary course of business, the Group buys and sells
investments, associated companies and Group companies or
portions thereof. It is common practice that the Group makes
offers or receives call or put options in connection with such
acquisitions and divestitures. The Group does not expect to
incur losses as a result of these offers and options. As (a) no
active market exists for these options and (b) it appears highly
unlikely that these options could be sold to third parties as 

they represent only minority interests, management therefore
considers that the fair value of both call and put options can-
not be reliably estimated. Consequently, these options have
not been recognized in the consolidated balance sheet at year-
end.

At December 31, 2003, the Group’s commitments amounted to
CHF 745 million (2002: 720).

The par value per share is CHF 2. The share capital amounts to
CHF 402 million and treasury shares amount to CHF 448 mil-
lion (2002: 452).

On June 4, 2003, Holcim’s shareholders approved the introduction
of a standard registered share. As a result, all bearer shares were
subsequently converted into registered shares at a ratio of 5-for-1.

1 Adjusted for 5-for-1 conversion of bearer shares into registered shares on June 10, 2003.
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36 Cash Flow used in Investing Activities
Million CHF 2003 2002

Purchase of property, plant and equipment net

Replacements (915) (917)

Disposal of property, plant and equipment 113 74

Capital expenditures on property, plant and equipment to maintain

productive capacity and to secure competitiveness (802) (843)

Expansion investments (490) (409)

Total purchase of property, plant and equipment net (A) (1,292) (1,252)

Purchase of financial assets, intangible and other assets

Acquisition of new Group companies (net of cash and cash equivalents acquired)* (423) (197)

Increase in participation of existing Group companies (56) (102)

Increase in financial investments including associates (68) (94)

Increase in other assets (467) (607)

Total purchase of financial assets, intangible and other assets (1,014) (1,000)

Disposal of financial assets, intangible and other assets

Disposal of Group companies (net of cash and cash equivalents disposed of) 49 46

Decrease in participation in Group companies 0 6

Decrease in financial investments including associates 304 334

Decrease in other assets 219 369

Total disposal of financial assets, intangible and other assets 572 755

Total purchase of financial assets, intangible and other assets net (B) (442) (245)

Total cash flow used in investing activities (A+B) (1,734) (1,497)
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* Including goodwill.

35 Monetary Net Current Assets by Currency
Cash and Accounts Trade Current Other Total Total

marketable receivable accounts financing current 2003 2002

securities payable liabilities liabilities

Million CHF

EUR 423 1,028 553 1,255 438 (795) (627)

CHF 110 89 63 599 93 (556) (684)

USD 1,502 272 166 100 259 1,249 1,477

CAD 21 125 79 0 56 11 (1)

MXN 75 125 83 7 121 (11) 4

EGP 9 2 5 27 16 (37) (62)

ZAR 5 66 17 37 57 (40) 3

PHP 23 24 13 74 34 (74) 8

THB 36 23 11 4 20 24 (10)

AUD 31 61 25 61 19 (13) (1)

NZD 10 29 15 164 11 (151) (2)

Others 273 317 215 332 195 (152) (301)

Total 2,518 2,161 1,245 2,660 1,319 (545) (196)
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Cash flow from acquisitions and disposals of Group companies
Acquisitions Disposals

Million CHF 2003 2002 2003 2002

Cash and cash equivalents (33) (3) 13 14

Other current assets (32) (30) 54 91

Long-term assets (164) (96) 124 54

Other current liabilities 21 44 (30) (62)

Long-term financial liabilities and long-term provisions 4 93 (30) (34)

Fair value of purchased / book value of disposed Group companies (204) 8 131 63

Acquired (disposed) cash and cash equivalents 33 3 (13) (14)

Net value (171) 11 118 49

Net value Holcim’s share (171) 6 118 47

Goodwill (252) (203) 0 0

Net loss from divestments (69) (1)

Net cash flow (423) (197) 49 46

On January 23, 2004, Holcim announced a public purchase 
offer to all minority shareholders of Holcim Apasco S.A. de C.V.
(Mexico). If Holcim acquires all outstanding shares – corre-
sponding to 31.1% of the share capital – the total investment
will be USD 750 million. To maintain its financial profile, Holcim 
intends to underlay this transaction with adequate equity.

In January 2004, the German competition authorities approved
the acquisition of Rohrbach Zement & Co. KG in Southern 
Germany. Its plant in Dotternhausen has an annual installed
capacity of 0.6 million tonnes of cement and a further 0.3 mil-
lion tonnes of special binding agents. The entity will be fully
consolidated from January 1, 2004.

37 Post-Balance Sheet Events

Board of Directors
The non-executive members of the Board of Directors received
a total remuneration of CHF 1.6 million (2002: 3.3). In addition,

they were also granted shares of Holcim Ltd which amounted
to CHF 0.4 million (2002: 0.45).

38 Transactions with Members of the Board of Directors and Senior Management

The financial statements were authorized for issuance by the
Board of Directors of Holcim Ltd on March 5, 2004 and are sub-

ject to shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders scheduled for May 14, 2004.

39 Authorization of the Financial Statements for Issuance

Senior management
The total annual compensation of each member of senior
management comprises a salary, a Group bonus, which is
based on the financial results of the Group, and an individual
bonus, which is based on individual performance. The total
remuneration of the members of senior management
amounted to CHF 12.6 million (2002: 12.0). In addition, they
were also granted 48,130 (2002: 28,775) shares of Holcim Ltd
and 126,170 (2002: 236,160) share options during 2003.

At December 31, 2003, there were loans in the amount of 
CHF 2.8 million (2002: 2.4) outstanding, which were granted 
to members of senior management (see Corporate Governance
section for further details).
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Region Company Place Nominal share capital Consolidated 

in 000 participation

Europe Holcim (Belgique) S.A. Belgium EUR 72,762 100.0%

Holcim (France) S.A. France EUR 70,525 100.0%

Holcim (España), S.A. Spain EUR 147,803 99.9%

Holcim Trading SA Spain USD 20,040 100.0%

Holcim Services EMEA S.L. Spain EUR 250 100.0%

Holcim (Deutschland) AG Germany EUR 47,064 88.9%

Holcim (Baden-Württemberg) GmbH Germany EUR 5,200 100.0%

Holcim (Schweiz) AG Switzerland CHF 142,200 100.0%

Holcim Group Support Ltd Switzerland CHF 1,000 100.0%

Holcim White Ltd Switzerland CHF 1,000 100.0%

Holcim (Italia) S.p.A. Italy EUR 26,000 100.0%

Holcim (Česko) a.s. Czech Republic CZK 486,297 96.3%

Holcim (Slovensko) a.s. Slovakia SKK 1,275,068 98.0%

Holcim Hungária Rt. Hungary HUF 4,500,000 70.4%

Cementownia Wejherovo Poland PLN 18,800 92.6%

Holcim (Hrvatska) d.o.o. Croatia HRK 201,718 99.8%

Fabrika Cementa “Novi Popovac” A.D. Serbia CSD 2,300,000 92.0%

Holcim (Romania) S.A. Romania ROL 10,000 99.7%

Holcim (Bulgaria) AD Bulgaria BGN 7,194 100.0%

Alpha Cement J.S.C. Russia RUB 8,298 68.8%

North America Holcim (US) Inc. USA USD 0 100.0%

St. Lawrence Cement Inc. Canada CAD 142,463 63.8%

Latin America Holcim Apasco S.A. de C.V. Mexico MXN 203,522 68.9%

Holcim de Nicaragua S.A. Nicaragua NIO 44,500 39.5%

Holcim (Costa Rica) S.A. Costa Rica CRC 8,604,056 56.4%

Panamá Cement S.A.1 Panama USD 119,200 43.1%

Caricement Antilles N.V. Curaçao USD 23,899 100.0%

Holcim (Colombia) S.A. Colombia COP 72,536,716 99.8%

Holcim (Venezuela) C.A. Venezuela VEB 7,792,178 100.0%

Cementos Colón, S.A.1 Dominican Republic DOP 165,000 29.8%

La Cemento Nacional C.A. Ecuador USD 81,924 77.4%

Holcim (Brasil) S.A. Brazil BRL 171,752 99.9%

Minetti S.A. Argentina ARS 352,057 75.2%

Cemento Polpaico S.A. Chile CLP 5,992,807 54.3%

Africa Middle East Holcim (Maroc) S.A. Morocco MAD 421,000 51.0%

Holcim (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd South Africa ZAR 730,648 54.4%

Egyptian Cement Company S.A.E.1 Egypt EGP 1,000,000 43.7%

Ciments de Guinée S.A. Guinea GNF 6,393,000 61.3%

Société de Ciments et Matériaux Ivory Coast XOF 707,000 99.9%

Holcim (Liban) S.A.L. Lebanon LBP 234,192,509 55.8%

Holcim (Outre-Mer) S.A.S. La Réunion/Madagascar EUR 37,748 100.0%

Aden Cement Enterprises Ltd. Republic of Yemen YER 143,104 100.0%

Principal Companies of the Holcim Group

1 Joint venture, proportionate consolidation (50%).
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Region Company Place Nominal share capital Consolidated 

in 000 participation

Asia Pacific Garadagh Cement J.S.C. Azerbaijan AZM 159,064 88.9%

Holcim (Lanka) Ltd Sri Lanka LKR 5,000,000 96.1%

Holcim (Bangladesh) Ltd Bangladesh BDT 120,000 82.7%

Siam City Cement (Public) Company Limited1 Thailand THB 2,500,000 33.9%

Holcim Services (Asia) Ltd. Thailand THB 10,000 100.0%

Holcim (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Malaysia MYR 10,450 100.0%

Holcim Trading Pte Ltd Singapore SGD 650 100.0%

PT Semen Cibinong Tbk. Indonesia IDR 3,831,450 78.2%

Holcim (Vietnam) Ltd Vietnam USD 189,400 65.0%

Union Cement Corporation Philippines PHP 6,446,899 49.0%

Cement Australia Pty Ltd1 Australia AUD 0 50.0%

Holcim (New Zealand) Ltd New Zealand NZD 30,000 100.0%

Region Company Place of listing Market capitalization Security 

at December 31, 2003 code number

in local currency

Europe Holcim (Deutschland) AG Frankfurt EUR 343 million DE0005259006

North America St. Lawrence Cement Inc. Toronto CAD 549 million CA7910601060

Latin America Holcim Apasco S.A. de C.V. Mexico MXN 21,861 million MXP041021512

Holcim (Costa Rica) S.A. San José CRC 74,425 million INC CR

La Cemento Nacional C.A. Quito, Guayaquil USD 350 million ECP612411085

Minetti S.A. Buenos Aires ARS 1,162 million ARP6806N1051

Cemento Polpaico S.A. Santiago CLP 147,460 million CLP2216J1070

Africa Middle East Holcim (Maroc) S.A. Casablanca MAD 4,223 million MA0000010332

Holcim (Liban) S.A.L. Beirut USD 117 million Sicovam 921890

Asia Pacific Siam City Cement (Public) Company Limited Bangkok THB 57,000 million TH0021010002

PT Semen Cibinong Tbk. Jakarta IDR 3,103,473 million ID1000072309

Union Cement Corporation Manila PHP 6,963 million PHY9101M1037

Principal Listed Group Companies

Principal Companies of the Holcim Group

1 Joint venture, proportionate consolidation (50%).
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Region Company Country of incorporation or residence Participation 

Europe Balkcem Ltd Cyprus 49.0%

The Cyprus Cement Company Ltd. Cyprus 27.7%

Latin America Cementos Progreso S.A. Guatemala 20.0%

Cemento de El Salvador S.A. de C.V. El Salvador 20.3%

Cementos del Norte S.A. de C.V. Honduras 24.2%

Cementos Pacasmayo S.A.A. Peru 29.0%

Africa Middle East Nova Cimangola S.A.R.L. Angola 24.5%

Asia Pacific Ardebil Iran 45.0%

Huaxin Cement Company Ltd. China 23.4%

National Cement Industry Pte Ltd. Singapore 50.0%

Principal Associated Companies

Nominal share capital Consolidated
in 000 participation

Holcim Ltd, Switzerland CHF 402,370 100.0%
Holcibel S.A., Belgium EUR 831,000 100.0%
Holcim Auslandbeteiligungs-GmbH, Germany EUR 2,556 100.0%
Holcim Beteiligungs-GmbH, Germany EUR 102,000 100.0%
Holcim Capital Corporation Ltd., Bermuda USD 2,630 100.0%
Holcim European Finance Ltd., Bermuda EUR 25 100.0%
Holcim Finance (Australia) Pty Ltd, Australia AUD 0 100.0%
Holcim Finance (Belgium) SA, Belgium EUR 62 100.0%
Holcim Finance (Canada) Inc., Canada CAD 0 100.0%
Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) SA, Luxemburg EUR 31 100.0%
Holcim Investments (France) SAS, France EUR 15,551 100.0%
Holcim Investments (Spain) S.L., Spain EUR 60,003 100.0%
Holcim Overseas Finance Ltd., Bermuda CHF 16 100.0%
Holcim Reinsurance Ltd., Bermuda CHF 1,453 100.0%
Holderfin B.V., Netherlands EUR 3,423 100.0%

Principal Finance and Holding Companies
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As auditors of the Group, we have audited the consolidated financial statements (consoli-
dated statement of income, consolidated balance sheet, statement of changes in consoli-
dated equity, consolidated cash flow statement and notes presented on pages 88 to 130) 
of Holcim Ltd for the year ended December 31, 2003. Certain financial statements of 
subsidiaries have been audited by other auditors.

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements 
based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional
qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards promulgated by the Swiss
profession and with the International Standards on Auditing (ISA), which require that an
audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consoli-
dated financial statements are free from material misstatement. We have examined, on 
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. We have also assessed the accounting principles used, significant estimates
made and the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the finan-
cial position, the results of operations and the cash flows in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

Ernst & Young Ltd.

Manuel Aeby Chris Schibler
Swiss Certified Accountant Chartered Accountant
In charge of the audit In charge of the audit

Zurich, March 5, 2004

Report of the Group Auditors to the 
General Meeting of Holcim Ltd, Jona.
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Cement
Aggregates
Ready-mix concrete
Other products and services

Holcim (Belgique) S.A., Belgium
Chief executive: Bernard Kueng
Personnel: 1,966
Production capacity: 3.3 million t of cement
Obourg plant
Haccourt grinding plant
Shareholdings:
Gralex S.A.
Hellings N.V.
Holcim Concrete Products (Belgique)
Holcim European Services Ltd
Holcim Granulats (Belgique)
Holcim (Haccourt)

Holcim Informatique
Holcim Mortier (France Belgique)
Holcim (Nederland) B.V.
Inter-Béton S.A.
Scoribel S.A.

Holcim (France) S.A., France
Chief executive: Bernard Kueng
Personnel: 1,743
Production capacity: 5.3 million t of cement
Altkirch plant
Dannes plant
Héming plant
Lumbres plant
Rochefort plant
Ebange grinding plant
Shareholdings:
Dunkerque Ajouts
Holcim Bétons (France)
Holcim Granulats (France)
Sovrac

Holcim (España), S.A., Spain
Chief executive: Saverio A. Banchini
Personnel: 1,666
Production capacity: 5.1 million t of cement
Carboneras plant
Gádor plant
Jerez plant
Lorca plant
Torredonjimeno plant
Shareholdings:
Cementos Hispania S.A. 
Yeles plant
Holcim Aridos S.L.
Holcim Hormigones S.A.
Holcim Morteros S.A.

Holcim Trading SA, Spain
Chief executive: José Cantillana1

Personnel: 65

Holcim Services EMEA S.L., Spain
Chief executive: José Maria San Luciano Ruiz
Personnel: 24

Holcim (Deutschland) AG, Germany
Chief executive: Karl Gernandt
Personnel: 943
Production capacity: 4.1 million t of cement
Höver plant
Lägerdorf plant
Rostock plant (terminal)
Salzgitter plant
Hansa grinding plant
Shareholdings:
BKK Baustoff-Kontor GmbH
GEOROC Deutschland Nord GmbH
Hannoversche Silo-Gesellschaft mbH
Happy-Beton GmbH & Co. KG
Happy Kies Sand Recycling GmbH
Holcim Beton und Zuschlagsstoffe GmbH
Holcim Beton-Union GmbH
Kieswerke Borsberg GmbH & Co. KG
SBU Kieswerk Zeithain GmbH & Co. KG
SBU Sandwerke Dresden GmbH
Warnow Mineralbaustoffe GmbH

1 As of March 1, 2004.
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Holcim (Baden-Württemberg) GmbH, Germany
Chief executive: Urs Kern
Personnel: 147
Production capacity: 0.6 million t of cement
Geisingen plant
Shareholdings:
Geisinger Kalkstein Schotterwerk
HM Transportbeton GmbH & Co. KG
Hupfer GmbH
SUL Siloumschlag + Logistik GmbH
TBM-Transportbeton Mittelbaden

Holcim (Schweiz) AG, Switzerland
Chief executive: Leo Mittelholzer
Personnel: 1,263
Production capacity: 3.5 million t of cement
Brunnen plant
Eclépens plant
Siggenthal plant
Untervaz plant
Lorüns grinding plant, Austria
Shareholdings:
AG Hunziker & Cie 
Georoc AG
Holcim Kies und Beton AG
Hüntwanger Kies AG

Holcim Group Support Ltd, Switzerland
Personnel: 661
Sector company:
Holcim Group Support (Canada) Ltd.    

Holcim White Ltd, Switzerland
Chief executive: Karl A. Baumann
Personnel: 30

Holcim (Italia) S.p.A., Italy
Chief executive: Carlo Gervasoni
Personnel: 523
Production capacity: 3.3 million t of cement
Merone plant
Ternate plant
Morano grinding plant
Shareholdings:
Eurofuels
Holcim Aggregati S.r.l.
Holcim Calcestruzzi S.r.l.

Holcim (Česko) a.s., Czech Republic
Chief executive: Jan Hamr
Personnel: 401
Production capacity: 1.4 million t of cement
Prachovice plant
Shareholdings:
Ekocem Praha s.r.o
Holcim Beton Pardubice a.s.
KAPO Prachovice s.r.o
Lom Klecany s.r.o
Pískovna Dobříň a.s.
Transbeton IPS s.r.o
Transportcement Prachovice s.r.o

Holcim (Slovensko) a.s., Slovakia
Chief executive: Jan Hamr
Personnel: 820
Production capacity: 2.7 million t of cement
Rohožník plant
Banská Bystrica grinding plant
Shareholdings:
ASO Spol s.r.o
B & W Auslandsbeteiligung GmbH
Hirostavbet s.r.o
Holcim Beton s.r.o
Transportcement Bratislava 
Holcim (Wien) GmbH, Austria

Holcim Hungária Rt., Hungary
Chief executive: Jan Hamr
Personnel: 732
Production capacity: 2.2 million t of cement
Hejöcsaba plant
Lábatlan plant
Shareholding:
Holcim Beton Rt.

Cement
Aggregates
Ready-mix concrete
Other products and services



Cementownia Wejherovo, Poland
Chief executive: Wojciech Stobinski
Personnel: 113

Holcim (Hrvatska) d.o.o., Croatia
Chief executive: Urs Fankhauser
Personnel: 247
Production capacity: 0.9 million t of cement
Koromačno plant
Umag grinding plant
Shareholding:
Resnik Beton

Fabrika Cementa “Novi Popovac” A.D., Serbia
Chief executive: Darko Krizan
Personnel: 851
Production capacity: 1.4 million t of cement
Novi Popovac plant

Holcim (Romania) S.A., Romania
Chief executive: Kurt Habersatter
Personnel: 1,456
Production capacity: 4.1 million t of cement
Alesd plant
Campulung plant
Turda plant

Holcim (Bulgaria) AD, Bulgaria
Chief executive: Todor Kostov
Personnel: 556
Production capacity: 1.9 million t of cement
Beloizvorski plant
Shareholdings:
Holcim Karierni Materiali AD
Karieri AD

Alpha Cement J.S.C., Russia
Chief executive: Mikhail V. Bogush
Personnel: 1,862
Production capacity: 4.3 million t of cement
Shurovo plant
Volsk plant

Holcim (US) Inc., USA
Chief executive: Patrick Dolberg
Personnel: 2,389 
Production capacity:                16.7 million t of cement
Ada plant
Artesia plant
Clarksville plant
Devil’s Slide plant
Dundee plant
Holly Hill plant 
Mason City plant 
Portland plant 
Theodore plant
Trident plant 
GranCem Birmingham
GranCem Chicago
GranCem Weirton
Shareholding:
Holnam Texas Limited Partnership
Midlothian plant

St. Lawrence Cement Inc., Canada
Chief executive: Philippe Arto
Personnel: 2,817
Production capacity: 4.6 million t of cement
Joliette plant
Mississauga plant
Demix group
Dufferin group
St. Lawrence Cement, USA
Camden plant
Catskill plant
Hagerstown plant

Holcim Apasco S.A. de C.V., Mexico
Chief executive: Pierre A. Froidevaux
Personnel: 3,381
Production capacity: 10.7 million t of cement
Shareholdings:
Cementos Apasco S.A. de C.V.
Acapulco plant
Apaxco plant 
Macuspana plant 
Orizaba plant
Ramos Arizpe plant
Tecomán plant
Concretos Apasco S.A. de C.V.
Gravasa S.A. de C.V.
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Holcim de Nicaragua S.A., Nicaragua
Chief executive: Rodolfo Montero
Personnel: 80
Production capacity: 0.3 million t of cement
Nagarote grinding plant

Holcim (Costa Rica) S.A., Costa Rica
Chief executive: Jean Pierre Ratton
Personnel: 924
Production capacity: 0.8 million t of cement
Shareholdings:
Concretera Nacional S.A.
Hidroeléctrica Aguas Zarcas S.A.
Industria Nacional de Cemento S.A.
Cartago plant
Productos de Concreto S.A.
Quebradores Cerro Minas S.A.
Quebradores Ochomogo S.A.

Panamá Cement S.A., Panama
Chief executive: José Agustin Moscoso
Personnel: 457
Production capacity: 0.9 million t of cement
Shareholdings:
Cementos Panamá S.A.
Quebrancha grinding plant
Concreto S.A.
Grava S.A.
Productos de Concreto S.A.

Caricement Antilles N.V., Curaçao
Chief executive: Carlos Gutierrez-Marcet
Personnel: 28
Antilles terminals

Holcim (Colombia) S.A., Colombia
Chief executive: Andreas K. Heusler
Personnel: 754
Production capacity: 1.5 million t of cement
Nobsa plant
Shareholding:
Holcim Premezclados S.A.

Holcim (Venezuela) C.A., Venezuela
Chief executive: Andreas K. Heusler
Personnel: 526
Production capacity: 2.4 million t of cement
Cumarebo plant 
San Sebastián plant
Shareholdings:
Agregados Caribe C.A.
Holcim Premezclados C.A.
Yesos del Golfo C.A.

Cementos Colón, S.A., Dominican Republic
Chief executive: Carlos Gutierrez-Marcet
Personnel: 85
Production capacity: 0.6 million t of cement
Najayo grinding plant

La Cemento Nacional C.A., Ecuador
Chief executive: Andreas Leu
Personnel: 1,037
Production capacity: 2.7 million t of cement
Shareholdings:
Agregados Rocafuerte S.A.
Distribuidora Rocafuerte (Disensa) SA
Hormigones Rocafuerte S.A.
Industrias Rocacem S.A.
Cerro Blanco plant 
San Rafael grinding plant
Productos Rocafuerte S.A.
Cementos Pacasmayo S.A.A., Peru
Pacasmayo plant

Cement
Aggregates
Ready-mix concrete
Other products and services
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Holcim (Brasil) S.A., Brazil
Chief executive: Carlos Bühler
Personnel: 1,707
Production capacity: 5.0 million t of cement
Barroso plant 
Cantagalo plant 
Pedro Leopoldo plant 
Vitória grinding plant
Concretex
Pedreiras Cantareira

Minetti S.A., Argentina
Chief executive: Eduardo Kretschmer
Personnel: 665
Production capacity: 4.1 million t of cement
Capdeville plant
Córdoba plant 
Puesto Viejo plant
Campana grinding plant 
Shareholdings:
Hormix / Hormigonera Central
Transmix / Hormex

Cemento Polpaico S.A., Chile
Chief executive: Eduardo Kretschmer
Personnel: 905 
Production capacity: 2.7 million t of cement
Cerro Blanco plant
Coronel grinding plant 
Mejillones grinding plant
Shareholding:
Pétreos S.A.

Holcim (Maroc) S.A., Morocco
Chief executive: Dominique Drouet1

Personnel: 590 
Production capacity: 2.6 million t of cement
Oujda plant 
Ras El Ma plant 
Nador grinding plant 
Shareholdings:
Holcim Bétons
Holcim Granulats

Holcim (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd, South Africa
Chief executive: Karl Meissner-Roloff
Personnel: 2,034 
Production capacity: 3.3 million t of cement
Dudfield plant
Ulco plant
Roodepoort grinding plant 
Alpha Stone and Readymix
Shareholding:
Tanga Cement Company Ltd., Tanzania
Tanga plant 

Egyptian Cement Company S.A.E., Egypt
Chief executive: Nassef Sawiris
Personnel: 1,196
Production capacity: 7.0 million t of cement
El Soukhna plant

Ciments de Guinée S.A., Guinea
Chief executive: Patrice Chanton
Personnel: 196
Production capacity: 0.5 million t of cement
Conakry grinding plant

Société de Ciments et Matériaux, Ivory Coast
Chief executive: Johan Pachler
Personnel: 162
Production capacity: 0.8 million t of cement
Abidjan grinding plant

Holcim (Liban) S.A.L., Lebanon
Chief executive: Vincent Bouckaert1

Personnel: 318
Production capacity: 1.8 million t of cement
Chekka plant
Shareholdings:
Holcim Béton S.A.L.
Société Libanaise des Ciments Blancs
Bogaz Endustri ve Madencilik,
Northern Cyprus
Famagusta grinding plant

1 As of April 1, 2004.
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Holcim (Outre-Mer) S.A.S., La Réunion
Chief executive: Bruno Pennetier
Personnel: 477
Production capacity: 0.8 million t of cement
Ibity plant
Calédonia grinding plant
Réunion grinding plant
Mauritius cement terminal
Holcim Bétons
Holcim Granulats

Aden Cement Enterprises Ltd., Republic of Yemen
Chief executive: Jaafar Skalli
Personnel: 125
Aden terminal

Garadagh Cement J.S.C., Azerbaijan
Chief executive: Uwe Koehler1

Personnel: 504
Production capacity: 1.0 million t of cement
Garadagh plant

Holcim (Lanka) Ltd, Sri Lanka
Chief executive: Peter Spirig2

Personnel: 724
Production capacity: 1.0 million t of cement
Palavi plant
Shareholdings:
Galle Cement Company Ltd.
Galle terminal
Ruhunu Cement Company Ltd.
Galle grinding plant

Holcim (Bangladesh) Ltd, Bangladesh
Chief executive: Ramit Budhraja
Personnel: 641
Production capacity: 1.3 million t of cement
Bangladesh grinding plant
Shareholdings:
Cemcor Limited

Saiham Cement Industries Ltd
United Cement Industries Limited

Siam City Cement (Public) Company Limited, Thailand
Chief executive: Vincent Bichet
Personnel: 5,837
Production capacity: 14.8 million t of cement
Saraburi plants
Shareholdings:
Conwood Co. Ltd.
Karat Faucet Co. Ltd.
Royal Porcelain Co. Ltd.
Siam City Concrete Co. Ltd.

Holcim Services (Asia) Ltd., Thailand
Chief executive: Felix Hoechner
Personnel: 65
Information Services Asia-Pacific

Holcim (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd, Malaysia
Chief executive: Joe Khor
Personnel: 75
Production capacity: 1.2 million t of cement
Pasir Gudang grinding plant

PT Semen Cibinong Tbk., Indonesia
Chief executive: Tim Mackay2

Personnel: 3,566
Production capacity: 9.6 million t of cement
Cilacap plant
Naragong plant
PT Trumix Beton
PT Wahana Transtama

Cement
Aggregates
Ready-mix concrete
Other products and services
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1 As of March 1, 2004.
2 As of May 17, 2004.



Holcim (Vietnam) Ltd, Vietnam
Chief executive: Martin Foreman
Personnel: 783
Production capacity: 2.3 million t of cement
Hon Chong plant
Cat Lai grinding plant and terminal

Union Cement Corporation, Philippines
Chief executive: Paul O’Callaghan 
Personnel: 1,401
Production capacity: 9.6 million t of cement
Bulacan plant
Davao plant
La Union plant
Luga-it plant
Trans Asia Power Corporation
Shareholdings:
Calamba Aggregates Co. Inc.
Northern Mindanao 
Transport Company

Cement Australia Pty Ltd, Australia
Chief executive: Chris Leon
Personnel: 1,378
Production capacity: 3.6 million t of cement
Gladstone plant
Kandos plant

Railton plant
Bulwer Island grinding plant
Rockhampton plant
Shareholdings:
Australian Steel Mill Services Pty Ltd.
Cornwall Coal Company
Melcann Ltd.
Pacific Lime Pty Ltd.
Pozzolanic Industries Ltd.

Holcim (New Zealand) Ltd, New Zealand
Chief executive: Rex Williams
Personnel: 721 
Production capacity: 0.5 million t of cement
Westport plant
Aggregates operations
Readymix concrete operations
Shareholdings:
AML Ltd.
Coastal Resources Ltd.
McDonald’s Lime Ltd.
Taylors Lime Co.
Suzhou Golden Cat Cement Ltd., China
Suzhou plant
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Statement of Income Holcim Ltd
Million CHF 2003 2002

Financial income 325.8 311.5

Other ordinary income 7.3 1.3

Extraordinary income 3.4 13.4

Total income 336.5 326.2

Financial expenses (51.6) (56.7)

Other ordinary expenses (24.9) (10.9)

Change in provisions and valuation adjustments on financial investments (48.3) (53.9)

Taxes (0.8) (4.2)

Total expenses (125.6) (125.7)

Net income 210.9 200.5
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Balance Sheet Holcim Ltd as at December 31
Million CHF 2003 2002

Cash and cash equivalents 77.6 95.1

Accounts receivable – Group companies 153.6 136.6

Accounts receivable – third parties 4.9 1.1

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2.5 0.6

Total current assets 238.6 233.4

Loans – Group companies 1,252.0 1,596.7

Financial investments – Group companies 4,909.2 4,700.4

Other financial investments 16.2 4.9

Total long-term assets 6,177.4 6,302.0

Total assets 6,416.0 6,535.4

Current financing liabilities – Group companies 155.9 164.6

Current financing liabilities – third parties 0 181.1

Other current liabilities 23.5 14.9

Total short-term liabilities 179.4 360.6

Long-term financing liabilities – Group companies 634.9 488.8

Long-term financing liabilities – third parties 0 100.0

Debentures 1,000.0 1,000.0

Long-term provisions 656.5 656.5

Total long-term liabilities 2,291.4 2,245.3

Total liabilities 2,470.8 2,605.9

Share capital 402.4 402.4

Legal reserves

Ordinary reserve 2,605.1 2,596.2

Reserve for treasury shares 443.4 452.3

Free reserve 262.8 262.8

Retained earnings 231.5 215.8

Total shareholders’ equity 3,945.2 3,929.5

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 6,416.0 6,535.4
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Change in Shareholders’ Equity Holcim Ltd
Share Ordinary Reserve for Free Retained Total

capital reserve treasury reserve earnings

shares

Million CHF

January 1, 2001 377.2 2,335.2 82.3 262.8 194.1 3,251.6

Capital increase 25.2 25.2

Capital surplus 624.4 624.4

Increase reserve for treasury shares (366.0) 366.0 0

Dividends (187.6) (187.6)

Net income of the year 203.9 203.9

December 31, 2001 402.4 2,593.6 448.3 262.8 210.4 3,917.5

January 1, 2002 402.4 2,593.6 448.3 262.8 210.4 3,917.5

Capital increase 0

Capital surplus 6.6 6.6

Increase reserve for treasury shares (4.0) 4.0 0

Dividends (195.1) (195.1)

Net income of the year 200.5 200.5

December 31, 2002 402.4 2,596.2 452.3 262.8 215.8 3,929.5

January 1, 2003 402.4 2,596.2 452.3 262.8 215.8 3,929.5

Capital increase 0

Capital surplus 0

Decrease reserve for treasury shares 8.9 (8.9) 0

Dividends (195.2) (195.2)

Net income of the year 210.9 210.9

December 31, 2003 402.4 2,605.1 443.4 262.8 231.5 3,945.2
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Data as Required under Articles 663b and c of the Swiss Code of Obligations
Contingent liabilities 31.12.2003 31.12.2002

Million CHF

Holcim Capital Corporation Ltd.

Guarantees in respect of holders of

5.5% USD 200 million notes due in 2003 0 308

5.125% CHF 125 million bonds due in 2005 140 140

5% CHF 150 million bonds due in 2006 165 165

6.35% USD 249 million private placement due in 2006 3441 395

3.75% CHF 200 million bonds due in 2007 215 215

5.83% USD 35 million private placement due in 2007 481 55

6.6% USD 168 million private placement due in 2008 2381 275

5.93% USD 105 million private placement due in 2009 1471 168

7.05% USD 358 million private placement due in 2011 5301 614

6.59% USD 165 million private placement due in 2014 2401 278

Zero coupon USD 615.865 million convertible bonds due in 2017 7621 854

7.65% USD 50 million private placement due in 2031 851 100

Guarantees in respect of financial institutions

Swaps for above-mentioned bonds 1 3

Holcim Finance (Australia) Pty Ltd

Guarantees in respect of holders of

5.5% AUD 150 million bonds due in 2006 1412 0

5.98% AUD 110 million bonds due in 2006 1042 0

Holcim Finance (Belgium) SA

Commercial Paper Program, guarantee based on utilization, EUR 500 million maximum 6233 352

Holcim Finance (Canada) Inc.

Guarantees in respect of holders of

5.86% CAD 105 million private placement due in 2007 1084 99

6.91% CAD 10 million private placement due in 2017 114 10

Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) SA

Guarantees in respect of holders of

4.375% EUR 750 million bonds due in 2010 1,2853 0

2.55% EUR 50 million bonds due in 2006 863 0

Guarantees in respect of financial institutions

Swaps for above-mentioned bonds 6 0

Holcim Overseas Finance Ltd.

Guarantees in respect of holders of

1% CHF 419.25 million convertible bonds due in 2004 428 428

1% CHF 600 million convertible bonds due in 2012 719 719

Issued bonds
The outstanding bonds and private placements as at
December 31, 2003 are listed on pages 116 and 117.

Principal investments
The principal direct and indirect investments of Holcim Ltd
are listed under the heading “Principal Companies of the
Holcim Group” on pages 128 to 130.

1 Exchange rate USD: CHF 1.2367.
2 Exchange rate AUD: CHF 0.9285.
3 Exchange rate EUR: CHF 1.5585.
4 Exchange rate CAD: CHF 0.9573.
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Treasury shares Number Price per share in CHF Million CHF

01.01.02 Treasury shares 6,023,000 74.43 448.3

01.01. to 31.12.02 Movement 51,065 n.a. 4.0

31.12.02 Treasury shares 6,074,065 74.46 452.3

01.01.03 Treasury shares 6,074,065 74.46 452.3

01.01. to 31.12.03 Movement (115,196) n.a. (8.9)

31.12.03 Treasury shares 5,958,869 74.42 443.4

Conditional share capital Number Price per share in CHF Million CHF

01.01.02 Conditional shares par value 9,007,875 2.00 18.0

01.01. to 31.12.02 Movement 5,000,000 2.00 10.0

31.12.02 Conditional shares par value 14,007,875 2.00 28.0

01.01.03 Conditional shares par value 14,007,875 2.00 28.0

01.01. to 31.12.03 Movement 0 0 0

31.12.03 Conditional shares par value 14,007,875 2.00 28.0

1 Shareholding of more than 5%.
2 Included in share interests of Board of Directors and senior management.

Share interests of Board of Directors and senior management
As at December 31, 2003, the members of the Board of Direc-
tors and the senior management of Holcim held directly 
and indirectly in the aggregate 47,641,353 (2002: 54,643,753) 

registered shares and no rights to acquire further registered
shares and 436,580 (2002: 310,410) call options on registered
shares.

Important shareholders1

As at December 31, 2003, Thomas Schmidheiny directly and
indirectly held 47,422,633 or 23.6% (2002: 54,471,698 or 27.1%) 
registered shares.2

Capital Group Companies Inc. held 17,961,010 or 8.9% registered
shares. As at February 6, 2004, Capital Group Companies
increased its stake to 20,122,699 registered shares or 10.002%
of the capital.

The information disclosed complies with all Swiss legal
requirements. Further information can be found in 
the Corporate Governance chapter on pages 54 to 70.
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Dividend-bearing share capital 2003 2002

Shares Number Million CHF Number Million CHF

Registered shares of CHF 2 par value 201,184,829 402.4 201,184,829 402.4

Total 402.4 402.4

Appropriation of retained earnings

CHF

Retained earnings brought forward 20,551,633 15,283,741

Net income of the year 210,908,185 200,507,341

Retained earnings 231,459,818 215,791,082

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General

Meeting of Shareholders of May 14, 2004 in Dübendorf

the following appropriation: 

Gross dividend1 (224,509,854) (195,239,449)

Balance to be carried forward 6,949,964 20,551,633

On May 18, 2004, the dividend on registered shares will be paid
in accordance with shareholders’ instructions.

1 No dividend is paid on treasury shares held by Holcim. On January 1, 2004,
treasury holdings amounted to 5,958,869 registered shares.

2 After deduction of 35% withholding tax, rounded.

This results in the following dividend per share:

Dividend Gross Net2

Registered share CHF 1.15 CHF 0.75
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As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting records and the financial statements
(statement of income, balance sheet and notes presented on pages 140 to 145) of Holcim Ltd
for the year ended December 31, 2003.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We confirm that
we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards promulgated by the Swiss
profession, which require that an audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
We have examined, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. We have also assessed the accounting principles used, significant
estimates made and the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accounting records and financial statements and the proposed appro-
priation of available earnings comply with Swiss law and the company’s Articles of Incor-
poration.

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

Ernst & Young Ltd.

Manuel Aeby Chris Schibler
Swiss Certified Accountant Chartered Accountant
In charge of the audit In charge of the audit

Zurich, March 5, 2004

Report of the Statutory Auditors to the
General Meeting of Holcim Ltd, Jona.



Stock exchange listings
In June 2003, the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of
Holcim Ltd approved the introduction of a standard registered
share. The first trading date was June 10, 2003. The new shares
are listed on SWX Swiss Exchange and are traded on virt-x. The 

shares are also traded on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and in
the form of ADRs (HCMLY) in the USA. Every share carries 
one vote. The market capitalization of Holcim Ltd amounted 
to CHF 11,588 million (2002: 9,959) at December 31, 2003.

Weighting of Holcim Registered Share in Selected Share Indices
Index Weighting in %
SMI (Swiss Market Index) 1.263
SPI (Swiss Performance Index) 1.132
BEBULDM, BE500 Building Materials Index 11.305                                                             
SXOP, Dow Jones STOXX 600 Construction 6.667
VIRTX, virt-x Broad 0.189
DJSI World, Dow Jones Sustainability Index World 0.108

Sources: Bloomberg, Dow Jones Sustainability Indexes, end-December 2003.

Additional Data
Security code number 1221405
Telekurs code HOLN
Reuters code HOLZn.VX
Bloomberg code HOLN VX

Widely represented in share indices
The Holcim registered share is represented in 25 important
share indices.

Key Data Holcim Registered Share1

Par value CHF 2 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Number of shares issued 201,184,829 201,184,829 201,184,829 188,610,775 188,610,775
Number of dividend-bearing shares 201,184,829 201,184,829 201,184,829 188,610,775 188,610,775
Number of shares conditional capital 14,007,8752 14,007,875 9,007,875 9,007,875 9,007,875
Number of treasury shares 5,958,869 6,074,065 6,023,000 1,170,775 4,215,835
Stock market prices in CHF
High 61 80 109 120 114
Low 37 38 61 87 60
Consolidated earnings per dividend-bearing share in CHF3 3.51 2.59 4.24 4.82 4.40
Cash earnings per share in CHF4 4.96 4.14 5.56 6.05 5.63 
Consolidated shareholders’ equity per share in CHF3 35.00 33.66 39.16 37.89 34.87
Gross dividend per share in CHF 1.155 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.88

1 Adjusted for 5-for-1 share split in 2001 and for 5-for-1 conversion of bearer shares into registered shares on June 10, 2003.
2 Shares reserved for convertible bonds issued.
3 After interests of minority shareholders.
4 Excludes the amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets.
5 Proposal of the Board of Directors.
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Current Rating
Standard & Poor’s long-term rating BBB+ Outlook Stable
Standard & Poor’s short-term rating A-2
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SMI (adjusted)Holcim registered share

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
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Major shareholders
Information on major shareholders can be found on
page 144 in this report.

Registration and voting restrictions
Acquirers of registered shares shall be registered
upon request in the share register as shareholders
with the right to vote if they expressly declare that
they have acquired the registered shares in their
own name and for their own account. If persons fail
to expressly declare in their registration applications
that they hold the shares for their own account
(the “Nominees”), the Board of Directors shall enter
such persons in the share register with the right to
vote, provided that the Nominee has entered into an
agreement with the company concerning his status,
and further provided that the Nominee is subject to
a recognized bank or financial market supervision.

Free float
The free float according to the definition of the SWX
Swiss Exchange is 76.4%.

Dividend policy
Dividends are paid annually. The next dividend
payment will be on May 18, 2004. Holcim’s mid-term
dividend policy is to target a dividend payout ratio 
of 25 to 33% of net profit received by the end of the
reporting period, calculated according to IFRS.

Information on Holcim shares
Further information on Holcim shares can be found
on the Internet: www.holcim.com/investors

Performance of Holcim Registered Share versus Swiss Market Index (SMI)



5-
Ye

ar
-R

ev
ie

w

150

Group Holcim
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Statement of income

Net sales1 Million CHF 12,600 13,010 13,644 13,531 11,708

Gross profit1 Million CHF 6,036 6,243 6,490 6,074 5,318

Operating EBITDA Million CHF 3,311 3,341 3,335 3,365 2,857

Operating EBITDA margin % 26.3 25.7 24.4 24.9 24.4

EBITDA Million CHF 3,383 3,399 3,574 3,595 3,114

Operating profit Million CHF 1,925 1,903 1,945 2,001 1,706

Operating profit margin % 15.3 14.6 14.3 14.8 14.6

Depreciation and amortization Million CHF 1,446 1,545 1,417 1,429 1,201

EBIT1 Million CHF 1,937 1,854 2,157 2,166 1,913

Income taxes Million CHF 510 493 433 448 415

Tax rate % 35.4 38.2 29.6 30.2 29.8

Net income before minority interests Million CHF 932 797 1,031 1,035 978

Net income after minority interests Million CHF 686 506 812 886 795

Net income margin % 5.4 3.9 6.0 6.5 6.8

Cash flow statement

Cash flow from operating activities Million CHF 2,619 2,388 2,402 2,557 1,902

Cash flow margin % 20.8 18.4 17.6 18.9 16.2

Investments in property, plant and equipment for maintenance Million CHF 802 843 855 816 480

Investments in property, plant and equipment for expansion Million CHF 490 409 875 824 631

Financial investments net Million CHF 442 245 1,949 1,929 710

Balance sheet

Current assets Million CHF 6,028 6,460 6,367 6,401 5,501

Long-term assets Million CHF 18,797 19,000 20,677 18,588 16,201

Total assets Million CHF 24,825 25,460 27,044 24,989 21,702

Short-term liabilities Million CHF 5,224 5,168 5,258 5,790 4,167

Long-term liabilities Million CHF 10,102 10,857 11,403 10,199 9,303

Shareholders' equity2 Million CHF 9,499 9,435 10,383 9,000 8,232

Shareholders' equity as % of total assets2 % 38.3 37.1 38.4 36.0 37.9

Interests of minority shareholders Million CHF 2,666 2,867 2,741 1,900 1,802

Net financial debt Million CHF 8,299 8,857 9,768 9,060 7,631

Capacity, sales and personnel

Annual production capacity cement1 Million t 145.2 141.9 121.2 113.2 93.4

Sales of cement and clinker3 Million t 94.3 90.5 84.3 80.6 74.6

Sales of aggregates Million t 95.9 92.1 89.5 86.6 84.9

Sales of ready-mix concrete Million m3 27.0 25.3 25.5 24.9 21.8

Personnel 48,220 51,115 47,362 44,316 39,327

Financial ratios

Return on equity4 % 10.2 7.1 11.0 13.1 13.9

Gearing % 87.4 93.9 94.1 100.7 92.7

Funds from operations5 / net financial debt % 28.6 26.4 25.1 27.2 28.6

EBITDA net interest coverage × 6.8 5.9 5.5 5.6 5.7

EBIT net interest coverage × 3.9 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5

1 Restated figures 1999 and 2000.
2 Includes interests of minority shareholders.
3 2000 restated figure.
4 Excludes interests of minority shareholders.
5 Net income before minority interests and depreciation and amortization.
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Zaha Hadid is an architect of international renown. She is a Professor at the University
of Applied Arts in Vienna and also lectures as a Visiting Professor at Yale University.
Her first major construction was the Vitra fire station in Weil am Rhein, Germany, which
caused an immediate sensation. Zaha Hadid is the first woman to be awarded the
renowned Pritzker Prize – the “Nobel prize for architecture”.

Henri Brouet is one of Belgium’s best-known hydraulic engineers. As Manager of the
Civil Engineering Department of the Waterways Directorate for southern Belgium, he
was in charge of building the world’s largest barge lift in Strépy-Thieu. Thanks to his
wealth of experience, Henri Brouet is consulted by engineers from around the world
who are working on similar projects.

Christian Menn was Professor of Structural Engineering at the Swiss Federal Institute of
Technology in Zurich from 1971 to 1992. Since then he has been a consultant engineer.
In his long career he has made a name for himself through the construction and devel-
opment of concrete bridges, in particular. Switzerland's Sunniberg bridge, which was
built in 1999, is a prime example of his work.

Carlos F.A. de Britto e Silva is a graduate engineer from the Universidade Federal da
Paraíba. He has worked as an engineer on large-scale civil engineering projects, as well
as on a series of hydroelectric power plants in South America. He is currently in charge
of the technical/planning department of the CEITAIPU consortium, which is building
units 9 and 18 of the Itaipu hydroelectric power plant.

Élie Mouyal has become well-known in Morocco as an architect specializing in building
construction projects, and has been involved in many undertakings that have attracted 
a great deal of attention in North Africa. In addition to the Twin Center in Casablanca,
which he designed in collaboration with Ricardo Bofill, he has also built a 110,000 square
meter social housing development in Marrakesh as part of the AMBAR project.

David Cole is a director of The Buchan Group, one of the largest architectural practices 
in Australia and New Zealand. His work has included the landmark No 1 Martin Place
project – part of the redevelopment of the historic part of Sydney – as well as major 
hotels and the national broadcasting center in Melbourne. He is currently the Design 
Director for the new 43-storey Victoria Point residential tower in Melbourne.



Group Personnel per Region Group Personnel per Product

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Cement/Clinker 32,888 33,791 29,100 24,278 21,846
Aggregates/Concrete 12,583 13,491 14,172 12,198 11,203
Others 2,749 3,833 4,090 7 840 6,278
Total Group 48,220 51,115 47,362 44,316 39,327

2003 20021 20011 20001 19991

Europe 15,365 16,359 15,082 15,633 13,752
North America 5,236 5,146 5,343 5,153 5,106
Latin America 10,278 11,091 12,266 10,499 10,676
Africa Middle East 4,472 4,620 5,224 4,779 4,999
Asia Pacific 12,118 13,078 8,646 7,488 4,122
Corporate 751 821 801 764 672
Total Group 48,220 51,115 47,362 44,316 39,327
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Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements
This document may contain certain forward-looking statements 
relating to the Group’s future business, development and economic 
performance.

Such statements may be subject to a number of risks, uncertainties 
and other important factors, such as but not limited to (1) competitive 
pressures; (2) legislative and regulatory developments; (3) global,
macroeconomic and political trends; (4) fluctuations in currency 
exchange rates and general financial market conditions; (5) delay or 
inability in obtaining approvals from authorities; (6) technical develop-
ments; (7) litigation; (8) adverse publicity and news coverage, which 
could cause actual development and results to differ materially from 
the statements made in this document.

Holcim assumes no obligation to update or alter forward-looking 
statements whether as a result of new information, future events or 
otherwise.

1 Prior-year figures of service companies have been regrouped from
geographical regions to Corporate.

1 Beginning 2002 the figures of service companies have been regrouped from geographical regions to Corporate.
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Average Personnel per Function and Region 2003

Production and distribution Sales Administration and others Total

Europe 12,787 1,033 2,042 15,862

North America 4,234 352 605 5,191

Latin America 8,535 1,038 1,111 10,684

Africa Middle East 3,652 284 610 4,546

Asia Pacific 10,646 626 1,326 12,598

Corporate 248 66 474 788

Total Group 40,102 3,399 6,168 49,669



Personnel Expenses per Function and Region 2003

In million CHF Production and distribution Sales Administration and others Total

Europe 639 100 161 900

North America 409 46 91 546

Latin America 225 54 88 367

Africa Middle East 103 16 36 155

Asia Pacific 175 16 52 243

Corporate 49 16 129 194

Total Group 1,600 248 557 2,405

Operating Profit 2003Net Sales 2003
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Situation as of April 1, 2004.

Holcim Board of Directors

Corporate Strategy & Risk Management
Corporate Legal 
Corporate Human Resources Management
Corporate Communications
Investor Relations

Thomas Knöpfel

Latin America2

Bernard Terver

Area Management

Paul Hugentobler

South Asia
Northern ASEAN

Theophil H. Schlatter
CFO

Finance  
and Controlling

Urs Bieri
Deputy CEO

Southern ASEAN
East Asia and Pacific
South and East Africa

Urs Böhlen

Area Management

Hansueli Heé

Europe 
(excluding
Iberian Peninsula)

Benoît-H. Koch

North America
Iberian Peninsula
Mediterranean
International Trade

Javier de Benito

Area Management

Corporate Controlling
Corporate Financing 
& Treasury
Financial Holdings
Holcim Information
Platform

Markus Akermann
CEO

Executive Committee �

Governance, Nomination & Compensation CommitteeAudit Committee1

Manufacturing Services
Commercial Services
Industrial Ecology
Training & Learning
Information Technology
Administration Group Support
Procurement

1 Internal Audit reports to the Chairman of the Board of Directors.
2 Mexico under direct responsibility of Markus Akermann.

Holcim Ltd Corporate Communications
Roland Walker
Phone +41 58 858 87 10
Fax +41 58 858 87 19
communications@holcim.com

Investor Relations
Bernhard A. Fuchs
Phone +41 58 858 87 87
Fax +41 58 858 87 19
investor.relations@holcim.com

Zürcherstrasse 156
CH-8645 Jona/Switzerland
Phone +41 58 858 86 00
info@holcim.com
www.holcim.com

Financial Reporting Calendar
Press and analyst conference on annual results for 2003 March 9, 2004
Results for the first quarter 2004 May 13, 2004
General meeting of shareholders May 14, 2004
Dividend payment May 18, 2004
Half-year results for 2004 August 27, 2004
Press and analyst conference for the third quarter 2004 November 3, 2004
Press and analyst conference on annual results for 2004 March 2, 2005
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“The Science Center in Wolfsburg appears as a
mysterious object giving rise to curiosity and 
discovery.” Zaha Hadid, Architect

Strength. Performance. Passion.

Architect of international renown, Zaha Hadid, created the spaceship-
like design for the Science Center in Wolfsburg, which is currently
under construction. Once completed, the interactive experimental
space will cover 12,000 square meters and the underground car park 
an additional 15,000 square meters. Holcim Germany developed a new,
self-compacting concrete for this giant complex with its intricate con-
crete casings. Zaha Hadid is Professor at the University of Applied Arts
in Vienna and Visiting Professor at Yale University. Her major projects
to date include the fire station for the Vitra Design Museum in Weil am
Rhein, the Bergisel ski jump in Innsbruck, and the Contemporary Arts
Center in Cincinnati. Zaha Hadid is the first woman to be awarded the
renowned Pritzker Prize – the “Nobel prize for architecture”.




